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1.  Executive summary

The annual report, despite all the changes in recent years, remains the bedrock document for telling a company’s 
story. It is at the heart of a company’s ability to communicate with stakeholders, and particularly investors. And it is 
proof of the old cliché that the more effort you put into it the more benefits you will gain.

This publication combines both insight and best practice to provide you with the inspiration needed to make that 
effort effective and improve your annual report. And this year, with the new strategic report in mind, the overall 
aim is to communicate the most important elements of the story clearly to your audience.

This coming year is the time when the old business review makes way for the new strategic report, which comes 
into force for periods ending on or after 30 September 2013. The good news is that this process is more of an 
evolution than a revolution. Many of the best companies are already following some of the new requirements so 
we were able to include many of them as examples in the guidance which is woven into this publication alongside 
the Financial Reporting Council’s draft suggestions on preparing a strategic report. Much of this has already taken 
hold. Some 44% of the companies we survey are already clearly disclosing their business model, albeit something 
which the UK Corporate Governance Code has suggested on a comply or explain basis for the last couple of years.

Where companies have tended to fall down in the quest to make their reports truly comprehensible to stakeholders 
and shareholders is in linking together different parts of the story. We found that only 28% of the companies 
surveyed were clearly linking together all the different components of their annual report. This is an improvement 
on last year when only 14% were doing so. And looking at specific elements of the annual report the use of 
effective linkage varied enormously. For example 90% of companies disclosing their objectives provided a link to 
these and the strategy employed to achieve them. But only 43% provided links to the measures used to assess the 
success of that strategy. And key performance indicators were employed erratically. One test of the coherence of 
an annual report is to check the consistency of the KPI figures given on the highlights page and the KPIs themselves 
elsewhere in the report. We found that 19% of companies were not including any KPIs at all on their highlights 
pages. If performance indicators really are ‘key’ you would expect them to be appearing upfront in the full report.

A real driver of change in financial statements as well as, to a slightly lesser extent, narrative reporting, is the effort 
made by the IASB through its disclosure framework project and the Financial Reporting Review Panel’s (FRRP’s) 
exhortations which should encourage companies to eliminate a mass of immaterial disclosures. This should reduce 
pages and by making key messages more prominent allow stakeholders and shareholders a better chance of seeing 
the wood for the trees. Despite this trend we found that the average pagination has gone up over the last year 
from 103 to 107 pages. It is a small rise but an unexpected one in the circumstances, though it could be explained 
by early adoption by some companies of extra disclosure requirements around directors’ remuneration and by UK 
banks making a strenuous effort, unlike their counterparts overseas, to comply with the recommendations of the 
Enhanced Disclosure Task Force.

A tip for companies seeking to cut their clutter would be to look at accounting policies. We saw some companies 
excluding accounting policies for areas which appeared immaterial. Some went further and said they simply hadn’t 
disclosed immaterial information in other parts of the financial statements. Aid may also come from the FRC’s 
Financial Reporting Lab, which is currently working with a number of companies on case studies for cutting clutter.

There was also, as a result of more new legislation, increased disclosure relating to, for example, environmental 
issues and gender diversity. We found 42% of companies already disclosing some limited numbers on greenhouse 
gas emissions, although not typically enough to comply with the new regulations in this area, and 21% of 
companies providing employee gender diversity figures. And in the background the influence of the initiatives 
relating to integrated reporting is growing.

Meanwhile the area of reporting risk and uncertainty showed signs of maturity. 83% of companies were found to 
be clearly disclosing principal risks and uncertainties. 91% talked about mitigating activities – something the FRRP 
is particularly keen on. And only 5% of companies were judged to have only provided a ‘boilerplate’ list of principal 
risks and uncertainties.
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The year ahead will also see change as a result of the UK Corporate Governance Code requiring companies to 
produce a statement that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable. 
That sounds, like motherhood, to be a very simple concept. But its implementation and achievement will 
be complex. To create a fair, balanced and understandable report which highlights the key messages and 
successfully integrates the different components is no mean feat. And alongside that task the FRC’s guidance 
on audit committees has also been updated. Audit committees will have more to report on, for example the 
key financial reporting issues they have considered. But, as this publication shows, some 32% are already doing 
this. Companies will need to ensure an appropriate degree of consistency between those key financial reporting 
issues disclosed by audit committees, the risks addressed and disclosed by auditors in their new style reports, the 
IAS 1 disclosure around key sources of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements and, to a lesser extent, a 
company’s principal risks and uncertainties. Inevitably these disclosures will catch the eye of regulators, so there is 
much here to keep companies awake and alert.

Looking at financial statements specifically they also fall under the fair, balanced and understandable disclosure 
requirements and companies will find a key consideration in this area is the ‘fairness’ of any non‑GAAP measures, 
such as adjusted earnings. We found that some 65% of companies were using these on the face of the income 
statement and frequently stripping out items such as restructuring costs and amortisation. Companies also need 
to look out for a heightened area of focus from regulators on non‑GAAP measures generally in the coming year. 
ESMA, for example, is expected to produce updated guidance.

Meanwhile 2012 was a relatively peaceful year in the world of IFRSs. But both 2013 and 2014 are set to be busier 
and companies will need to keep clear heads. Compared to the narrative reporting arena the appetite for early 
adoption of new accounting requirements was far less – none of the companies in our survey early adopted any 
new standards or amendments. Looking ahead, some 20% of companies with joint ventures are using proportional 
consolidation – an area which will need to be revisited as IFRS 11 becomes effective.

One area of focus for regulators, particularly in the wake of the financial crisis, has been disclosure around capital 
management or capital risk management. It was therefore relatively pleasing to see that 93 companies disclosed 
such information in their financial statements. And in the field of voluntary disclosures we found 45 companies 
voluntarily disclosing net debt reconciliations or similar statements. The IASB is considering introducing a 
requirement for such information and the FRC’s Financial Reporting Lab has also looked into this and prepared a 
report on it.

On the theme of voluntary disclosure, media attention was probably the driver for the six companies we found 
including a statement in their annual report around tax governance which went beyond the disclosure requirements 
laid down in IAS 12.

The numbers themselves revealed that impairments are still a big issue, with 80% of companies reporting such 
losses. On perhaps a more positive note, the level of acquisition activity was seen to be on the increase, with 
39 companies reporting business combinations, compared to 31 in the previous year.

But overall the message for preparers of annual reports is a simple one. There is much change around, some 
complex, some logical and intuitive. Companies need to be alert and keep one step ahead. Preparers are in need 
of useful advice, guidance and inspiration. And that is what this publication provides. It is full of insight into what 
changes lie ahead, what people are already doing, what the innovators and best reporters have already done, 
and, as we show throughout this publication, what overall best practice currently looks like. Equipped with our 
publication, the latest requirements for the front half of annual reports present preparers with an opportunity for a 
new beginning.
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2. How to use this document

This publication has been written with two main aims in mind. As well as being a survey, looking at historical trends 
in corporate reporting, it is also designed as a tool to help preparers develop and improve the structure and content 
of their annual report. Therefore, whether you’re an audit committee member, you work in investor relations, 
you’re a company secretary or a finance director, there is something in here for you.

As well as statistics and insight into historical trends and current reporting practice, there are thoughts and ideas 
around the impact of current and future changes in reporting requirements, along with plenty of examples of 
better practice identified from companies across the FTSE.

In appendix 1 we have distilled a wealth of ideas of pitfalls to avoid, regulatory developments to watch 
out for, ways in which you can choose to go above and beyond the minimum requirements and finally, 
areas that could be pruned to ‘cut the clutter’.

What are the benefits of a good annual report?
The new narrative reporting legislation provides preparers with an opportunity to revitalise their reports and 
improve communication with stakeholders, with this publication providing inspiration on how best to achieve this 
goal. Investing time and effort to prepare a good annual report brings with it many benefits, a few of which are 
briefly outlined below.

•	 Investors are one of the main users of annual reports, but it’s not just existing investors who look at it, it’s 
potential investors too – a good annual report with clear communication of a business’s performance and its 
prospects can help attract additional investment, while a bad report could make a potential investor think twice.

•	 A strong annual report will provide good publicity with other stakeholders too, whether it be employees, 
customers, suppliers or society at large.

•	 The directors are responsible for preparing an annual report, including the financial statements, and under 
the 2012 UK Corporate Governance Code are required to state that they consider the annual report and the 
accounts, taken as a whole, is “fair, balanced and understandable”. A strong report will therefore reflect well on a 
company’s governance.

•	 The FRC’s Conduct Committee and its Financial Reporting Review Panel are responsible for monitoring the quality 
of corporate reporting in the UK. For obvious reasons it is desirable to avoid criticism from the regulator and the 
bad publicity this can bring.

•	 On a more positive note, prizes are awarded by a number of bodies for the best annual reports, bringing with 
them prestige and good publicity.
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Which parts of this document are most relevant to me?
The table below will help you identify those areas of the publication likely to be of most interest to you. For those 
looking for a quick steer on a specific disclosure issue, the interactive pdf contains links to further guidance and 
examples of good practice within annual reports in all of the chapters listed below.

Theme Chapter What is examined

Background 
information

3 – Regulatory 
overview

Sets out the backdrop for the requirements that UK listed companies are subject 
to, including regulatory hotspots and items that are new for 2013

4 – Survey objectives Provides an overview of the survey methodology and aims.

Annual report 
as a whole

5 – Playing the long 
game

Trends in overall report structure, from the length of the report and its various 
sections to the speed of reporting timetables, as well as the cohesiveness of the 
report as a whole.

Narrative 
reporting

6 – First impressions How companies set the scene with an introductory summary section, covering 
the presentation of both financial and narrative information and the ways of 
linking this effectively to the rest of the report.

7 – Towards a 
strategic report …

Disclosures in the business review and how these will translate into the strategic 
report, including the business model, objectives, strategy, presentation of 
business performance and corporate social responsibility information such as 
gender analysis and human rights issues. Directors’ reports including carbon 
disclosures are also examined. Examples of early adopters are included.

8 – Risks and 
uncertainties – what’s 
keeping you awake?

Principal risks and uncertainties– commonly identified items, mitigating 
activities, ways of presenting the required information and linking to other parts 
of the annual report.

9 – Unlocking 
performance

Key performance indicators – commonly identified measures, their 
understandability and linkage to other areas, including directors’ remuneration.

Corporate 
governance

10 – Concerned about 
going concern?

The assessment and reporting of going concern, including the impact of the 
Sharman report and its recommendation in this area.

11 – The governance 
debate

Compliance with the 2010 UK Corporate Governance Code and the level of 
engagement that companies have shown with the 2012 updates. There are 
examples of good practice in reporting compliance and presenting this 
information in an interesting and engaging way.

12 – Auditing by 
committee

Audit committee reporting, in particular looking forward to the 2012 Code 
and FRC Guidance on Audit Committees and the additional information around 
significant issues the committee has considered in connection with the financial 
statements.

Financial 
statements

13 – Of prime 
importance

The primary statements, use of non‑GAAP measures, IAS 1 compliance and tax 
governance disclosures amongst other items.

14 – Taking note The notes to the financial statements, including ideas for cutting clutter, 
impairment disclosures, discount rates, consistency with narrative reporting and 
much more.
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3. Regulatory overview

The requirements for a UK listed company’s annual report are many and come from a variety of sources, the most 
significant of which include:

•	the Companies Act 2006 and supporting statutory instruments;
•	the Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR);
•	the Listing Rules;
•	the UK Corporate Governance Code; and
•	International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

For years ended on or after 30 September 2013, new legislation will change the front half of annual reports as 
we have come to know them in recent years. Amongst other changes the business review will be replaced with a 
strategic report and the directors’ remuneration report will also see an overhaul.

This section sets out an overview of the most significant regulatory requirements for UK listed companies’ annual 
reports – it is not a comprehensive guide to all the requirements. Other publications produced by Deloitte, such 
as iGAAP: IFRS reporting in the UK and iGAAP: Annual report disclosures for UK listed groups provide more 
comprehensive detail on the many requirements, with the latter publication presenting a model annual report for a 
UK listed group.

What follows is a series of short guides, highlighting what the main requirements are for each of the following 
three components of a listed company’s annual report:

•	Narrative reports;
•	Corporate governance statements (including directors’ remuneration reports); and
•	Financial statements.

Also included, for each of these areas, is an indication of the main changes in 2013, an idea of what the future 
holds and links to further resources. Regulatory hotspots are also identified and it is also worth noting that, in 
2013/14 the FRC’s corporate reporting reviews will, based on those industries which are considered to present the 
greatest risks, have the following priority sectors in their review of annual reports:

•	support services;
•	retail;
•	natural resources/extractive industries; and
•	construction.

Information on all the areas discussed, including news articles, thought pieces and supporting resources can be 
found on Deloitte’s new one‑stop‑shop for all accounting, governance and regulatory matters – 
www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk.
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Narrative reports
Requirements
Section 415 of the Companies Act 2006 (CA06) requires a directors’ report to be prepared as part of any company’s 
annual report. For periods ending before 30 September 2013 all directors’ reports (other than small companies) 
were required to contain a business review. For later periods the requirement to prepare a business review is 
replaced with a requirement to prepare a strategic report (see below).

Certain elements of the business review will remain in the newly required strategic report, including:

•	a fair review of the company’s business;

•	a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the company;

•	to the extent necessary for an understanding of the development, performance or position of the company 
analysis using financial key performance indicators (KPIs) and where appropriate, analysis using other KPIs, 
including information relating to environmental and employee matters;

•	for quoted companies, information on the main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, 
performance and position of the company’s business; and

•	for quoted companies, information on environmental matters, employees and social and community issues, 
including any policies in these areas and their effectiveness.

Nothing in the business review or strategic report legislation requires the disclosure of information about impending 
developments or matters in the course of negotiation if the disclosure would, in the opinion of the directors, be 
seriously prejudicial to the interests of the company.

Many of the requirements for quoted companies have been extended in the current year as set out below.

New for 2013
The strategic report replaces the business review for periods ending on or after 30 September 
2013. The strategic report should be separate to the directors’ report, with a separate approval 
and signature. Quoted companies’ strategic reports will need to include new information on the 
company’s strategy, business model, human rights and gender diversity of its employees (not just 
the directors). Further information can be found in our ‘Need to know’ publication (see below).

An explanation of the company’s business model has been required on a ‘comply or explain’ basis under the 
UK Corporate Governance Code since 2010. However, this disclosure will now be required by law and should 
form the backdrop for many other elements of the strategic report, which should link together as set out in the 
diagram below. At the time of writing the FRC has also published an exposure draft of guidance on how to prepare 
a strategic report (see ‘Further information’ below), providing examples of ways that different elements can 
successfully be integrated. This guidance will replace the ‘Reporting Statement: Operating and Financial Review’, 
published by the Accounting Standards Board.

New
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The business model – 
generating value and 
differentiating from 

the competition

A small number of relatively minor disclosures previously required in the directors’ report have been removed 
under the new legislation, including the company’s principal activities and the policy and practice on payment 
of creditors. However, quoted companies’ directors’ reports will now need to include certain disclosures around 
greenhouse gas emissions. The protection afforded to directors by section 463 of the CA06 in respect of certain 
statements has also been extended from the directors’ report to include the strategic report.

The option to provide shareholders with summary financial statements has also been replaced with an option to 
provide them with the strategic report and other specified supplementary material.

Regulators likely to focus on
Compliance with the new legislation described above will undoubtedly be an area of focus for the 
regulators this year and companies should check that all the newly required disclosures are included. 
As mentioned, integration of a report is key as well – making sure the narrative reporting tells a 
story that is consistent with the financial statements, for example by describing and explaining items 
identified as exceptional items, is vital.

Recent years have seen progress made in risk reporting, but pitfalls to avoid still include describing an excessive 
number of risks and uncertainties as ‘principal’ and omitting to mention mitigating activities, which the FRC’s 
Conduct Committee believes is necessary. KPIs should also be clearly and consistently defined. These are in line 
with the current FRRP priorities as set out in their recently published annual report

What the future holds
2013 is a year of considerable change for narrative reporting and the changes represent the culmination of several 
years’ of debate. Whilst the FRC are likely to issue finalised guidance on preparing a strategic report in early 2014, 
further legislative changes are likely to be minimal in the immediate future.

Hotspots

The strategic report – 
a joined up approach

In review, this year we … and 
in future we will …

Our objectives are ABC and we 
will achieve these through our 

strategy of …

We measure our progress
against KPIs XYZ

We also consider:
• Employees
• Environment and CO2
• Human rights
• Social and community issues

The principal risks and 
uncertainties that we face 
are …
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On the international front the International Integrated Reporting Council’s (IIRC’s) initiative on ‘integrated reporting’ 
continues to gather pace. Whilst integration is undoubtedly a characteristic of a strong annual report, this is not 
to be confused with the IIRC’s project. To enable companies to produce an ‘integrated report’ (distinct from a 
UK company’s annual report) the IIRC has published a consultation draft of the international integrated reporting 
framework, with a finalised framework expected in December 2013.

The idea behind an ‘integrated report’ is that it goes beyond the financial statements and doesn’t just report on 
financial capital, but also communicates information on five other capitals – namely manufactured, natural, human, 
social and intellectual. In the UK many aspects of this are already captured by the narrative reporting that forms 
part of a company’s annual report, particularly following the new legislation introduced in 2013. However, for other 
parts of the world these ideas represent a more significant shift in communication with stakeholders.

UK companies may nevertheless look to embrace the principles of integrated reporting, placing increased emphasis 
on issues other than financial performance, such as the environment, social impact and reputation, talent, supply 
chain and innovation. Indeed it is not uncommon for the largest UK companies to already be preparing separate 
corporate social responsibility reports.

Whilst it is unlikely that the UK will mandate an integrated report in the short term, there are proposals from the 
EU to require additional disclosure around environmental matters, social and employee‑related aspects, respect for 
human rights, anti‑corruption and bribery issues, and diversity on the boards of directors.

Link to survey findings
Chapters 5 to 9 examine the current practices in respect of narrative reporting and provide ideas on how the new 
requirements for a strategic report could be met, based on examples where companies have, to an extent, been 
early adopting these new requirements.

Further information 

•	Strategic report legislation – http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1970/pdfs/uksi_20131970_en.pdf

•	Strategic report ‘Need to know’ newsletter – http://www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk/publications/uk/
need‑to‑know/2013/need‑to‑know‑uk‑narrative‑reporting‑regs

•	Practical guide on preparing a strategic report – http://www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk/publications/uk/other/
the‑strategic‑report‑2014‑a‑practical‑guide

•	FRC draft guidance on preparing a strategic report – http://frc.org.uk/Our‑Work/Publications/Accounting‑and‑
Reporting‑Policy/Exposure‑Draft‑Guidance‑on‑the‑Strategic‑Report.aspx 

•	Deloitte UK Carbon Reporting Survey – http://www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk/publications/global/surveys/
carbon‑survey

Corporate governance statements
Requirements
Listed companies are required by the Listing Rules to make certain disclosures about corporate governance in their 
annual reports. Companies with a premium listing are required to state how they have applied the main principles 
set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code (the Code) and to provide a statement of compliance with the 
provisions of the Code, providing explanations for any failures to comply. The Code is accompanied by “Internal 
Control: Guidance to Directors” and the FRC’s “Guidance on Audit Committees”, both of which recommend various 
disclosures for inclusion in the annual report.
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The DTR also requires companies listed on the main market, amongst others, to include certain corporate 
governance disclosures, such as a description of the main features of the company’s internal control and risk 
management systems in relation to the financial reporting process.

The Listing Rules and the Code both require a statement by the directors that the business is a going concern, 
together with supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary. At the time of writing, this disclosure should 
be prepared in accordance with the “Going Concern and Liquidity Risk: Guidance for Directors of UK Companies 
2009”, published by the FRC in October 2009, which focuses on the three key principles, discussed below.

• Assessing going concern: directors should make and document a rigorous assessment of whether the company 
is a going concern when preparing annual and half‑yearly financial statements.

• The review period: directors should consider all available information about the future when concluding 
whether the company is a going concern at the date they approve the financial statements. Their review should 
usually cover a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of annual and half‑yearly financial 
statements.

• Disclosures: directors should make balanced, proportionate and clear disclosures about going concern for the 
financial statements to give a true and fair view. Directors should disclose if the period they have reviewed is less 
than twelve months from the date of approval of the annual report and explain their justification for limiting the 
review period.

An update to this guidance is expected in light of the Sharman Inquiry on going concern, with the FRC already 
encouraging adoption of the principles emerging from this review (see below).

Quoted companies reporting under CA06 are required to include a directors’ remuneration report.

New for 2013
A number of revisions to the Code and FRC Guidance on Audit Committees are effective for 
periods commencing on or after 1 October 2012, with certain items being ‘upgraded’ from 
guidance to provisions of the Code. Significant new items include the below.

•	The directors are required to state in the annual report that they consider “the annual report 
and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for shareholders to assess the company’s performance, business model and strategy”. 
The board may ask the audit committee for advice in this area, but the board as a whole must form this 
judgement.

•	The Code now requires the audit committee’s report within the annual report to include information on the 
significant issues that it considered in relation to the financial statements and how these were addressed. 
An explanation of how the effectiveness of the external audit process was assessed should be provided as well. 
FTSE 350 companies will also need to put the audit out to tender at least every ten years, subject to transitional 
provisions.

•	In describing the work of the nomination committee the annual report should also include a description of the 
board’s policy on diversity, including gender, any measurable objectives it has set for implementing the policy, 
and progress on achieving the objectives. These diversity disclosures were announced as changes in 
October 2011, with early adoption strongly encouraged. Accordingly, for some companies this may not be a 
change in 2013.

New
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Following their consultation on implementing the recommendations of the Sharman Inquiry on going concern, the 
FRC has postponed amendments to their guidance on going concern. Nevertheless, they encourage all companies 
to consider and adopt the principles emerging from that review. In practical terms, we suggest that this means that 
directors of larger companies will want to:

•	make a robust assessment of the significant risks facing the company’s ability to deliver its strategy which includes 
solvency and liquidity risks and looks beyond the next twelve months; and

•	review and agree how the identified risks will be mitigated.

The above steps may influence the existing disclosure of principal risks and uncertainties. In addition, the FRC’s 
suggestion that risk assessment should be an ongoing process, rather than an annual exercise suggests that 
companies may look to improve their disclosures around principal risks and uncertainties, their internal control 
statement and their going concern statement – looking ahead, changes to the Code may well be made in 
these areas.

Quoted companies’ directors’ remuneration reports will also look very different for periods ending on or after 
30 September 2013. The remuneration report will be split into a policy report (not subject to audit) and an annual 
report on remuneration (some elements of which are subject to audit). The policy report will be subject to a 
binding shareholder vote, which must take place in the first year beginning on or after 1 October 2013. The annual 
report on remuneration is subject to an annual advisory vote and includes a new ‘single figure’ directors’ 
remuneration table. The GC100 and Investor Group has published guidance on the new requirements.

The requirements of the new directors’ remuneration report are extensive and require a considerable amount of 
information that has not previously been required. Companies should take care to ensure they comply with the new 
legislation, bearing in mind the public interest in these disclosures.

Regulators likely to focus on
The new requirements of the Code and the new legislation on directors’ remuneration reports 
will inevitably be parts of the annual report that attract scrutiny from regulators in the first year 
of implementation. In particular, a degree of consistency will be expected between the significant 
financial reporting issues considered by the audit committee, IAS 1’s critical judgements and key 
sources of estimation uncertainty, the risks highlighted in the new‑style auditor’s report (see below) 
and, to a lesser extent, principal risks and uncertainties.

What the future holds
The FRC’s Financial Reporting Lab has undertaken an investigation to better understand what the investment 
community wants to see reported by audit committees, in light of the 2012 revisions to both the Code and the 
Guidance on Audit Committees. A final report is expected in late October.

In light of the Sharman Inquiry’s final report and recommendations of the panel of inquiry (the ‘Sharman report’) 
the FRC are set to consult on three main items in the world of going concern:

•	integrated going concern and risk management guidance for entities applying the Code. This will incorporate the 
expected consultation on the Guidance on Internal Control;

•	proposed changes to the Code to reduce the confusion between the use of “going concern” to refer to two 
different things – the requirements of accounting standards regarding the basis of preparation for financial 
statements and the broader assessment of risks affecting a company’s viability; and

•	separate simplified guidance for small and medium sized entities (SMEs).

Hotspots
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At the time of writing any revised proposals are expected to take effect in October 2014.

Following on from the new remuneration report legislation, the FCA are consulting on consequential amendments 
to the Listing Rules in respect of directors’ remuneration, although at the time of writing these changes are 
proposed for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. It is hoped that the final changes may instead take 
effect for periods ending on or after 30 September 2013, to coincide with the new legislation described above.

On the topic of directors’ remuneration, the FRC are also consulting on clawback arrangements, whether 
non‑executive directors holding executive positions in other companies should sit on the remuneration committee 
and any actions that should be taken if a company fails to obtain a substantial majority in support of a resolution 
on remuneration. Responses are requested by 6 December 2013. Any consequential amendments to the Code are 
likely to apply for periods beginning on or after 1 October 2014.

Link to survey findings
Chapters 10 – 12 of our survey examine going concern and corporate governance disclosures. A separate 
survey is available looking at FTSE 100 directors’ remuneration reports – copies can be obtained by emailing 
executiveremuneration@deloitte.co.uk.

Further information
New Code items:
•	2012 UK Corporate Governance Code – http://www.frc.org.uk/Our‑Work/Publications/Corporate‑Governance/

UK‑Corporate‑Governance‑Code‑September‑2012.aspx

•	2012 FRC Guidance on audit committees – http://www.frc.org.uk/Our‑Work/Publications/Corporate‑Governance/
Guidance‑on‑Audit‑Committees‑September‑2012.aspx

•	Governance in brief: New Corporate Governance Code and FRC Guidance on Audit Committees 
– http://www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk/publications/corporate‑governance/governance‑in‑brief/
governance‑in‑brief‑boardroom‑excellence

•	Governance in focus: Effectiveness of the external audit process – http://www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk/
publications/corporate‑governance/governance‑in‑focus/gif‑external‑audit‑effectiveness

Going concern items:
•	Sharman Inquiry recommendations – http://www.frc.org.uk/Our‑Work/Publications/FRC‑Board/

Sharman‑Inquiry‑Final‑Report.aspx

•	Governance in brief: Going concern – Sharman implementation delayed – http://www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk/
publications/corporate‑governance/governance‑in‑brief/governance‑in‑brief‑sharman‑implementation

Directors’ remuneration items:
•	New directors’ remuneration report legislation – http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1981/pdfs/

uksi_20131981_en.pdf

•	Directors’ remuneration report ‘Need to know’ newsletter – http://www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk/publications/uk/
need‑to‑know/2013/need‑to‑know‑directors‑remuneration

•	GC100 guidance on new directors’ remuneration reports – http://uk.practicallaw.com/6‑540‑9731

•	FRC consultation on directors’ remuneration – http://frc.org.uk/News‑and‑Events/FRC‑Press/Press/2013/
September/FRC‑to‑consult‑on‑executive‑remuneration.aspx

13Annual report insights 2013 A new beginning

http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/Corporate-Governance/UK-Corporate-Governance-Code-September-2012.aspx
http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/Corporate-Governance/UK-Corporate-Governance-Code-September-2012.aspx
http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/Corporate-Governance/Guidance-on-Audit-Committees-September-2012.aspx
http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/Corporate-Governance/Guidance-on-Audit-Committees-September-2012.aspx
http://www.iasplus.com/en-gb/publications/corporate-governance/governance-in-brief/governance-in-brief-boardroom-excellence
http://www.iasplus.com/en-gb/publications/corporate-governance/governance-in-brief/governance-in-brief-boardroom-excellence
http://www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk/publications/corporate-governance/governance-in-focus/gif-external-audit-effectiveness
http://www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk/publications/corporate-governance/governance-in-focus/gif-external-audit-effectiveness
http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/FRC-Board/Sharman-Inquiry-Final-Report.aspx
http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/FRC-Board/Sharman-Inquiry-Final-Report.aspx
http://www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk/publications/corporate-governance/governance-in-brief/governance-in-brief-sharman-implementation
http://www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk/publications/corporate-governance/governance-in-brief/governance-in-brief-sharman-implementation
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1981/pdfs/uksi_20131981_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1981/pdfs/uksi_20131981_en.pdf
http://www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk/publications/uk/need-to-know/2013/need-to-know-directors-remuneration
http://www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk/publications/uk/need-to-know/2013/need-to-know-directors-remuneration
http://uk.practicallaw.com/6-540-9731
http://frc.org.uk/News-and-Events/FRC-Press/Press/2013/September/FRC-to-consult-on-executive-remuneration.aspx
http://frc.org.uk/News-and-Events/FRC-Press/Press/2013/September/FRC-to-consult-on-executive-remuneration.aspx


To start a new section, hold down the apple+shift keys and click 

to release this object and type the section title in the box below.

1.  Executive summary

2.  How to use this 
document

3.  Regulatory overview

4.  Survey objectives

5.  Playing the long 
game

6.  First impressions

7.  Towards a Strategic 
Report …

8.  Risks and 
uncertainties – 
what’s keeping you 
awake?

9.  Unlocking 
performance

10.  Concerned about 
going concern?

11.  The governance 
debate

12.  Auditing by 
committee

13.  Of prime 
importance

14.  Taking note

Appendix 1 – A new 
beginning for the 
annual report

Appendix 2 –  
Glossary of terms  
and abbreviations

Other resources 
available

Deloitte executive remuneration website – http://www.deloitte.com/view/en_GB/uk/services/tax/employers/
e227e06e2e7d9310VgnVCM1000003156f70aRCRD.htm

Further information on corporate governance matters can be found at www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk or the Deloitte 
Global Centre for Corporate Governance at www.corpgov.deloitte.com/site/uk.

Financial statements
Requirements
Listed groups are required to prepare consolidated accounts under IFRSs as adopted by the EU. Listed entities that 
are not parent companies, such as many investment trusts, can still prepare UK GAAP financial statements, with 
the replacement standard, FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland, 
now available for early adoption.

The separate financial statements of a ‘qualifying entity’ can be prepared under FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure 
Framework, which closely reflects IFRS accounting but with reduced disclosures. If eligible, this may be an attractive 
option for many parent companies’ separate financial statements and for their subsidiaries. To apply FRS 101 a 
company must notify its shareholders in writing and they must not object to its use. Companies could provide this 
written notification in a note to their current financial statements, proposing FRS 101’s use in the following year’s 
financial statements.

New for 2013
Significant new items effective for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013 include IAS 19 
(revised 2011) Employee Benefits, which for defined benefit pensions replaces the expected return 
on plan assets and interest expense on the obligation in the income statement with a net interest 
number calculated on the net obligation – this will invariably negatively impact the income 
statement, albeit compensated for by increased actuarial movements in other comprehensive 
income. The revised standard also introduces a number of new disclosure requirements.

IFRS 13 Fair value measurement has the same effective date and sets out how fair value should be measured on an 
‘exit price’ basis. The scope of IFRS 13 is far wider than just financial instruments and would, for example, also apply 
to revalued property, plant and equipment. Extra disclosure requirements are also introduced relating to fair value 
measurements and disclosures in the financial statements.

For those reporting under IFRSs as issued by the IASB, such as SEC registrants, the consolidation ‘package of five’ 
that includes IFRSs 10‑12, IAS 27 (revised 2011) and IAS 28 (revised 2011) also represent significant standards 
that are newly effective in 2013. See the table below for a comprehensive listing of newly issued IFRSs becoming 
effective now and in the future.

The auditor’s report on the financial statements must comply with the requirements of ISA (UK and Ireland) 700, 
which has been revised with effect from periods commencing on or after 1 October 2012. For those companies 
reporting under the Code, the auditor’s report will look significantly different and will now include material on the 
most significant risks of material misstatement, materiality and the scoping of their audit work.

New
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Regulators likely to focus on
The use of non‑GAAP measures remain an area of scrutiny from regulators. One would expect:

•	such measures to be clearly defined and reconciled to IFRS measures;

•	for an explanation to be provided as to why certain items are being stripped out;

•	that the measures are defined consistently year on year; and

•	that their use is consistent with the measures presented in the narrative reporting, bearing in mind the “fair, 
balanced and understandable” requirements described above.

Impairments and supporting disclosures will unsurprisingly remain as something that regulators will examine 
carefully. They are likely to focus on those value in use calculations with a higher risk of an impairment charge, 
challenging key assumptions and any missing sensitivity disclosures.

On a similar theme, critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty always attract regulatory scrutiny. 
In the current year it will be important to ensure these disclosures have an appropriate degree of consistency with 
the significant financial statements issues disclosed in the audit committee report and the risks disclosed in the 
auditor’s report.

Consistent with the European Securities and Markets Authority’s (ESMA’s) enforcement priorities, the FRC’s Conduct 
Committee will also pay particular attention to the application of IAS 19 (revised 2011) and provisions.

What the future holds
The table below sets out the recently issued IFRSs, IFRICs and amendments to existing standards which are 
becoming effective now and in the future.

Title IASB mandatory effective 
date (periods commencing 
on or after)

EU‑endorsed mandatory 
effective date (periods 
commencing on or after)

Amendments to IFRS 1 – Severe Hyperinflation and 
Removal of Fixed Dates for First‑time Adopters

1 July 2011 1 January 2013

Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income

1 July 2012 1 July 2012

Amendments to IAS 12 – Deferred Tax: Recovery of 
Underlying Assets

1 January 2012 1 January 2013

Amendments to IFRS 1 – Government Loans 1 January 2013 1 January 2013

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement 1 January 2013 1 January 2013

Amendments to IFRS 7 – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities

1 January 2013 1 January 2013

IAS 19 (revised 2011) – Employee Benefits 1 January 2013 1 January 2013

IFRIC 20 – Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a 
Surface Mine

1 January 2013 1 January 2013

Annual Improvements to IFRSs: 2009‑2011 Cycle 1 January 2013 1 January 2013

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2013 1 January 2014

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 1 January 2013 1 January 2014

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2013 1 January 2014

IAS 27 (revised 2011) – Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2013 1 January 2014

Hotspots
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Title IASB mandatory effective 
date (periods commencing 
on or after)

EU‑endorsed mandatory 
effective date (periods 
commencing on or after)

IAS 28 (revised 2011) – Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures

1 January 2013 1 January 2014

Amendments to IAS 32 – Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities

1 January 2014 1 January 2014

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 – Investment 
Entities

1 January 2014 TBC – endorsement 
outstanding

Amendments to IAS 36 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures 
for Non‑Financial Assets

1 January 2014 TBC – endorsement 
outstanding

Amendments to IAS 39 – Novation of Derivatives and 
Continuation of Hedge Accounting

1 January 2014 TBC – endorsement 
outstanding

IFRIC 21 – Levies 1 January 2014 TBC – endorsement 
outstanding

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments 1 January 2015 TBC – endorsement postponed 
until completion of all sections 
of IFRS 9

At the time of writing a new final IFRS on revenue was also expected in the near future.

For single listed entities reporting under UK GAAP, FRS 102 replaces the existing framework with effect from 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015, although early adoption is permitted. FRS 101 has the same effective 
date and also permits early adoption.

With all these new standards tending to bring with them new disclosure requirements, the IASB is intending 
to provide extra guidance around the application of materiality and is considering whether to clarify IAS 1’s 
requirement to provide disclosure only where information is material. In the longer term, the IASB are also looking 
to develop a disclosure framework. In the UK, the FRC’s Financial Reporting Lab is also working with a few 
companies on case studies looking at initiatives that have, or will, cut what they consider to be ‘clutter’ from across 
their annual reports.

The Financial Reporting Lab has also undertaken a project analysing approaches to disclosing accounting policy 
information that are considered to be most effective – an area where companies are beginning to innovate and 
adopt different approaches. A final report on this is expected in Q1 2014.

In relation to the use of non‑GAAP performance measures, identified as a regulatory hotspot above, ESMA is 
updating its guidance on Alternative Performance Measures, which will be relevant for UK reporters presenting 
such measures.

Link to survey findings
Chapters 13 and 14 examine our survey findings in respect of the primary statements and the notes to the financial 
statements respectively.

Further information

•	Governance in brief: Audit reports to be more informative – http://www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk/publications/
corporate‑governance/governance‑in‑brief/governance‑in‑brief‑isa‑700‑audit‑report‑revisions

•	New UK GAAP information – www.deloitte.co.uk/futureofukgaap

•	Financial reporting lab website – http://www.frc.org.uk/Our‑Work/Codes‑Standards/Corporate‑reporting/
Financial‑Reporting‑Lab.aspx
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The world of corporate reporting in the UK
The timeline below provides an overview of various requirements that have recently come into force or will be 
doing so in the foreseeable future. Significant initiatives underway by UK and international regulators are also 
included as areas to be aware of, illustrating just how busy the world of UK corporate reporting is. Information on 
all the below can be found at www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk

Periods commencing on or after

1 October 2012

• Strategic report 
and greenhouse 
gas disclosures*

• New directors’ 
remuneration 
report*

• 2012 UK 
Corporate 
Governance 
Code and new 
auditor’s report

1 January 2013

• IFRS 13 
Fair value 
measurement

• IAS 19 (revised 
2011) Employee 
benefits

1 January 2014

• ‘Package of five’ 
on consolidation 
– IFRSs 10‑12**

1 October 2014

• Possible changes 
to Code on 
directors’ 
remuneration 
and going 
concern

• Possible update 
to internal 
control guidance

1 January 2015

• Old UK GAAP 
replaced by FRSs 
100‑102

Financial 
Reporting Lab 
project on new 
Code and audit 

committee 
requirements

ESMA updating 
alternative 

performance 
measures 
guidance

Financial 
Reporting Lab 

projects on 
accounting 
policies and 

cutting clutter

IASB disclosure 
framework

IIRC integrated 
reporting 
project

IASB 
conceptual 

framework and 
FRC/European 
contribution 
to “getting 

a better 
framework”

Other significant initiatives underway

*  These items are in fact effective for periods ending on or after 30 September 2013, rather than periods commencing on or after 
1 October 2012.

** For those reporting under IFRSs as issued by the IASB the effective date is periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013.
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4.  Survey objectives
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4. Survey objectives

The main objectives of the survey were to discover:

•	the level of cohesiveness in annual reports where companies link together a company’s strategy, KPIs, business 
model, remuneration and financial results;

•	the way companies are structuring their narrative reporting, in particular whether any companies have adopted 
early the new strategic report structure;

•	the content of business reviews, including the level of detail provided and common themes on principal risks and 
uncertainties;

•	the use of non‑GAAP measures in both narrative and financial reporting and which items are commonly being 
excluded from adjusted earnings measures;

•	how companies are choosing to describe their business models;

•	the level of compliance reported by companies with the UK Corporate Governance Code and common areas of 
non‑compliance;

•	how well companies deal with the significant volume of disclosures required by IFRSs, including areas of 
regulatory focus such as critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty; and

•	how the results varied depending on the size of the company and compared with similar surveys performed in 
previous years.

The annual reports of 100 listed companies were surveyed to determine current practice. This sample of 
100 excluded investment trusts, which have been surveyed separately and reported on in a separate publication, 
available at www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk. Investment trusts are those companies classified by the London Stock 
Exchange as non‑equity or equity investment instruments (this excludes real estate investment trusts). They have 
been surveyed separately due to their specialised nature and the particular needs of their investors.

In certain instances, example disclosures have been included from companies that were not included within our 
survey where they illustrate a requirement well or show innovation.

In previous years the survey has grouped companies into three categories, being those within the top 
350 companies by market capitalisation at 30 April, those in the smallest 350 by market capitalisation, and those 
that fall in between those categories (the ‘middle’ group). The total population from which the sample is taken has 
been decreasing over the past few years and this year the population of the middle group is significantly less than 
350. As such, the grouping of categories in 2013 has changed and there are only two groups: those within the top 
350 UK companies by market capitalisation, and those other listed UK companies – entities incorporated in the 
Channel Islands have been excluded in the current year. This, combined with the fact that the constituents of the 
FTSE 350 change over time and the way that the FTSE 350 is compiled, means that our ‘top 350’ UK companies 
does not correspond exactly to the FTSE 350.

The change in categories is designed to avoid the results becoming skewed due to the different size of population 
of each category. Additionally, the number of companies included within the two categories is now weighted 
based upon the size of the category, ensuring proportional representation of companies of different sizes in our 
overall findings. Where comparative figures are quoted for the ‘other’ group this represents the combination of our 
previous ‘middle’ and ‘smallest 350’ groups.

The overall sample is, as far as possible, consistent with that used in last year’s survey. As a result of takeovers, 
mergers, de‑listings and changes in market capitalisations over the last 12 months, the sample could not be 
identical. Replacements and additional reports were selected evenly across both categories. The annual reports 
used were those most recently available and published in the period from 1 September 2012 to 31 August 2013. 
Two companies within our sample had failed to meet the DTR requirement to publish their annual report within 
four months of their year end and so had their shares suspended. As such these two companies were removed 
from our sample and a further two chosen at random.
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5.  Playing the long game
Highlights

• Annual reports keep on getting longer, with a 4% increase in overall length from 103 to 107 pages.

• This is largely due to new regulations, such as early adoption of the revised remuneration disclosures and 
the Enhanced Disclosure Task Force (EDTF) recommendations on bank risk reporting.

• The balance between narrative reporting and financial statements continues to lean towards more 
narrative, with the average report now containing 51% narrative (2012: 51%).

• Only 45% of companies produce an electronic version of their report which is adapted in some way to 
make it more user‑friendly for online readers.

• The pace of reporting continues to quicken, with the average company now producing its report in just 
70 days (2012: 71 days).
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5. Playing the long game

This chapter examines the general trends in overall annual report structure, including the length of the report, the 
balance of the various sections of the report, the overall report presentation, the reporting timetable and the use 
of preliminary announcements.

Length of the report
As discussed elsewhere in this report, a number of companies are already ‘looking forward’ to the reporting 
changes that will come into force for periods ending on or after 30 September 2013. As a result of this it is not 
a surprise that the recent trend for annual reports to become longer each year has continued in our 2013 survey 
sample – see figure 5.1. As usual, it is the larger companies that have longer reports (see figure 5.2), partly because 
they tend to have more complex operations to describe but also because they tend to be more ‘progressive’ when 
it comes to early‑adopting new regulations. For the top 350 group, reports ranged from 60 to 533 pages long, 
while the range for other companies was 25 to 169 pages. The statistics in figure 5.2 appear slightly anomalous 
due to the re‑balancing of our survey sample to better reflect the composition of the FTSE (as set out in Chapter 4). 
However, the overall increase is not a result of the change in our sample – if we analyse the 90 companies which 
are consistent between the 2012 and 2013 surveys, the average number of pages has increased from 105 to 109.
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Figure 5.1. How has the average length of the annual report changed over time?
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Figure 5.2. What is the average length of the annual report?
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Within the top 350 group itself, the banking groups in our sample continue to have the largest reports, in particular 
this year due to their efforts to comply with the recommendations of the Enhanced Disclosure Task Force (EDTF) 
around risk reporting. It is encouraging to see that despite the fact that the EDTF report was published relatively 
late in 2012, it has been taken on board rapidly by those affected. More detail on how the EDTF recommendations 
have been implemented can be found in Deloitte’s publication ‘Responding to the EDTF recommendations – 
A review of 2012 year end reporting’, published in July 20131. The average length of bank reports included in our 
sample, represented by the same companies year on year, has increased from 357 pages in 2012 to 415 in 2013.

1 See http://www.iasplus.com/en/publications/uk/other/edtf‑recommendations

The average length of bank reports included 
in our sample, represented by the same 
companies year on year, has increased from 
357 pages in 2012 to 415 in 2013.
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Another significant change this year has been the early adoption by some (particularly large) companies of the new 
regulations regarding directors’ remuneration reporting and the splitting of the directors’ remuneration report into 
‘the directors’ remuneration policy’ and the ‘annual report on remuneration’ (see Chapter 3). As can be seen from 
figure 5.3, this has had roughly a two page impact on the length of the remuneration report, and hence the annual 
report overall. 
 

Figure 5.3. How long is the directors' remuneration report?
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For UK issuers of securities traded in the US, compliance with the necessary SEC regulations in addition to 
the necessary UK regulations can also have a significant effect on report length. The number of SEC registrant 
companies in our sample remained static at seven this year. Excluding the banks discussed above, these companies 
have an average report length of 183 pages (2012: 176), well above even the average of the top 350 companies.

Balance of narrative and financial information
For the purposes of our survey, we assess any information not included in the audited financial statements (including 
the audit report) to be narrative. This includes the traditional ‘front half’, as well as additional information provided at 
the back of a report, such as a glossary or appendices expanding on items discussed in the business review. 
 
 
Figure 5.4. What percentage of the report consists of narrative information?
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As shown by figure 5.4, for the largest companies in our sample the length of the narrative information now 
significantly exceeds that of the financial statements, and for the other companies it is rapidly approaching parity. 
This reflects not only an increase in the amount of information that companies are required to present but also 
their increased desire to tell the story of the business in a coherent and meaningful way. This is something that the 
government is keen to promote, with the introduction of the strategic report intended to encourage companies 
to really think about how they describe their business (see chapter 7).

The way in which companies link the various elements of their report together is something that many will need 
to consider carefully – the strategic report will need to be a single, coherent, linked discussion, not a collection 
of silos. Clearly linking the various elements of the report is something that only 28% of companies currently do, 
with the majority of these being in the top 350. This is an area where there has been improvement – only 14% of 
companies were considered to produce a cohesive report last year – but we will expect to see a big increase in this 
figure next year. It is also interesting to note that in a recent global survey undertaken by the CFA Institute2, 80% of 
investors did not see the volume of disclosures made by companies as a significant concern. Rather, their key 
priorities included giving greater prominence to important information and better cross‑referencing.

Presentation of report
The way in which an annual report is presented provides an interesting insight into the mind‑set of the company 
behind it. While some companies go to great lengths to make their report accessible and interesting, others clearly 
feel that stakeholders are capable of finding the information of interest to them without the company expending 
a lot of effort in signposting it. 24% of the companies surveyed were judged to have visually dull reports, with 
little use of graphs, pictures or other elements to break up the flow of text. A number of these were from the 
top 350 group, showing that it is not just those small companies with fewer resources that do not produce an 
interesting report.

Another illuminating statistic is that only 71% of companies provide photos of the board in their report. While this 
may seem like a trivial point, pictures really help to give the impression that the board take ownership of the report 
and the statements attributed to them. Again, while the majority of companies that do not provide these tend to 
be smaller companies they are by no means all.

With the pace of technological change showing no signs of slowing, producing reports which are easy to view 
electronically is another area where we have seen significant development in recent years. As shown by figure 
5.5 below, a significant number of companies now produce a report which is optimised in some way for electronic 
viewing. However, more than half of our sample did not produce anything beyond a basic pdf – useful for those 
who wish to download and print out the report but potentially frustrating for those viewing online. 

Figure 5.5. What percentage of companies produce interactive reports?

Navigable pdf

Flat pdf

Enhanced HTML

Basic HTML
55%

9%

10%

26%

2 See http://www.cfapubs.org/doi/pdf/10.2469/ccb.v2013.n12.1
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A ‘navigable pdf’ is a pdf including clickable navigation links. A ‘basic HTML’ document is an html including basic 
navigation elements, while an ‘enhanced HTML’ includes other elements such as videos or interactive content.

A recent innovation shown by a handful of companies is the inclusion of downloadable financial statements in 
excel format, very helpful for anyone wishing to do their own numerical analysis of a company’s financial position 
and performance.

Reporting timetable 

Figure 5.6. How quickly was the annual report approved?
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While annual reports are getting longer, as discussed above, there is a similar trend for reporting timetables to get 
shorter each year, as illustrated by figure 5.6. Companies are investing more and more time in getting their annual 
report template set up pre year‑end, so that it is ready to go as soon as the finance department have prepared the 
numbers and the auditors have signed them off. This is something that may create issues for some companies this 
year, with the new narrative and remuneration regulations only having been approved in August but affecting years 
ending on or after 30 September. September year‑end reporters in particular may have been waiting with bated 
breath for the finalisation of these so that they can swing into action! Figure 5.7 shows the distribution of year‑ends 
in our sample.

Figure 5.7. What is the distribution of company year-ends?
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Preliminary announcements
Whilst a preliminary announcement is in theory no longer required by the Listing Rules, companies still need 
to be mindful of their obligations under DTR 2.2 (disclosure of price sensitive information) and Listing Rule 
9.7A.2 (announcement of dividend and distribution decisions). What this means in practice is that a company will 
frequently report its results to the market before the full annual report is ready. Where a listed company opts to 
prepare a preliminary announcement it should still comply with the requirements of Listing Rule 9.7A (preliminary 
statement of annual results). Once the full annual report is ready, a subsequent announcement must be made to 
notify the market of the website on which it is available.

90 of the 100 companies surveyed made an announcement of their results before their full annual report was ready. 
For a number of these 90 companies no subsequent announcement was made to indicate when their annual report 
was available on their website, instead its future availability was merely indicated in their results announcement. 
Such an approach appears open to challenge in light of DTR 6.3.5’s dissemination requirements, which include 
indicating on which website the annual report is available. 77 of the aforementioned 90 announcements were 
based on audited results, ten were based on unaudited results and three were unclear as to whether the audit 
was complete. Three companies disseminated their annual report in full unedited text and for the seven remaining 
companies it was unclear whether their results announcements preceded their full annual report being made 
available. For the top 350 group the announcements came on average 59 days after the year‑end, and for the other 
group the average time was 76 days.

Companies are investing more and more time in getting 
their annual report template set up pre year‑end, so that 
it is ready to go as soon as the finance department have 
prepared the numbers and the auditors have signed 
them off.
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6.  First impressions
Highlights

• 93% (2012: 91%) of companies present a summary information section in their annual report.

• Of these, 89% (2012: 78%) present narrative information in addition to financial highlights.

• Of the companies presenting summary financial information, 19% (2012: 19%) do not present any of 
their KPIs in that summary information.
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Traditionally, a company’s annual report has been introduced with scene‑setting statements from the chairman 
and the CEO. While in the past companies may have prefaced this with a brief numerical summary of key highlights, 
increasingly companies are including a more detailed narrative summary section which prefaces these formal 
introductions with some key details about the business – 89% of those surveyed in 2013 did so (2012: 78%). 
There are no requirements for such a summary section to be included in an annual report or for the content where 
it is provided. What this means is that preparers have the luxury of a blank canvas on which to design whatever 
they think works best. Key information highlighted may include a description of a company’s business model, 
details of its geographical sphere of operations or a timeline of key events from the year.

Regardless of the precise content, the purpose of the summary section is to introduce the company and what 
it does. While one would hope that an existing investor knows about the business they have invested in, for 
a potential new investor, being made to feel that they understand the business quickly is vital. Indeed, three 
companies specifically included an ‘investment proposition’ section in their summary, recognising the usefulness of 
the annual report to communicate with prospective as well as current investors. These sections set out the reasons 
why the company in question represents good value for investors and how it will create value for them.

Figure 6.1 shows the percentage of companies that present summary information in their accounts.

Figure 6.1. How many annual reports in each category include a summary information section?
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6. First impressions
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Information contained in summary sections
The structure of a summary section can vary from a single page of ‘key financial highlights’ to a detailed overview 
of the company, its products, markets and customers. The most useful summaries also include cross‑references to 
where the information they are summarising is discussed in more detail, helping users to identify the sections that 
are of most interest to them.

As shown by figure 6.2, almost all companies presenting a summary section include financial information in it. 
However the proportion which also include narrative information is rapidly catching up – with 89% of companies 
presenting this in 2013 compared to 78% in 2012.

Figure 6.2. What kind of information is presented in the summary pages?
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The type of narrative information which is included in the summary section can be seen from figure 6.3 – this 
shows the type of information included as a percentage of those companies presenting some narrative information 
in their summary. 94% of companies presented a description of what the company does, typically something that 
does not take more than a few sentences. While this may seem like something that a user of the report should 
really already know, it provides valuable context for anyone who does not. Often this description was linked 
into the company’s strategy and differentiating factors, starting to paint the picture of how it creates value for 
shareholders. However, a significant proportion (38%) of companies did not develop the discussion in this way.

A discussion of the company’s products and/or services was also presented by 78% of businesses. The form of this 
information varies between industries – for example professional services firms might discuss the different services 
they offer clients, while a consumer products business gives a summary of its key brands, or a business‑to‑business 
supplier lists some of the end uses of its products. While most businesses discussed their products, the majority 
(58%) did not provide a corresponding discussion of the customers that they are selling those products to. 
Developing the discussion of a company’s products to include its target markets is a good example of the linkage 
between what a company does and its strategy discussed above – showing not just what it is doing but why.

Details of the geographical locations that a company operates in were provided by 66% of companies. In general, 
those companies with a wider geographical spread tended understandably to discuss this in greater detail 
– a typical presentation shows a map of the world with details of the business’ operations in each location. 
This information is likely to be of significant interest to those investors looking to assess their geographical 
diversification and understand the exposures to different economies underlying their investment.
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Figure 6.3. What kind of narrative information is given in the summary?
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The linkage between the numerical information presented in a company’s opening summary and the information 
identified later in the report as its Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) is interesting. Figure 6.4 shows the level of 
correlation between these measures. We would not go so far as to suggest that a company should only present 
measures identified as KPIs in its summary section – some numbers, such as revenue, profit for the year or net 
assets are likely to be of sufficient interest to users that it is reasonable to present them even if they are not 
identified internally as key measures. However, at 19%, the proportion of companies not discussing any of their 
KPIs in their summary information is worryingly high.

Figure 6.4. Are measures presented in the summary section the same as KPIs?
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Of the companies which include some of their KPIs 
in their summary section, it is encouraging to see that 
20% are discussing non‑financial indicators as well as 
financial ones.
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Of the companies which include some of their KPIs in their summary section, it is encouraging to see that 20% are 
discussing non‑financial indicators as well as financial ones. Of the remainder, 37% do not identify any non‑financial 
KPIs at all – this is a theme which will be picked up again in chapter 9.

Of those presenting financial information in their summary, the vast majority of companies (86%) include some 
non‑GAAP measures, mostly (but not always) alongside related GAAP measures. Of these non‑GAAP measures, 
a noticeably low percentage (55%) are consistent with the measures presented in the company’s IFRS 8 Operating 
Segments note in the financial statements. This is surprising, since the latter should reflect the measures used by 
the chief operating decision maker (CODM) to manage the business3. The reason why so many companies choose 
to introduce the discussion of their performance to shareholders based on a measure that is neither clearly defined 
by accounting standards nor the primary measure used to run the business is, to us, unclear. The best reporters will 
present measures in a summary section that are consistent with their KPIs and those reported to the chief operating 
decision maker, which are disclosed in their IFRS 8 note.

Some good examples of how to present an effective summary information section are provided by BT Group plc 
and Howden Joinery Group Plc (extracts shown below). Both companies present a concise overall summary with 
links to where the key elements are discussed elsewhere in the report. However, the contrast between BT’s clean, 
corporate style and Howden’s eye‑catching artwork illustrates that when it comes to summary sections there is 
definitely more than one way to communicate the message. A company needs to identify a presentation style that 
fits with its brand image, rather than trying to shoehorn itself into a one‑size‑fits‑all model.

BT Group plc Annual Report & Form 20‑F 2013

3  Where a company has only identified a single reportable segment, non‑GAAP measures presented on the face of the income 
statement have been assumed to represent those measures reported to the CODM.
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Howden Joinery Group Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012

Howden’s eye‑catching artwork illustrates that when 
it comes to summary sections there is definitely more 
than one way to communicate the message. A company 
needs to identify a presentation style that fits with its 
brand image, rather than trying to shoehorn itself into a 
one‑size‑fits‑all model.
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7.  Towards a Strategic Report …
Highlights

• The proportion of companies clearly discussing their business model continues to grow, with 44% (2012: 
37%) of those surveyed doing so. However, given that discussion of the business model is a requirement 
of the Code, it is surprisingly low.

• 86% (2012: 82%) of companies clearly identify the objectives of their business. Of these, 41% discussed 
long‑term objectives.

• Of the companies which discussed their objectives, 90% provided a link between these and the strategies 
being pursued to achieve them.

• Of the companies discussing their strategy, 43% provided a link to the measures used to assess the 
success of its implementation.

• 39% (2012: 28%) of companies provided extensive commentary on their environmental impact and 32% 
(2012: 30%) provided this level of detail regarding employee matters.

• 72% (2012: 63%) of companies included some discussion of their greenhouse gas emissions, with 42% 
(2012: 42%) providing supporting numerical information.

• 21 companies provided some information on the gender diversity of the organisation as a whole.
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7. Towards a Strategic Report …

With the introduction of the Government’s new narrative reporting regulations, outlined in chapter 3 and which 
become effective for years ending on or after 30 September 2013, we expect that the coming year will see some 
significant changes in the structure of what was, for the period covered by our survey, still the business review 
section of the directors’ report.

Currently the law requires companies to include in their directors’ report ‘a fair review of the company’s business’, 
including the development and performance of the business during the year and its position at the year‑end. 
The review is required to contain a discussion of principal risks and uncertainties (see chapter 8) and key 
performance indicators (see chapter 9). For a quoted company (as all of those in our survey are), the business review 
also needs to contain information about trends and factors affecting the business’ future development, as well as 
information about environmental matters, employee matters and social and community issues. For periods ending 
on or after 30 September 2013, these requirements will become part of the content of the new ‘strategic report’, 
along with further requirements to discuss human rights issues, the company’s business model and strategy and a 
new requirement to disclose gender diversity figures.

However, in most areas those companies which are at the forefront of reporting are already doing a lot of what 
will be required by these new regulations. Therefore it seems likely that the primary impact will be to spur on other 
companies to emulate these examples of how best to present what will become mandatory information. The FRC’s 
Guidance on the Strategic Report (in exposure draft form at the time of writing)4 will also prove an invaluable 
aid. Deloitte will also be producing a practical guide for those companies grappling with the new requirements. 
While only one of the companies in our sample has made an effort to already identify part of its report as a 
‘strategic report’, this does not indicate a lack of progress on the part of others towards a more holistic strategic 
review.

Another key development in this area is the launch of the first consultation draft of the International Integrated 
Reporting Council’s (IIRC) Integrated Reporting Framework. The framework suggests that companies would 
produce a standalone document, separate to the annual report, which will combine some of the elements of 
traditional financial reporting with environmental, social and governance information into a single report which 
acknowledges all of the factors or resources and relationships on which a company’s performance depends in 
the short, medium and long term. The IIRC has captured these factors in the form of six definitions of “capital”: 
financial, manufactured, intellectual, human, social and relationship, and natural capitals.

In the UK, many of the elements of the framework are currently required by law or encouraged by the draft 
FRC Guidance on the Strategic Report. Two of the companies in our sample described their annual reports as an 
‘integrated report’, demonstrating the traction that these guidelines are already gaining.

This chapter discusses the overall content of the business review. Two specific areas, identification of principal risks 
and uncertainties and discussion of key performance indicators, are considered by us to be of sufficient importance 
to warrant their own separate chapters. Therefore, for consideration of the identification and presentation of 
principal risks and uncertainties please refer to chapter 8. For an analysis of the use of key performance indicators 
please see chapter 9. These are both areas where disclosure continues to be required under the new legislation.

4  See http://www.frc.org.uk/Our‑Work/Publications/Accounting‑and‑Reporting‑Policy/Exposure‑Draft‑Guidance‑on‑the‑
Strategic‑Report.aspx
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Presentation of the business review
While the new regulations identify the strategic report as a separate element of the annual report, clearly distinct 
from the directors’ report and separately approved by the board, under the existing regulations there is some 
variety of practice in how companies meet the requirement to include a business review in the directors’ report. 
Figure 7.1 shows how companies currently choose to present this information. 

Figure 7.1. How is the business review structured?
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19%

65%
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As can be seen, many companies already choose to present this information in a separate section, with a simple 
cross‑reference from the formal directors’ report to clarify which sections cover the statutory requirements. 
While this cross‑reference may seem like a minor thing, it is important from a legal point of view as it brings this 
information within the scope of the ‘safe harbour’ provisions of the Companies Act (s463), which restrict directors’ 
liability for statements made in the directors’ report. The new regulations amend these provisions to also include 
any information presented in a company’s strategic report. Indeed, 46% of companies (2012: 43%) choose to go 
further than this and include a specific ‘cautionary statement’ warning users not to rely on any forward‑looking 
statements included in the report. As companies continue to present more detailed and subjective information in 
their annual reports, ensuring that they do not unintentionally expose themselves to liability is likely to continue 
to be an important consideration.

Another impact of the new narrative reporting regulations is that instead of providing summary financial statements 
to shareholders who choose to receive them, companies will be able to provide a copy of the strategic report 
(along with some supplementary information). For any companies planning to do this, it will be important to ensure 
that the strategic report makes sense as a standalone document. A potentially significant element of this is how the 
strategic report presents summary financial information, since the supplementary information to be provided does 
not include the financial statements. While all companies discuss their financial results to some extent, providing 
a summary income statement or balance sheet is likely to be significantly helpful to a shareholder who is receiving 
only the strategic report without the full financial statements to support it. In our 2013 survey, 34 companies 
presented a summary income statement in their business review, with 9 of these also providing a summary balance 
sheet. One further company presented just a summary balance sheet.

One area which may cause some issues going forward is the presentation of information which is currently included 
in the business review but which is not necessarily of ‘strategic importance’. This might, for example, include 
details of the performance and operations of individual divisions of the business which, while interesting, may not 
necessarily be strategically important to the group as a whole. Potentially the strategically important information 
which needs to be included in the strategic report could be distilled from this, leaving the supporting detail in a 
separate ‘further information’ section of the report.
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The business model
One area of development this year has been the discussion by companies of their business model. The new 
narrative regulations include a specific requirement for companies to discuss their business model in the strategic 
report, something that was not previously included in the Companies Act regulations, but which has been in 
the UK Corporate Governance Code since 2010 (and should therefore be provided on a comply or explain basis).

As described in the draft FRC Guidance on the Strategic Report, a description of the business model is of 
fundamental importance in providing context for the annual report as a cohesive document. At the highest level, 
the business model is a description of what the business does and why and how it does it. It should provide 
shareholders with an understanding of how the entity is structured, the market in which it operates, and how 
the entity engages with that market (e.g. what part of the value chain it operates in, its main products, services, 
customers and its distribution methods). It should also describe the nature of the relationships, resources and other 
inputs that are necessary for the successful continuation of the business.

Figure 7.2. What proportion of companies clearly identify and discuss their business model?
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As shown by figure 7.2, the proportion of companies clearly identifying the discussion of their business model 
has improved year on year across the board. Furthermore, although only 44% of companies clearly identify their 
business model, another 23% discuss their business model without clearly identifying it. For the remaining 33% 
of companies, this is an area that will need to be carefully considered in advance of the new regulations coming 
into force.

A discussion of how the business creates value for shareholders was included in the business model by 70% of 
these companies. The level of detail in this discussion varied from company to company, with a small proportion 
also expanding the analysis to include the creation of value for other stakeholders such as employees and 
governments as well. One way in which this was done was by including a pie chart showing the value created 
for various stakeholder groups.

One helpful way to illustrate what the company does and how it creates value is to include a visual representation 
of the business model. Of those companies presenting a business model, 61% included a visual representation 
in their discussion. However, the usefulness of these visual representations was varied – in our view a 
company‑specific diagrammatic representation of the business provides much more interesting information than an 
abstract diagram punctuated with management‑speak buzzwords.
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Some good examples of effective business model presentation are provided by Intermediate Capital Group plc, 
Mondi Group, Rexam PLC (shown below and overleaf) and Vislink plc. ICG clearly demonstrate how they operate 
and create value for their customers, while Mondi and Rexam illustrate their production cycles and how these 
create a competitive advantage. Vislink provide a useful diagrammatic representation of how their technological 
expertise translates into a comprehensive service for their customers.

Intermediate Capital Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2013
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Mondi Group Integrated report and financial statements 2012
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Objectives and strategy
Once a company has set the stage by outlining its business model, the next step is to develop this by discussing 
the company’s objectives and its strategies for achieving these. Figure 7.3 shows how many companies clearly 
identify their objectives, along with the proportion clearly identifying financial or non‑financial objectives. It also 
shows the proportion of companies for which these objectives are specifically linked to the long‑term performance 
of the company. Although the new and existing regulations do not explicitly require objectives to be disclosed, 
the draft FRC Guidance suggests that they should be included in discussing a company’s strategy (disclosure of 
which is required). Indeed, describing a strategy without the objectives that it is trying to achieve seems an odd 
proposition. The UK Corporate Governance Code does however note that the annual report should contain an 
explanation of ‘the strategy for delivering the objectives of the company’ (Provision C.1.2).

Figure 7.3. What type of objectives are identified by companies?

Total Top 350 companies Other companies

0%

50%

100%

Long-termNon-financialFinancialOverall

79%
72%

91%

58%

73%

88%

61%

41%

53%

32%

86%

95%

Rexam PLC annual report 2012
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It is encouraging to see that most companies identify some clear objectives for the business in their annual report, 
and the balance between those identifying financial and non‑financial objectives is also good to see. Both financial 
and non‑financial objectives are useful for stakeholders, with the latter taking on increased significance nowadays, 
as recommended by the draft FRC Guidance and the IIRC’s Integrated Reporting Framework. Overall, 95% of 
companies in our top 350 group disclosed objectives, compared to 79% of smaller entities.

Understanding the company’s financial strategy in terms of whether the directors’ main priority is to return cash 
to shareholders in the short term through dividends or retain it in the business to invest for long term capital 
growth may well have an effect on the decisions of investors. Similarly, understanding how the business intends to 
generate future value, for example by developing new markets for existing products or new products for existing 
markets, will provide useful insight into the direction the business is travelling in and allow them to decide whether 
they agree with it.

The percentage of companies clearly linking their objectives to the long‑term performance of the business is less 
encouraging. With the focus of the Sharman enquiry on the long‑term health of businesses, this is an area in which 
we expect further development in the future (see chapter 10 for further discussion on going concern). Setting out 
clear long‑term objectives is also likely to be helpful in illustrating the link between executive remuneration and 
long‑term performance, another key theme of recent reporting developments.

The linking of discussion of objectives to the strategy being followed to deliver them is also important. 80 of 
the companies surveyed clearly set out their discussion of strategy, with 90% of those clearly setting out their 
objectives also discussing their strategy to achieve them. Interestingly, 3 companies set out their strategic priorities 
but with no clear indication of the objectives that these were working towards. Perhaps it was felt that the aims of 
these strategies were sufficiently obvious that a further discussion of objectives was unnecessary.

A particularly good example of the link between a company’s values and objectives is provided by Dairy Crest 
Group plc. They also provide a further link to the key performance indicators that measure the success of the 
company in achieving its goals. Only 43% of those companies which discussed their strategic priorities included 
a clear link to the way in which the success of these is measured, something which is very important in helping 
shareholders to see whether the company is successfully achieving what it sets out to do. The draft FRC Guidance 
also recommends such linkage. Figure 7.4 shows how well companies are creating a link between their strategy and 
the measures used to assess its success. It is clear that this is an area that larger companies are significantly better at 
than the smaller ones in our sample.

Figure 7.4. How clear is the link between strategy and performance measures?

Total Top 350 companies Other companies
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20%
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Clear link between strategy and performance measuresClear discussion of strategy
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Dairy Crest Group plc Annual Report 2013

A particularly good example of the link between a 
company’s values and objectives is provided by Dairy 
Crest Group plc. They also provide a further link to the 
key performance indicators that measure the success of 
the company in achieving its goals.
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Another important area of linkage is between the company’s strategy and its business model – Pendragon PLC 
shows a good example of this. A link between strategy and the markets a business operates in can also be useful 
for users – a clear overview of the markets they operate in was provided by 70% of the companies surveyed. 
Marks and Spencer Group plc provide a good example of a market overview with links to the strategic impacts of 
market developments. On a similar theme, Cobham plc present a useful visual illustration of their positioning in 
key markets.

Pendragon PLC 2012 Annual Report
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Marks & Spencer Group plc Annual report and financial 
statements 2013

Cobham plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012

Corporate social responsibility
Corporate social responsibility (CSR) is an area of continued focus for the business community at large and it is 
no surprise that practice continues to develop in this area regarding the level of disclosure given by companies. 
This is also an area of regulatory development, particularly for quoted companies – while the business review is 
currently required to discuss environmental matters, the company’s employees and social and community issues, 
the new narrative regulations extend this to include human rights issues and also include specific new disclosure 
requirements regarding gender diversity that go beyond the UK Corporate Governance Code’s requirements for 
disclosures around boardroom diversity policies. The new regulations also introduce specific requirements for 
numerical disclosure of greenhouse gas emissions into quoted companies’ directors’ reports, although in practice 
companies may combine this requirement with the discussion of environmental matters in the strategic report, 
something which is allowed by the new regulations where a matter required to be included in the directors’ report 
is deemed to be of strategic importance to the company (as long as this approach is made clear in the directors’ 
report) and in line with current practice.

The consideration of a business’ wider impact is also a theme of the IIRC’s Integrated Reporting Framework. 
This framework encourages companies to consider their wider impact on society through a discussion of the 
“six capitals” – financial, manufactured, social and relationship, human, intellectual and natural. Given that the 
draft framework was only released in June 2013 the impact on our current year survey is limited, however it will be 
interesting to follow the impact that this has on company reports in future years.
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Figure 7.5. How much detail have companies given about their corporate social responsibility?

Brief and/or generic comment Meaningful commentary specific to company

Extensive commentary and detailed analysis Extensive commentary with a link to KPIs
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Domino Printing Sciences plc Annual Report & Financial 
Statements 2012

Figure 7.5 shows the level of detail that companies 
have given regarding corporate social responsibility. 
Understandably, given that these are not yet required, 
the level of disclosure regarding company‑wide 
diversity and human rights is noticeably less extensive 
than for environmental, employee‑related and social 
and community issues. Although the overall level of 
human rights disclosures was low at only 15%, the 
companies for which this is a more significant issue, 
such as mining companies or manufacturing firms with 
significant operations in Africa and South‑East Asia 
generally did provide a more detailed level of disclosure 
in this area. Domino Printing Sciences plc provide an 
example of good disclosure in this area.
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The number of companies giving extensive information in relation to environmental issues (39%, 2012: 28%) and 
employee‑related issues (32%, 2012: 30%) is encouraging, particularly the number that identify key performance 
indicators in these areas. In terms of environmental measures, greenhouse gas emission‑related KPIs are particularly 
popular and these will dovetail nicely with the new regulations (see below). For employee‑related information, KPIs 
in relation to employee engagement and satisfaction are particularly popular. Commentary on diversity tends to 
form a part of the discussion of employee‑related issues, although for many companies this discussion does not go 
much further than the policy regarding employment of disabled persons which is required by the Companies Act.

Galliford Try plc, Kier Group plc and MITIE Group PLC provide some good examples of how to present an effective 
CSR report, balancing narrative and numbers. In particular, MITIE provide good disclosure of future targets for their 
sustainability measures, while Kier provide an example of a company which has obtained external assurance over 
its sustainability measures.

GallifordTry plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2012
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Kier Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012

MITIE Group PLC Annual report and Accounts 2013

MITIE Group PLC  
Annual Report and Accounts 2013

24
Sustainability

One approach.  
One strategy.

A strategy to deliver stakeholder value through a focus  
on sustainable, pro�table growth lies at the heart of our business, 

 which is why our sustainability strategy is consistent with our  
corporate strategy.

Aligning sustainability approach 
directly with group strategy
We’ve always said that everything we  
do to make MITIE a more successful 
business should also help make it a  
more sustainable one – and vice versa.  
So we’ve decided to change the way 
we talk about sustainability so that it is 
exactly the same as how we talk about 
our business strategy. We now have 

Why do we have a separate report, 

about numbers and strategy, there’s a 

responsible for achieving them.

Our sustainability approach has six 

changed a little since our last report 
 

www.mitie.com/sustainability  
for all the details. 

Clients

Our integrated  
sustainability  

approach

Responsibility

We act responsibly in respect  
of the planet, people and 

partners we work with –  
reducing our environmental 

impacts and engaging  
with our suppliers and the 
communities we work in. 

We look after our clients 
properly, delivering a  
world-class service to 

create long-term, mutually 
bene�cial relationships. 

W
e recruit, m

otivate, 
 

develop and retain the 
 

best people to m
ake sure 

 

we have the right talent 
 

pipeline to ful�l all the business’ 
 

future needs.
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e look to expand our capabilities 
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This table is an extract from our full environmental report, available on our website ( www.mitie.com ).

Resource Units
2009-10 full year  

restated (baseline) 2012-13
% change  

against baseline

Scope 1 Gas and Fleet transport fuel Tonnes of CO 2e 42,779 42,764 -0.04

Scope 2 Electricity Tonnes of CO 2e 3,879 3,479 -10.3

Scope 1+2 Intensity Tonnes of CO 2e/employee 0.87 0.71 -18.4

Intensity Tonnes CO 2e/£m 27.13 21.81 -19.6

Scope 3 Upstream Energy and business car travel Tonnes of CO 2e 13,425 14,031 4.5

Water Tonnes of CO 2e 10 11 10

Intensity Tonnes CO 2e/employee 0.0002 0.0002 0

Created waste Tonnes 1,436 1,204 -16.2

Intensity (Created waste per employee) Kg 27 19 -29.6

General waste Tonnes 989 607 -38.6

Recycled waste Tonnes 447 597 33.6

% Recycled 31 50 61.3

Environmental data

MITIE Group PLC  
Annual Report and Accounts 2013
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Marketplace  
and sustainable 

operations

1

Clients
What we achieved

12%
Our Net Promoter Score is 12% (+3% on last year)

75%
 

as a direct result of the programme 

16
We recruited 16 Facilities Services Apprentices in 
association with our client Essex County Council 

What are we doing about it? 
We continue to build strong relationships 
with our clients, through great customer 
service, constant innovation and 
community engagement programmes. 
We’re keen to share best practice when  
it comes to innovation on client sites and 
we’ll be concentrating on fresh thinking.

2

People
What we achieved

2,500+
More than 2,500 MITIE managers have viewed 
our ‘Guide to being a MITIE manager’

1,148
With 1,148 apprentices currently at MITIE,  
we’ve increased our numbers by 36%  

+38% 
We’ve increased our community investment by 38%

1,276 
We beat our target by 28% with 1,276 
volunteering days 

What are we doing about it? 
Ultimately our aim is to develop and 
sustain the successful MITIE people 
culture – from performance 
management, to leadership, training 
and development; it is critical that our 
people are engaged with what we’re 
trying to achieve and the values that 
underpin our business. That’s why we 
focus on performance, potential, 
diversity and engagement.

Looking ahead
Target to 2020  
The best way to measure how well 
we’re looking after our clients is to 
measure how happy they are. 

By 2020, we want to improve client 
satisfaction across all divisions and 

Score of 25%.

Milestones  
We’re already implementing 
formalised customer satisfaction 
programmes in some areas of the 
business, and through knowledge 
sharing forums which we’ll be rolling 
out more consistently across MITIE. 

teams have the tools to update their 
clients on MITIE news, especially  
the kind of news that could create 

Looking ahead
Target to 2020  
1.  Achieve 90% employee engagement 

based on MITIE’s proprietary model.
2.  Embed diversity in all our practices 

and achieve 90% diversity score based 
on MITIE’s proprietary model.

Milestones  
Good is the enemy of great and our 
people have to keep on upping their 
game if we are to deliver sustainable 
growth. We will therefore actively seek 

recognising and rewarding great 
performance. We will also become 
even better at spotting and knowing 
how to realise potential. 

 Diversity of 
skills and thinking as well as diversity of 
background and gender will set us apart 
from our competitors by giving us a 
visceral and sustainable understanding 
of the markets in which we operate.

What we’ve focused on
Performance management

Leadership

Engagement

What we’ve focused on
Client satisfaction

Real Apprentice programme

FM Academies

Check out www.mitie.com/
sustainability  for more on our milestones

Check out www.mitie.com/
sustainability  for more on our milestones
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In addition to the information included in the annual report, 23 companies (2012: 10) refer to a separate standalone 
corporate social responsibility report in their annual report. This is further encouraging evidence of the rising 
priority of CSR for companies. Of these 23, 20 were from the largest 350 group in our sample, indicating that this 
is another area in which the largest companies (who one would expect to have a larger communications budget) 
are leading the way. A note of caution however (and one that has been picked up by the European Commission 
in their latest proposed amendments to the accounting directives) – it is important for companies to ensure that 
sufficient detail in this area is still included in the annual report itself, rather than just the separate CSR report.

Greenhouse gas reporting
With the new narrative reporting regulations including specific requirements for reporting on greenhouse 
gas emissions in the directors’ report, it is interesting to see how practice is developing in this area. The new 
regulations require companies to provide disclosure of the amount of emissions produced directly by the business 
from combustion of fuel or the operation of its facilities, as well as indirect emissions from the purchase of 
electricity, heat, steam or cooling. These measures correspond to the existing “Scope 1” and “Scope 2” emissions 
disclosures as defined by Defra in its 2009 guidance on this subject5. Although there is no existing requirement 
to present this information, as shown by figure 7.6 a number of companies are already disclosing some limited 
numerical information about greenhouse gas emissions in addition to narrative information. However, with the 
new regulations requiring this information to be presented, the majority of companies have work to do. Deloitte’s 
publication ‘Lip service of Leadership’6 gives more detail in this area.

Figure 7.6. How much numerical detail have companies given regarding greenhouse gases?

Narrative only

No information

Some numerical information

Scope 1 and 2 numerical disclosures

28%

16%

30%

26%

5 See https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance‑on‑how‑to‑measure‑and‑report‑your‑greenhouse‑gas‑emissions
6 See http://www.iasplus.com/en/publications/uk/other/carbon‑survey

A significant number of companies are already disclosing 
numerical information about greenhouse gas emissions 
in addition to narrative information.
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The new regulations also include a requirement to disclose the methodology used to calculate the figures disclosed, 
as well as “at least one ratio which expresses the company’s annual emissions in relation to a quantifiable factor 
associated with the company’s activities.”

A good example of overall environmental (and in particular greenhouse gas emissions) disclosure is provided by 
CLS Holdings plc. Another example of relating carbon emissions to an operational measure is provided by British 
Polythene Industries PLC.

CLS Holdings plc Annual Report & Accounts 2012 British Polythene Industries PLC Annual Report and 
Accounts 2012
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Employee diversity
Employee diversity at different levels within a company, specifically in relation to gender, is another area in 
which the new narrative reporting regulations introduce additional requirements. Previously the government 
was promoting voluntary disclosure around gender equality rather than implementing the mandatory disclosure 
requirements in the 2010 Equality Act, which focused on disclosure of gender pay gap information. The new 
regulations have moved away from this to require more basic numerical information about the number of 
employees of each gender in a company. However, as well as employees overall, the regulations also require that 
the gender split of the board and ‘senior management’ is disclosed, to give an idea of how equal opportunities are 
at the top of the company, not just the bottom. Diversity at board level and the implementation of Lord Davies’ 
report “Women on boards” is discussed in more detail in chapter 11.

Of the companies surveyed, 17 provided gender diversity information broadly in line with the requirements of 
the new regulations and a further four provided some gender diversity information. Of these 21 companies, 
the majority (15) came from the top 350 companies group. A particularly good example of diversity disclosures, 
encompassing not just gender but age, ethnic background and disability status, is provided by PayPoint plc.

PayPoint plc annual report 2013
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8.  Risks and uncertainties – 
what’s keeping you awake?

Highlights

• 83% (2012: 83%) of companies clearly identify their principal risks and uncertainties.

• The average number of risks identified is 10 (2012: 9).

• 57% of companies gave clear descriptions of all of their risks, with these companies on average having 
fewer risks than those for whom the descriptions were less clear.

• Encouragingly, only 5% of companies (2012: 11%) presented an entirely generic list of risks, with the rest 
ensuring that at least some were company‑specific.

• 91% (2012: 83%) of companies clearly discuss the mitigating actions taken in response to the risks 
identified.
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This chapter looks in more detail at the types of principal risks and uncertainties identified by companies and 
the way in which they are presented. Both company law, in the Companies Act 2006 requirements for a business 
review, and the FCA’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules, require listed companies to give a description of 
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the company. The use of the word ‘principal’ here is not accidental – 
the idea is for companies to give a detailed summary of relevant information on the risks which are really key to 
their business, rather than a ‘brain dump’ of any and all risks that could possibly be relevant.

Risk reporting is a sensitive area and it is just as important to communicate risks effectively as it is to identify 
them properly in the first place. Understandably, risk management disclosures continue to be an area of focus 
for stakeholders and regulators and, while companies are making progress in this area, for many there are still 
improvements that can be made. A recent survey of FTSE 350 risk reporting by the Association of Insurance and 
Risk Managers in Industry and Commerce (AIRMIC) found that “the standards of risk reporting vary considerably 
between individual companies and, very noticeably, between the different business sectors” and this is a finding 
which is borne out by our results.

The most commonly levelled criticism of companies is not that they identify too few risks but that they identify 
too many. In the words of Stephen Haddrill, Chief Executive of the FRC, risk reporting should be about “directors 
explaining clearly how they identify and manage risk and what keeps them awake at night.” A detailed assessment 
of the handful of risks which are really key to a specific company is of much more use than a long list of generic 
risks with just a couple of sentences to explain their potential impact.

One idea which is very effective in demonstrating the relative significance of various risks is to show a ‘heat‑map’ 
which illustrates the likelihood and potential impact of a ‘risk event’ in relation to the various risks identified. 
Although many companies use such a heat‑map for internal management purposes, the number that present 
it in their annual report is very small – only two from our sample. A good example of this is shown by Premier 
Oil plc, who not only illustrate the current status of various risks but also the factors causing changes in them. 
An alternative approach is demonstrated by Domino Printing Sciences plc, who show similar information but in a 
tabular form. The best reports also show a clear link between this discussion of principal risks and the information 
on risk management and internal controls which is required by the UK Corporate Governance Code (see chapter 11).

8.  Risks and uncertainties – 
what’s keeping you awake?
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Overall, just 15% of the companies surveyed gave a clear indication of how their risks had changed from last year. 
This information is not difficult to present and would demonstrate active risk management to a reader, so it is quite 
surprising that so few do so. A simple way of doing this is to include trend arrows showing how management’s 
perception of the risk has changed, such as those used by Halma plc.

Premier Oil plc 2012 Annual Report and Financial Statements Domino Printing Sciences plc Annual Report & Financial 
Statements 2012

Halma plc Annual Report and Accounts 2013
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Number of risks identified
All of the companies in our sample discussed risk management in some way in the directors’ report. 83% 
(2012: 83%) clearly identified that the risks discussed were the principal risks to the company – either by using the 
word ‘principal’ itself or a similar description such as ‘key’ or ‘most significant’. Those companies failing to identify 
that the risks discussed were principal did not identify noticeably more risks, suggesting that this is just a failure to 
label the discussion properly. Figure 8.1 shows the number of risks identified by different companies, displayed as 
a cumulative figure. For example we can see that while 77% of smaller companies identify 10 risks or fewer, only 
56% of top 350 companies identify 10 or fewer. As one might expect, the overall trend shows smaller companies 
identifying fewer risks than larger ones, probably reflective of the fact that larger companies tend to have more 
complex operations and a greater geographical spread. Nevertheless, those companies identifying a number of 
risks in the high teens or even twenties may wish to consider whether all of the risks are really principal.
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Figure 8.1. How many risks are identified by companies in 2013?
 

Cumulative percentage of companies

Top 350 companies Other companies

Number of risks
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95%
100%
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88%

Some companies choose to categorise their risks into groups, such as ‘operational’ or ‘general economic’. While this 
can give helpful definition to users, in some cases companies seem to put pressure on themselves to identify several 
risks in each category by doing this, meaning that some of the individual risks can start to become rather generic.

The overall trend shows smaller companies identifying 
fewer risks than larger ones, probably reflective of the 
fact that larger companies tend to have more complex 
operations and a greater geographical spread.
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Types of risks and uncertainties identified

Figure 8.2. What are the main categories of risk disclosed in 2013?
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As shown by figure 8.2, there is a good spread of risks across the various categories we have specifically 
identified. The most popular risks continue to be those arising from the state of the economy, operational issues, 
company‑specific demand factors, people and regulation/legislation. However, it is also encouraging to see 
the high percentage of companies identifying risks which do not fit into any of our predetermined categories. 
This shows that companies are putting a commendable level of effort into identifying really company‑specific issues 
that do not fit neatly into a pigeon‑hole.

With the UK economy (or, for those international businesses, the global economy) still struggling to recover from 
the 2008 financial crisis, it is understandable that the majority of companies identify this as a risk to their business. 
However, it is also excellent to see that almost as high a proportion go beyond this to identify specific factors 
affecting demand in the markets that they operate in rather than just the global economy in general.

‘Operational issues’ covers a broad sweep of issues that could lead to a business’ operations being interrupted. 
This includes issues such as supply chain failures or business continuity planning.

People related issues cover areas such as retention of key personnel and recruitment of new staff, as well as 
more general employee engagement and the possibility of a loss of staff goodwill due to a failure to prevent 
workplace accidents.

Regulation and legislation are particularly important for those businesses operating in highly regulated industries, 
such as construction or pharmaceuticals. However, changes in government attitudes and policies either at home 
or abroad can also have a significant impact on a business’ operations.

Description of risks and mitigating actions
As well as identifying the right risks, it is important to clearly describe their potential impact on the company 
and how this impact is managed. As indicated by the FRC’s FRRP (now part of the Conduct Committee) in its 2012 
annual report, risk disclosures should include “descriptions [which are] sufficiently specific that the reader can 
understand why they are important to the company,” as well as a description of the mitigating actions taken by the 
board and clear links to the accounting estimates and judgements arising from them. This is reiterated in the draft 
FRC’s Guidance on the Strategic Report.
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Figure 8.3. How well do companies describe their risks?

Generic descriptions

Clear, specific descriptions

Mixture57%

5%

38%

Figure 8.3 shows how well companies describe their risks. The percentage of companies judged to provide 
comprehensive descriptions of all their risks has improved significantly from 33% last year, while the percentage 
of companies providing purely generic risks has reduced from 11% in 2012.

As one might expect, there appears to be an inverse link between the number of risks disclosed and the 
comprehensiveness of the descriptions given. Companies giving clear descriptions of all risks had on average 
nine risks, while those for which some of the descriptions were rather generic averaged eleven. This again 
highlights the importance of identifying risks carefully, as this avoids the potential problem of a risk section that 
needs to run on for pages and pages to discuss all the risks fully.

The percentage of companies judged to provide 
comprehensive descriptions of all their risks (57%) has 
improved significantly from 33% last year, while the 
percentage of companies providing purely generic risks 
has reduced from 11% in 2012 to 5% in 2013.
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BT Group plc Annual Report & Form 20‑F 2013

A good example of a company providing detailed narrative descriptions of its risks is BT Group plc. Despite the size 
of the company they only identify seven principal risks, giving them scope to dedicate plenty of space to describing 
each one properly.

In our 2013 sample, 89% (2012: 83%) of companies clearly discussed the way in which they mitigate the potential 
business consequences of their principal risks. One helpful way to make this discussion clear is to present risks in 
a tabular format, with mitigating actions clearly identified in a separate column from the descriptions of the risks 
themselves. This approach is noticeably more popular amongst larger companies, with 81% of those companies in 
the top 350 category doing this compared to just 53% of the other companies surveyed.
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Johnson Matthey provide a good example of clear separation between the discussion of the risks themselves and 
the related mitigating actions.

Johnson Matthey Annual Report & Accounts 2013

Linkage
Linking the discussion of principal risks and uncertainties to the other sections of the annual report is another 
area in which some companies are innovating to make their reports more cohesive. A good example of linking 
principal risks and uncertainties back to the company’s strategic priorities is provided by Optos plc. An example of 
clearly making the link between risks and KPIs is given by Halma plc (see extract earlier in this chapter). While the 
companies doing this are still in the minority, we expect to see further development in this area going forward. 
Indeed, the draft FRC Guidance on the Strategic Report suggests ways in which principal risks and uncertainties 
can be linked to the business model (what could threaten the entity’s viability), the corporate governance report 
and the discussion around accounting estimates and judgements in the audit committee report and the financial 
statements.
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Optos plc Annual report and accounts 2012
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9.  Unlocking performance
Highlights

• 87% (2012: 86%) of companies clearly identify their key performance indicators (KPIs). 56% (2012: 56%) 
identify non‑financial KPIs.

• However, only 42% (2012: 34%) gave reasons why they had selected those particular measures.

• On average, companies presented 8 KPIs (2012: 7).

• As in 2012, profit measures were the most popular KPI in 2013, with 79% (2012: 77%) of companies 
including such a measure.

• 31% of companies demonstrated a clear link between KPIs and directors’ remuneration.
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The Companies Act requires that a company’s business review (or from next year, the strategic report) includes 
an analysis of the business using financial key performance indicators (KPIs) and, where appropriate, other key 
performance indicators (which might include environmental or employee‑related measures). While a simple list 
of measures may be sufficient to meet the legal requirement, the identification of KPIs is an area where creating 
links to other areas of the annual report is very important, and this is an area where many companies show a 
good level of innovative thinking. A significant proportion have now recognised that simply listing out a dozen 
financial measures that show the financial success of a company during the year is not what stakeholders are 
looking for. As discussed in chapter 7, a discussion of strategy is not complete without a link to KPIs and the 
reverse is also true. Without understanding how a company’s KPIs demonstrate the progress (or lack of it) towards 
strategic goals, it is hard to interpret their meaning and why those particular measures have been selected. 
One assumes that companies don’t just draw a selection of measures out of a hat, but in many cases the reasons 
for a particular measure being used could be made a lot clearer. In our 2013 survey, only 42% (2012: 34%) of 
companies gave reasons why they had selected the particular KPIs presented, although the improvement on last 
year is encouraging.

As well as a clear link to strategy, an indication of how a company views the performance of its KPIs against internal 
targets is something that can help stakeholders to develop their understanding of the business’ performance. 
Discussion of future goals can also provide helpful insight into the direction of travel. However, only 22% 
(2012: 16%) of companies surveyed gave information on targets for their KPIs and performance against these. 
Perhaps they were reluctant to provide this information due to commercial sensitivity, particularly if performance 
was below target.

The new remuneration regulations focus on the link between executive remuneration and the company’s strategy 
and performance as it is expected that the measures that are key to assessing the performance of the business 
should be very similar to the measures of success used to reward directors. In our 2013 survey sample, 31% 
of companies demonstrated a clear link between KPIs and performance‑related pay (although two companies 
surveyed do not have any performance‑related pay for directors). This is a number that we would expect to see 
increasing in next year’s survey results.

How well do companies identify their KPIs?
As shown by figure 9.1, the percentage of companies that clearly identify their KPIs has remained pretty static 
over the past few years. Although the majority do clearly identify their KPIs, a significant minority continue not 
to do so. This is surprising given the statutory requirement to identify at least financial KPIs for all companies, not 
even just listed companies. One assumes that the companies not providing this disclosure believe that they already 
provide sufficient numerical information and highlights, and that the identification of specific numbers as KPIs is 
unnecessary. Two of the companies which did not clearly identify KPIs mentioned in their directors’ report that the 
business review included analysis using KPIs (in a nod to the legal requirement) but gave no indication of which 
measures were considered to be KPIs.

9. Unlocking performance
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Figure 9.1. How many companies clearly identify their KPIs?
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Although the failure to clearly identify KPIs is more prevalent amongst the smaller companies in our sample, 
with 18% (2012: 17%) failing to do so, it is surprising that even amongst our top 350 group 7% (2012: 9%) do not 
do this.

Of those companies clearly identifying their KPIs, it is perhaps surprising that only 90% (2012: 88%) go on to clearly 
present the numerical values of these measures. It is hard to see how a disclosure that lists a selection of KPIs but 
then gives no further information about them is of value to users of the annual report – this appears to be merely 
paying lip service to the company’s compliance obligations.

In the modern world, the importance of non‑financial information should not be underestimated – a recent 
ACCA survey of investors and analysts7 found that 78% of respondents felt the level of non‑financial reporting by 
European companies was inadequate. To what extent such information is included in an annual report, a separate 
CSR report or a combined ‘integrated report’ is a different matter. The proportion of companies identifying 
non‑financial KPIs in their annual reports seems to have plateaued somewhat – 56% of companies clearly identified 
at least one non‑financial indicator this year, in line with last year. This is an area in which the larger companies in 
our survey are definitely leading the way, as shown by Figure 9.2.

Figure 9.2. How many companies identified financial and non-financial KPIs?

Financial Non-financial
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7 http://www.accaglobal.co.uk/en/research‑insights/environmental‑accountability/investors‑expect.html
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What KPIs do companies present?
As well as an increase in the number of companies clearly identifying their KPIs, the average number of KPIs being 
presented by companies has also increased from 7.2 to 8.1. Figure 9.3 shows the average number of KPIs presented 
by companies which clearly identify their financial or non‑financial KPIs.

Figure 9.3. How many KPIs are identified by companies?
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The nature of KPIs identified by the companies in our survey can be seen in figure 9.4. Unsurprisingly, measures 
of profitability (presented by 79% of companies) and revenue (67%) are the most popular indicators selected, 
with shareholder return measures such as earnings per share also increasing in popularity slightly. A measure of 
cash generation has been presented by more companies this year than in 2012, although it is interesting to note 
that gearing has seen a noticeable decline.

The most popular type of non‑financial indicator continues to be employee satisfaction, although the rising priority 
of environmental issues has led to a noticeable increase in the number of companies presenting such a measure as 
a KPI. Impending legislation requiring disclosure of greenhouse gas emissions may also have served as a wake‑up 
call for some in this area (see chapter 7).
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Figure 9.4. What type of KPIs are included within the annual report?
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A significant number of companies also present other KPIs that do not fit into the categories listed above. This is 
good to see and shows that companies are really thinking about the measures that are relevant to their business 
and the strategy they are pursuing. An example of a financial indicator not captured in the data above is net 
debt to EBITDA ratio (presented by five companies), which gives an idea of a company’s ability to pay back its 
borrowings. Some examples of other non‑financial indicators include measures of reliance on key customers or 
geographical locations and measures of market share in key markets.

Understandability of KPIs
As well as ensuring that appropriate KPIs are identified, clear discussion of the relevance of the measures identified 
to the business is important to ensure that shareholders understand the meaning behind the numbers. The draft 
FRC Guidance on the Strategic Report sets out a number of pieces of information that should be provided for each 
KPI, where relevant:

•	its definition and calculation method;
•	its purpose;
•	the source of underlying data;
•	any significant assumptions made; and
•	any changes in the calculation method used compared to previous financial years.

50% of the companies which discussed their KPIs gave clear definitions of them, with 62% of the top 350 group 
doing this but only 40% of the smaller companies. This may be linked to the fact that smaller companies tend to 
present simpler KPIs which have less need of definition. Another example of this is that only 31% of all companies 
presenting solely financial KPIs gave definitions for them, whereas 57% of companies presenting non‑financial KPIs 
defined them. The more complex and bespoke nature of non‑financial KPIs means that ensuring they are clearly 
defined is particularly important.

While some companies present the definitions of their KPIs directly with the measures themselves, others choose 
to present them in a separate glossary, along with other key definitions. A good example of this is shown by 
Vodafone plc in their Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2013.
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Once KPIs have been clearly defined, the next step is to clearly explain the purpose of each KPI i.e. why it is 
an important measure of the business’ performance. For example, the percentage of revenue from significant 
customers may have been identified as a KPI because reliance on key customers has been identified as a principal 
risk to the business. Figure 9.5 shows the proportion of companies providing a clear explanation of the purpose 
of each of their KPIs. It is encouraging to see a year‑on‑year improvement in this area across the board.

Figure 9.5. How many companies provide a clear indication of the purpose of each KPI?
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Finally, the company should give an indication of how its performance against its KPIs has developed recently. 
As discussed in the introduction to this chapter, only 23% (2012: 16%) of companies surveyed gave information 
on targets for their KPIs and performance against these. Provision of prior year comparative information is much 
more consistent, with only seven companies failing to do so. Of those presenting comparative information, figure 
9.6 shows the number of comparatives presented.

Figure 9.6. How many years' worth of comparatives do companies present for KPIs?
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As expected, most companies present just a single year’s worth of comparatives, although a sizeable proportion do 
present more. Four years’ worth of comparatives is popular, particularly with larger companies – perhaps because 
this ties in with the five years’ worth of historical financial information that many companies like to present.

Overall presentation of KPIs
The most effective method of presenting KPIs is a subject of continuing debate, with some people arguing that 
using a clear separate section (which helps to bring the KPIs together as a cohesive group) is more effective, 
while others believe that integrating the KPIs within the discussion of strategy (helping to demonstrate the linkage 
between strategy and KPIs is preferable). Figure 9.7 shows that overall a separate section is marginally more 
popular, particularly amongst the top 350 companies.

Figure 9.7. How many companies present their KPIs in a separate section?
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Some good examples of KPI presentation in a separate table are given by Hill & Smith Holdings PLC in their Annual 
Report for the year ended 31 December 2012 and British Polythene Industries PLC (extract shown below). DRS Data 
and Research Services plc give a subtly different alternative, with a table of figures supported by separate narrative 
commentary on each KPI (extract shown below).
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British Polythene Industries PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2012

DRS Data and Research Services plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012

66Annual report insights 2013 A new beginning

http://www.bpipoly.com/downloads/annualreport/2013/annual_report_2012.pdf#page=22
http://www.drs.co.uk/_media/_Pdf/2012%20Annual%20Report.pdf#page=10


To start a new section, hold down the apple+shift keys and click 

to release this object and type the section title in the box below.

1.  Executive summary

2.  How to use this 
document

3.  Regulatory overview

4.  Survey objectives

5.  Playing the long 
game

6.  First impressions

7.  Towards a Strategic 
Report …

8.  Risks and 
uncertainties – 
what’s keeping you 
awake?

9.  Unlocking 
performance

10.  Concerned about 
going concern?

11.  The governance 
debate

12.  Auditing by 
committee

13.  Of prime 
importance

14.  Taking note

Appendix 1 – A new 
beginning for the 
annual report

Appendix 2 –  
Glossary of terms  
and abbreviations

Other resources 
available

Linkage between KPIs and remuneration
As mentioned previously, making more of a link between KPIs and remuneration is a current hot topic. 
Indeed, several of the companies in our survey discussed in their remuneration report the fact that, going forward, 
they would be changing the measures used to assess executive pay to be more in line with their KPIs – probably in 
response to the requirements of the new directors’ remuneration regulations. Figure 9.8 shows the measures used 
by companies to assess performance for pay purposes.

Figure 9.8. What performance measures are used to determine executive pay?
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Unsurprisingly, profit based measures are the most commonly used, with 82% of companies linking remuneration 
to company profits (usually an ‘underlying’ measure, designed to eliminate one‑off effects, rather than statutory 
profit). Earnings per share and total shareholder return are both very popular measures for the assessment of 
share‑based payment awards, although a small number of companies choose to express their ‘share performance’ 
condition as an absolute price target rather than a TSR target.

The popularity of personal performance measures, including both those that are assessed against pre‑set targets 
and those that are purely discretionary, shows that remuneration committees like to maintain the ability to make 
their own assessment of an executive’s performance with the benefit of hindsight, rather than just relying on a 
pre‑set formula. Indeed, a significant number of companies mention that performance‑related remuneration is 
subject to an overriding determination by the remuneration committee that the company’s overall performance 
has been satisfactory, regardless of individual conditions. Another condition, either existing or mentioned as 
being introduced, is the ability for performance‑related pay to be clawed back in the event of subsequently 
determined irregularities. In the light of recent media scrutiny over so‑called ‘rewards for failure’, it is unsurprising 
that companies are putting in place more discretionary protocols in this area. The new directors’ remuneration 
report legislation introduces new disclosure requirements in this respect. Additionally, the FRC is consulting on 
amendments to the code in this area.
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A particularly good example of linking KPIs to the performance measures assessed under remuneration schemes 
was given by National Grid plc (below left).

 
Another area where companies have been looking forward to the new remuneration regulations has been the 
much‑touted ‘single figure’ for directors’ remuneration. This is intended to place a value on all elements of a 
director’s pay package each year, including cash payments as well as pension contributions and share‑based 
payments, to ensure that shareholders have complete visibility over the amount of their reward. In response to the 
new regulations, detailed guidance on determining this figure has been issued by the GC100 and Investor Group8. 
Further guidance is also available from the FRC’s Financial Reporting Lab, developed in response to the draft 
proposals9. 24% of the companies in our survey presented a single figure, looking towards the implementation of 
this new legislation next year. Unsurprisingly, the majority of these were in the top 350 size bracket, with 44% of 
those companies giving this information.

National Grid plc also give a good example of how this disclosure might be expected to look (above right) – 
however it is important to note that this table is based on the draft and not the final regulations.

National Grid plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012/13

8 See http://www.iasplus.com/en‑gb/news/2013/09/gc100‑directors‑remuneration‑guidance
9 See http://www.frc.org.uk/Our‑Work/Publications/Financial‑Reporting‑Lab/A‑single‑figure‑for‑remuneration.aspx
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10.  Concerned about 
going concern?

Highlights

• Companies are giving more prominence to going concern disclosures, with 53% (2012: 49%) presenting 
the discussion of going concern as part of the business review or corporate governance disclosures rather 
than just in the directors’ report.

• 78% (2012: 73%) of companies demonstrated clear compliance with the FRC’s 2009 recommendations 
on going concern assessment.

• 16 (2012: 17) companies discussed an uncertainty regarding going concern in their financial statements, 
although in most cases these were minor issues. Only 2 (2012: 3) had sufficiently serious uncertainties for 
there to be an emphasis of matter in the audit report.

• No companies mentioned the Sharman report specifically in their going concern disclosures, although 
there was evidence that a small minority of companies had taken some of its recommendations into 
consideration.
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The Companies Act, Listing Rules and IFRSs all include requirements in relation to going concern assessment. 
In response to this the FRC issued guidance in 2009 suggesting that companies should bring their going concern 
disclosures together in a single place in the annual report, providing cross‑references to/from this as necessary. 
While IAS 1 requires going concern to be considered for at least twelve months from the balance sheet date, 
auditing standards require it to be considered for at least a year from the date of approval of the annual report, so 
the FRC guidance refers to twelve months from the date of approval (as this will be longer). There is no requirement 
to disclose the exact period considered, unless it is less than 12 months, however it may be helpful to users to 
present this information.

The assessment by a company of its ability to operate as a going concern is something that has been the subject of 
a lot of public comment over the past year. With the publication of the Sharman report (see chapter 3) in June 2012 
and the FRC’s consultation paper on its implementation in January 201310, regulatory interest in the area has also 
been high. Although the responses to the paper have led to the FRC deciding to re‑think how this implementation 
will work and postpone making any changes to the UK Corporate Governance Code, it is nevertheless something 
that companies should be thinking carefully about now and in the future.

One of the main concerns about the FRC paper was the use of the term ‘going concern’ both as a concept of 
overall business model sustainability and as a basis for preparing financial statements. While there is general 
agreement that more disclosure about how a company ensures its future viability is needed, clearly more discussion 
about the best approach to these disclosures is needed.

2013

Figure 10.1. Where is the going concern statement positioned?
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10.  Concerned about 
going concern?

10  See http://www.frc.org.uk/Our‑Work/Publications/Audit‑and‑Assurance‑Team/
Sharman‑Implementation‑Consultation‑Paper‑File.pdf
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Positioning of the assessment of going concern
As shown by figure 10.1, where companies are presenting their assessment of going concern is changing. 
The increased percentage presenting it as an integral part of the business review is a welcome development, 
showing that these companies are recognising that an ongoing assessment of ‘business health’ is an essential part 
of a discussion of business strategy. Presentation as part of the corporate governance report is also on the rise, 
demonstrating that clear ownership of the going concern assessment by the directors is also a rising priority.

However, the fact that 47% of companies still present their going concern assessment only as part of the ‘boiler 
plate’ directors’ report disclosures is disappointing. Although the fact that it is presented here does not necessarily 
mean that the disclosure itself lacks information, it suggests that these companies see it more as a statutory 
requirement than as an important piece of information which is of relevance to shareholders. The fact that when 
a company fails, its going concern disclosure is one of the first areas that comes under scrutiny shows that users 
do not necessarily agree with this assessment. For a company which is suffering some difficulties, clear up‑front 
discussion of these creates a much better impression than a small footnote towards the back of the narrative 
section of the annual report.

Quality of going concern disclosures
In the absence of updated Sharman‑based guidance, 
the most up to date formal guidance on going concern 
is still the FRC’s October 2009 guidance “Going 
Concern and Liquidity Risk: Guidance for Directors 
of UK Companies 2009”, although the FRC has 
encouraged companies to have regard to the Sharman 
report going forward in the absence of formal guidance 
on its implementation. In practical terms this may, 
amongst other things, mean directors undertaking a 
robust assessment of the significant risks facing the 
company’s ability to deliver its strategy, which includes 
significant solvency and liquidity risks, and looking 
beyond the next twelve months.

In our survey sample, no companies made a specific 
reference to the Sharman report in their going concern 
disclosures, although one company that appeared to 
have made a significant effort to embrace its principles, 
by defining what they consider to be the foreseeable 
future and discussing solvency as well as liquidity, was 
National Grid plc.

National Grid plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012/13
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Figure 10.2. How many companies are clearly applying the 2009 FRC guidance?
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Figure 10.2 shows how many companies have clearly applied the FRC’s 2009 guidance on going concern when 
making their disclosures. Gradual improvements are still being made, particularly amongst the larger companies 
in our sample. However, the fact that 22% of companies are still not making clear disclosures around going concern 
– in some cases just a very brief ‘boiler‑plate’ statement – despite the current focus in this area is disappointing.

Two key elements of the best going concern disclosures (although not specifically required by law unless they 
are shorter than 12 months) are a clear discussion of the timeframe covered by the company’s forecasts and a 
discussion of the time period considered by the company for going concern purposes. These will not necessarily be 
the same – although a company may prepare forecasts looking quite a long way into the future, the length of the 
business cycle and the inherent uncertainty of the forecasting process may mean that it is neither necessary nor 
appropriate to consider going concern over the full forecast period.

Figure 10.3 shows the length of forecasts or budgets prepared for going concern purposes by the companies in 
our survey. While the majority of companies still do not disclose the length of the budgets prepared, it is interesting 
to note the significant increase in the percentage of companies using forecasts for longer than 12 months for going 
concern purposes. If this increase is replicated across the companies who do not disclose their forecast period, 
it would suggest that companies are thinking harder about their process for the assessment of going concern and 
the period for which they make that assessment, rather than just defaulting to a 12 month timescale.

2013

Figure 10.3. Is the period of forecasts or budgets disclosed?
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The number of companies clearly disclosing the period for which they have assessed going concern is even lower 
than the number disclosing budget length, with only 8% clearly explaining the period that they consider to be the 
‘foreseeable future’ for this purpose. Of the remainder, 85% of the companies surveyed simply disclosed that they 
considered the business a going concern for the foreseeable future but without explaining what they consider 
this to be, while the remaining 7% did not even go this far. What time period constitutes the ‘foreseeable future’ 
and how this differs by company were key questions raised in the Sharman report.

Going concern uncertainties
With the effects of the 2008 financial crisis still being felt in a number of sectors of the UK economy, and the 
continued wait for the ‘green shoots of recovery’ to fully materialise, it is perhaps unsurprising that the proportion 
of companies discussing uncertainties in their going concern statements has remained reasonably consistent over 
the past three years, with 16 in 2013 (2012: 17, 2011: 18). However, only two companies specifically mentioned 
going concern risk as one of their principal risks and uncertainties, with a further two referring more generally to 
the health of the business.

12 companies (2012: 12) highlighted concerns about external financing, including potential covenant compliance 
issues. Nine (2012: 11) indicated a significant uncertainty in relation to trading volumes, showing that for some 
companies adapting to the changing consumer environment is an on‑going problem. Various companies also 
highlighted other issues, with several noting issues specifically in relation to cash generation and working capital 
management, thus demonstrating the importance of capital management disclosures (see chapter 14).

Most of these were not considered to be material uncertainties, however they show that the on‑going uncertainty 
in the wider economy is still being assessed very closely by some companies. Having said this, the number of 
companies for which the auditors felt it necessary to include an emphasis of matter around going concern has 
reduced from three in 2012 to two in 2013. It is interesting to note that all three of the companies with an emphasis 
of matter last year have fallen out of our survey sample, whether through de‑listing, takeover or share suspension.
No company had a qualified audit opinion.

The number of companies clearly disclosing the period 
for which they have assessed going concern is even lower 
than the number disclosing budget length, with only 
8% clearly explaining the period that they consider to be 
the ‘foreseeable future’ for this purpose.
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11.  The governance debate
Highlights

• 52% (2012: 54%) of companies fully complied with the UK Corporate Governance Code 2010 (the 
“Code”).

• The most common areas of non‑compliance with the Code are in relation the division of responsibilities 
between Chairman and Chief Executive (14 instances) and board independence (13 instances).

• 16% of companies whose reports were issued after the publication of the September 2012 revisions to 
the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “2012 Code”) also reported compliance against this revised 
Code.

• 14 companies included a statement that the annual report, taken as a whole, was ‘fair, balanced and 
understandable’, in line with the provisions of the 2012 Code.

• The proportion of companies with female directors has increased, with 16% (2012: 15%) having at least 
one female executive and 49% (2012: 41%) at least one female non‑executive.
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11. The governance debate

Alongside narrative reporting and remuneration, corporate governance (and the related disclosures) is another area 
in which the coming year will see significant changes. With the FRC’s September 2012 revisions to the UK Corporate 
Governance Code (the “2012 Code”) coming into force for years ending on or after 30 September 2013, most 
companies by now should have a pretty clear picture of the impact that it will have on them. Of the annual reports 
issued since the publication of the 2012 Code, just under one‑third have made reference to it, indicating that this is 
a topic that companies are taking seriously. Indeed, even one of the reports published before the 2012 Code was 
issued made reference to the expected updates and their potential implications!

Of the companies making reference to the 2012 Code, 52% indicated that they had considered it in preparing their 
report and incorporated some of the additional provisions, as encouraged by the FRC. One or two even went so far 
as to fully adopt the 2012 Code and report compliance against it.

One of the provisions of the 2012 Code which has prompted a significant amount of comment and debate is 
provision C.1.1 that requires the directors to make a statement that “the annual report and accounts, taken as a 
whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the 
company’s performance, business model and strategy.” 14 of the companies in our survey made such a statement, 
attributed either to the full board or (in five cases) specifically to the audit committee. Interestingly, a further 
17 made a specific statement that the accounts were ‘balanced and understandable’, reflecting the requirement of 
C.1 of the 2010 Code that “The board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s 
position and prospects” – although there is currently no requirement to make a statement to this effect.

Compliance with the Code
The number of companies reporting full compliance with the 2010 Code has fallen slightly year‑on‑year from 
54% to 52%. As in the prior year, full compliance is more prevalent among the larger companies in our sample, 
with 65% (2012: 65%) of these complying fully, compared to 42% (2012: 48%) of smaller companies.

However, since the Code operates on a ‘comply or explain’ basis rather than a full compliance model, it is more 
interesting to consider the data presented by figure 11.1, which shows not just those companies which comply 
with all of the provisions of the Code but also those which do not comply but provide a clear explanation for their 
non‑compliance. One can see that while full compliance is less common amongst smaller companies, the majority 
do present a clear explanation for this non‑compliance.
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Figure 11.1. How well are companies complying with the Code?
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Of the companies not fully complying with the Code, 73% gave a clear list of the provisions that they did not 
comply with. This can be a useful aid to users interested in the significance of the areas of non‑compliance – it is 
easier to assess than where discussion of areas of non‑compliance is scattered throughout the report. An example 
of such a statement is given by Thomas Cook Group plc.

Thomas Cook Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2012

The 2012 Code incorporates additional guidance from the FRC (in its section describing the ‘Comply or Explain’ 
approach) on what should be contained in a good explanation for Code non‑compliance. It should set out the 
background to the non‑compliance, provide a clear rationale for it and describe any mitigating actions taken by the 
company to address any additional risk arising from the non‑compliance. In addition, for temporary non‑compliance 
an indication of when the company expects compliance to be achieved should be given. While the Code does 
not specifically mention this, some companies choose to include in their explanation a clear indication that the 
non‑compliance has been discussed with shareholders – four did so in 2013.

Of some concern is the assessment that only 54% of those companies indicating non‑compliance gave a real 
justification for it. Most companies who did not comply fully with the Code applied the majority of the provisions 
but some smaller companies seem to consider that some of its provisions are less relevant to their business, 
particularly those which still have a high level of ownership and directorial involvement from the founder(s). 
However, the justification as to why it is not necessary for a business to have independent non‑executive directors, 
as in one case surveyed, is hard to see.
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16 companies indicated that their non‑compliance was temporary, either because it only occurred for a limited 
time during the year or because plans were in place to resolve the issue. 15 of these companies indicated when 
compliance had or would be achieved.

Figure 11.2 shows the most common areas of non‑compliance with the Code amongst the companies 
surveyed, showing all provisions with more than six instances of non‑compliance reported. Although these 
were the most common areas identified, overall there were 42 Code provisions with at least one instance of 
non‑compliance noted.

Number of companies not complying

Figure 11.2. What are the most common non-compliances with the Code?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

D.2.1
Constitution

of the
remuneration

committee

A.3.1
Role and

independence
of the

Chairman

B.6
Existence of

a formal
performance
evaluation

process

B.2.1
Existence and
constitution

of the
nomination
committee

C.3.1
Constitution
of the audit
committee

B.1.2
Proportion

of the board
which is

independent

A.2.1
Division of

responsibilities
between

Chairman and
Chief Executive

14
13

12

88

1111

 
A quick scan of figure 11.2 indicates that the majority of these non‑compliance issues arise from the provisions in 
relation to the constitution of the board and its committees, rather than the operational processes in place. This is 
understandable – after all it is easier and quicker to implement new processes than change the composition of the 
board, particularly in the case of smaller companies for which hiring new directors is potentially time consuming 
and costly. For example, 13 of the 14 companies which at some point during the year did not comply with provision 
A.2.1 were from the group of smaller companies in our survey. For four of these companies the non‑compliance 
was identified as temporary, while one did not have any executive directors. The remaining nine have a permanent 
Executive Chairman.

Ownership of corporate governance
As the leader of the board (as opposed to the chief executive who is responsible for running the business) 
the chairman is responsible for ensuring that it fulfils its responsibilities effectively. The preface to the Code 
encourages chairmen to report personally on how the principles relating to the role and effectiveness of the 
board have been applied. It is becoming more and more common for the chairman to clearly demonstrate their 
responsibility for leading the board, for example by discussing corporate governance issues and the implementation 
of the Code in their ‘Chairman’s statement’ at the beginning of the narrative report or by providing a formal 
introduction to the corporate governance disclosures. 57% of chairmen clearly took ownership of the corporate 
governance disclosures, with 36% including some discussion of corporate governance in their chairman’s statement 
at the beginning of the annual report. Another common way of doing this was to include an opening statement 
from him or her to the governance disclosures, providing an overview of the key issues dealt with during the year. 
A good example of this sort of introduction is provided by Thomas Cook Group plc.
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Structure of the board and its committees
The median number of directors on the boards of the 
companies surveyed has increased slightly from seven 
last year to eight. However, the smallest board in our 
survey this year consisted of three members, compared 
to only two in 2012. The largest board was made up of 
16 people (2012: 17).

The median number of executive directors has also 
remained the same as last year at three. The largest 
number of executives was six (2012: six), while 
interestingly one company indicated that none of its 
directors were executives.

Diversity continues to be a hot topic, in the context 
of board composition as well as the wider company 
(as discussed in chapter 7). Figure 11.3 shows the 
distribution of companies which have female directors 
– encouragingly, the overall percentage of companies 
with female directors has risen from 48% last year to 
56% in 2013. Larger companies in particular are gaining 
the value of a female perspective, with 77% of the 
companies surveyed from our top 350 group having at 
least one woman on the board, compared to 40% of 
smaller companies. The highest proportion of women 
on a single board was 38% (2012: 33%).Thomas Cook Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2012

Figure 11.3. How many companies have female directors?
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The overall percentage of female directors across our sample companies has also risen from 10% to 12%. The most 
progressive companies, particularly those which operate internationally, are now looking beyond just gender 
diversity to ensure that their boards also have sufficient geographic and ethnic diversity. A good example of this 
disclosure is given by Marks and Spencer Group plc. Cobham plc gives a useful table showing the relevant skills 
and experience brought to the table by each of its directors.
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Marks & Spencer Group plc 
Annual report and financial 
statements 2013

Cobham plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012

The overall percentage of female directors 
across our sample companies has also risen 
from 10% to 12%. The most progressive 
companies, particularly those which 
operate internationally, are now looking 
beyond just gender diversity to ensure 
that their boards also have sufficient 
geographic and ethnic diversity.

The priority given to diversity when recruiting new directors has also risen, with 56% of companies now discussing 
the importance of a diverse board compared to 38% last year. Indeed, 28% of companies mention a specific policy 
on board diversity, although for the majority of these this does not give specific targets in relation to diversity. 
Where any objectives have been set to assess the implementation of policies in this area, these should be disclosed 
under the 2012 Code together with progress in achieving those objectives.

The provision of targets and quotas around diversity is a divisive issue, with some arguing that they are necessary 
to achieve the desired objective of an increase in diversity, while others contend that merit should be the overriding 
determinant of who gets a role and that appointing someone to fill a quota is demeaning for the individual 
involved. This is an area where larger companies are more open about their policies, with 84% of our top 
350 sample talking about this compared to just 35% of the smaller companies.
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Another area of differing practice is the use of external search consultants when recruiting non‑executive directors. 
This is something that is recommended by the Code and which can undoubtedly be beneficial, however companies 
often see it as another unnecessary cost. While 47% of the companies surveyed indicate that they use consultants 
or external advertising when recruiting non‑executives, 6% specifically stated that this was not a preferred method 
of recruitment due to the cost implications. Some companies remained silent in this area, perhaps because of a lack 
of appointments during the year.

Operation of the board
Although the Code does provide specific requirements for the disclosures that companies should make in their 
annual reports, its primary purpose is to set out guidance on how the board should function in its day to day 
operations. One element that is of significant importance to shareholders is the attendance of directors at board 
meetings – after all, they want to know that the people entrusted with running their company are dedicating 
sufficient time to it! It is encouraging to note that only three of the companies surveyed failed to provide 
attendance information for board and committee meetings. Indeed, the most progressive companies are not 
only presenting information on how many meetings have been attended but, where certain directors have been 
absent from some meetings, providing explanations for these absences. Figure 11.4 shows the level of attendance 
information given by the companies surveyed.

Figure 11.4. How many companies give explanations for non-attendance?

Explanations for non-attendance

No non-attendance

No explanations for non-attendance

No clear attendance information

25%

3%

15%57%

Some companies have also started to include specific information about what the board has spent its time 
discussing – an example of this is given by Barclays PLC. Again, this gives shareholders more clarity around whether 
the board is spending its time on the areas that shareholders feel are important.
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Barclays PLC Annual Report 2012
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Another area in which disclosure is improving is the robustness of the process used by the companies in our survey 
to appraise the performance of their boards. The Code recommends that companies in the FTSE 350 should have 
board performance evaluations externally facilitated at least once every three years, but this is an idea that is 
also gaining credence amongst smaller listed companies. While in the prior year 12% of the companies surveyed 
indicated that they had undertaken an external performance evaluation, in 2013 42% of companies indicated that 
either an external facilitator had been involved in the current year or would be in one of the next two years. This is 
much more prevalent in the top 350 companies, with 79% (2012: 29%) of them doing so (note that this segment 
of our population includes a few companies which are not in the FTSE 350, so we would not expect this figure to 
be 100%). However, 14% of smaller companies (2012: 3%) also do so. A good example of disclosures around the 
performance evaluation process is given by National Grid plc.

National Grid plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012/13

Smaller companies are also adopting another Code provision aimed mainly at the FTSE 350 as an example of ‘best 
practice’ in relation to the re‑election of directors. The Code indicates that all directors of FTSE 350 companies 
should be subject to annual re‑election, however not only do 86% (2012: 88%) of the top 350 companies do this, 
32% (2012: 26%) of the smaller companies surveyed have also implemented annual re‑election.

Internal controls
Code provision C.2.1 requires that the board should, at least annually, conduct a review of the effectiveness of the 
company’s risk management and internal control systems and should report to shareholders that they have done 
so. Currently the FRC’s “Internal Control: Guidance to Directors” (formerly known as the Turnbull Guidance) gives 
companies more detail on how to comply with this Code requirement. However, this is another area of potential 
change in the near future, with the FRC set to consult on revisions to the Turnbull Guidance before the end of 2014.
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All companies in 2013 included a statement on internal control in their corporate governance statement. This was 
frequently located in or near the section or sub‑section on the audit committee. 88% (2012: 89%) also included a 
more detailed description of the internal control processes in place. However, only 74% (2012: 81%) were judged 
to have provided a summary of the actual process applied by the board in reviewing the company’s systems of 
internal control and risk management, rather than just confirmation that such a process exists. This figure rose to 
86% (2012: 97%) in the top 350 companies and fell to 65% (2012: 73%) among the other companies.

12 (2012: six) companies highlighted instances of breakdowns in internal control during the year. All of these 
provided a confirmation that necessary action had been or was being taken to remedy the weakness highlighted. 
A further 27 (2012: 23) companies confirmed that no breakdowns in internal control had occurred; all other 
companies in the sample did not confirm one way or the other.

Other board committees
89% (2012: 94%) of companies included a section in their corporate governance statement describing the work 
of the nomination committee, but only 68 (2012: 55) companies included a discussion of the process followed 
for board appointments within that section – this may reflect the fact that the issue is less important in years in 
which there are no new appointments. In many cases the discussion of the process for board appointments came 
in the context of actual appointments which took place in the year. Of the remaining 11 companies, 9 did not 
have a nomination committee, and one of the others had no nomination committee meetings during the year. 
The proportion of committees referring specifically to succession planning, an area of rising priority with investors 
and regulators, has risen from 62% in 2012 to 76% in 2013.

Another area of continued development in practice is the creation of a separate risk committee with responsibility 
for risk oversight. The FCA requires financial institutions to consider whether they need to establish a board risk 
committee and cites FTSE 100 banks and insurers as firms that should do so. The FRC has noted that most market 
participants do not think it is appropriate to require risk committees outside the financial sector.

All companies in the survey sample were reviewed to see if they had a separate risk committee. In 2013, 
14 (2012: eight) companies disclosed that they had a separate risk committee, of which 11 (2012: six) were in 
the top 350 sample – three banks and eight other companies. Some also provided details on the availability of 
the terms of reference, the names of the members of the committee and the number of meetings held in the year.
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12.  Auditing by committee
Highlights

• 36% (2012: 26%) of companies present a clear, separate audit committee report within their annual 
report.

• 57% of audit committee reports give specific detail of the way the committee has discharged its 
responsibilities, including the issues dealt with.

• 33% already give specific detail of the key financial reporting judgements discussed by the committee, 
with almost half of these also disclosing information about discussions held with the auditor around 
these issues.

• 24 companies gave an indication of when they might put the audit out to tender in the future, 
anticipating the new requirements around this in the 2012 Code.
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Of the areas of corporate governance which have been revisited and ‘beefed up’ in the 2012 Code, one which has 
been under significant scrutiny is the role of the audit committee and the reporting of its activities. Where the 2010 
Code focusses largely on what the responsibilities of the committee should be, the revised 2012 Code places more 
emphasis on presenting details in the annual report of what the committee has done during the year under review 
to fulfil its responsibilities. This level of transparency gives shareholders a much clearer picture of what the key 
issues considered by the committee are and also helps to illuminate the relationship between the audit committee 
and the external auditor, in terms of the issues discussed.

The 2010 Code requires that there is a separate section of the report which describes the work of the audit 
committee in discharging its responsibilities. The FRC’s guidance expands on what this should contain, 
recommending that there is a summary of the role of the committee, the names and qualifications of its members 
and the number of meetings. It also suggests that the report should discuss the activities carried out to monitor 
the integrity of the financial statements and the integrity of internal controls, the procedures adopted to review 
the independence of the external auditors and confirmation that an assessment of the effectiveness of the external 
audit has been made, and a review of the plans and work of the internal audit department.

As well as the requirements of the Code itself, the FRC has also published updated “Guidance on Audit 
Committees” documents which give examples of best practice around how a company should apply the Code 
requirements and report on the committee’s activities.11 This guidance was updated when the 2012 Code was 
issued, expanding various sections including the ‘communication with shareholders’ guidance. Certain material 
previously located in the guidance has now been ‘upgraded’ into the Code itself, thus requiring the Code’s ‘comply 
or explain’ approach to be adopted in relation to this.

It is also worthy of note that the 2013 revisions to audit reporting, which come into force for periods ending on or 
after 30 September 2013 (i.e. at the same time as the 2012 Code) include a requirement for the auditor to state in 
the audit report if the audit committee report does not appropriately address the matters communicated by the 
auditor to the audit committee. These revisions introduce a large number of fundamental changes to the audit 
report, moving away from a largely boilerplate statement of compliance to include much more information on the 
level of audit materiality and the risks addressed, among other things.

12. Auditing by committee

The 2013 revisions to audit reporting, which come 
into force for periods ending on or after 30 September 
2013 (i.e. at the same time as the 2012 Code) include a 
requirement for the auditor to state in the audit report 
if the audit committee report does not appropriately 
address the matters communicated by the auditor to the 
audit committee.

11 See http://www.frc.org.uk/our‑Work/Publications/Corporate‑Governance/Guidance‑on‑Audit Committees‑September‑2012.aspx

85Annual report insights 2013 A new beginning

http://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/Publications/Corporate-Governance/UK-Corporate-Governance-Code-September-2012.aspx


To start a new section, hold down the apple+shift keys and click 

to release this object and type the section title in the box below.

1.  Executive summary

2.  How to use this 
document

3.  Regulatory overview

4.  Survey objectives

5.  Playing the long 
game

6.  First impressions

7.  Towards a Strategic 
Report …

8.  Risks and 
uncertainties – 
what’s keeping you 
awake?

9.  Unlocking 
performance

10.  Concerned about 
going concern?

11.  The governance 
debate

12.  Auditing by 
committee

13.  Of prime 
importance

14.  Taking note

Appendix 1 – A new 
beginning for the 
annual report

Appendix 2 –  
Glossary of terms  
and abbreviations

Other resources 
available

Vodafone Group Plc has anticipated the revision of ISA (UK and Ireland) 700 and included an audit report based on 
the draft revised standard. Although this was not exactly the same as the final standard, it gives a good indication 
of what audit reports will look like in future.

Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2013

Presentation of the audit committee report
With the exception of two companies which did not have a separate audit committee, all of the companies in 
our survey presented an audit committee report in accordance with the Code. Although the Code specifies that 
information on the work of the audit committee should be included in a ‘separate section of the annual report’, 
this is taken to include a subsection within the overall corporate governance report. However, the number 
of companies presenting a fully separate audit committee report continues to increase, with 36 companies 
(2012: 26 companies) presenting such a report. This separation is useful as it provides clear definition between the 
work of the audit committee and the work of the board as a whole, which does overlap in areas such as reviewing 
internal controls.

In line with this rise, there is also an increase in the number of companies where the audit committee chairman 
takes clear ownership of the audit committee report, from 27 in 2012 to 34 in 2013. This is usually done either 
by the committee chairman signing the report or presenting an introductory summary.

The Code also indicates that the terms of reference of the committee should be made available. 79% (2012: 90%) 
of companies gave a clear indication of how a user of the report could obtain a copy of these terms of reference, 
either by including them in the report directly, referring to the company’s website or indicating that they are 
available on request.
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Content of the report
As discussed above, going forward companies will be required to put more specific detail in their audit committee 
reports. However, those which have been applying the best practice recommendations in the FRC’s guidance have 
already been doing this to a greater or lesser extent. Figure 12.1 illustrates the level of detail given by companies in 
their reports.

Figure 12.1. How well have companies explained the activities of the audit committee?

Specific detail Brief summary Very little information

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Other companiesTop 350 companiesTotal

57%

39%

4%

91%

9%

32%

0%

61%

7%

32% of the audit committee reports reviewed gave specific details of the activities that the committee had carried 
out to monitor the integrity of the financial statements, while a further 46% gave some limited information about 
these activities. Figure 12.2 shows a breakdown of the level of detail given about the specific financial reporting 
issues (assumptions, estimates, judgements etc.) considered by the committee during the year. This is something 
that will be required under the 2012 Code and so we would expect to see a lot more detail next year from those 
companies providing only brief information in this area.

Figure 12.2. How much detail is given about estimates and judgements considered by the committee?

Brief reference

No discussion

Detailed information

48%

19%

33%
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It can be seen from this that 33% of companies are already giving some detail of the specific estimates and 
judgements considered by the audit committee in a year. Encouragingly, in 91% of these cases the issues discussed 
in the audit committee report were consistent to some degree with the areas identified as critical judgements 
and key sources of estimation uncertainty in the notes to the accounts, with 41% of them showing an almost 
direct correlation between the two. This shows that there is a good level of joined up thinking going on between 
the issues focussed on by the audit committee and those which significantly impact the accounts.

It is also interesting that 47% of companies are talking about the discussions held with their auditors around these 
issues. Under the current regulations the audit committee report is the only place which really gives any scope to 
lift the lid on the audit black box, so it is encouraging to see some companies starting to do this. However, this is 
something that will become a lot more transparent with the new style audit reports next year – as part of the new 
audit report, the auditor will be required to state if the audit committee report does not appropriately address 
matters communicated by the auditor to the audit committee.

A particularly good illustration of the interaction between the audit committee and auditor is given by BT Group plc.

BT Group plc Annual Report & Form 20‑F 2013
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In general the level of communication in audit 
committee reports seems to be improving – as shown 
by figure 12.3, in most areas the percentage of 
committees reporting what they have done to discharge 
their responsibilities (rather than just indicating that they 
have a responsibility in that area) has increased from 
2012. Johnson Matthey gives an excellent summary of 
the work of the audit committee by listing the matters 
discussed at each committee meeting.

Another emerging area is that the audit committee may 
be asked to advise the board on whether the annual 
report is ‘fair, balanced and understandable’. A good 
example of the disclosure that could be made in relation 
to this process is given by BAE Systems plc in their 
Annual Report 2012.

Johnson Matthey Annual Report & Accounts 2013
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Figure 12.3. Which other audit committee activities are discussed in the annual report?
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Audit tendering
The frequency of audit tendering and the relationships between auditors and the companies they are auditing 
has been one of the key areas of regulatory focus following the 2008 financial crisis. The first changes in this area 
will come into force next year, with the 2012 Code introducing a recommendation that FTSE 350 companies put 
their audit out to tender every ten years (subject to transitional provisions). However, the Competition Commission 
report on audit market concentration, which resulted from the House of Lords inquiry into this area, and the 
European Commission proposals for reform of the audit market, may also introduce further changes when their 
proposals are finalised.

In spite of this focus, the number of companies giving information on the tenure of the incumbent auditor (38%) 
and the date of the last audit tender (20%) is disappointingly low, although it is welcome to see that this is a 
significant improvement on last year, when only 24% of companies gave information on tenure and just 6% gave 
tendering information. Of those companies disclosing auditor tenure, the median figure is 11 years, roughly in line 
with the new proposals. However, the longest relationship disclosed has lasted for a full 117 years.

The number of companies giving an indication of when they might put the audit out to tender in the future was 
24, of which 22 were from the largest 350 companies – the majority being FTSE 350 companies discussing the 
implementation of the 2012 Code requirements next year. Regardless of the cause, it is clear that the number 
of companies considering the implications of the length of the audit relationship on auditor independence is on 
the rise.

Another of the recommendations of the FRC’s Guidance on Audit Committees is that the committee’s report should 
include information about how the committee reached its recommendation on re‑appointment (or not) of the 
company’s auditors. With the current regulatory scrutiny on this area, it is not surprising that the percentage of 
companies giving this detail has increased to 43% (2012: 37%), with 72% (2012: 59%) of the largest 350 companies 
giving this information. Again, this is an area where we would expect to see an increase in disclosure next year with 
the adoption of the 2012 Code and guidance.

Another area of responsibility for audit committees is oversight of the provision of non‑audit services by 
the company’s auditor. This is discussed in Chapter 14 along with the broader topic of auditor remuneration 
and independence.
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Highlights:

• 65% of companies presented non‑GAAP measures on the face of the income statement (2012: 61%). 
The use of such measures and the associated disclosures remain an area of focus for regulators.

• 45 companies are voluntarily disclosing either a net debt reconciliation, a reconciliation of cash flows to 
movement in debt or both. The IASB are considering introducing a requirement for such information.

• Classifying operating expenses using a functional presentation continues to be most popular with 
51 companies (2012: 58) doing so.

• 20% of companies with joint ventures account for them using proportional consolidation, an accounting 
technique which will need to be revisited with the advent of IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements.

• Six companies included a statement on taxation governance, with three of these disclosing corporation 
tax charges or payments to tax authorities that went beyond the requirements of IAS 12 Income Taxes.
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13. Of prime importance

Income statements
All companies seemed to meet the requirements of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements with regards the 
minimum line items that must be shown on the face of the income statement. It was noted that there were four 
companies with interests in associates and joint ventures which were applying the equity method of accounting 
which did not present the share of the associates’ or joint ventures’ profit or loss on the face of the income 
statement (as required by IAS 1). Two companies confirmed that the net income in both the current and prior years 
was nil. One company explicitly stated that this was due to materiality, while it was assumed – taking into account 
the rest of the disclosures around the interest in joint ventures – that the second company had also taken this 
decision on materiality grounds.

Only 14 companies (2012: 14) presented a combined statement of total comprehensive income, with all others 
favouring a separate income statement and statement of other comprehensive income. One company stated 
that there were no items of other comprehensive income and so presented only an income statement. Of those 
choosing the combined approach, three were in the top 350 group, and the remaining 11 in the other group. 
Unusually, one IFRS reporter appeared to include a statement of comprehensive income, but labelled it as a 
consolidated statement of recognised income and expense (SORIE), a term eliminated from IFRSs several years ago.

Many companies continue to make use of IAS 1’s flexibility for presenting additional line items, headings and 
subtotals when such presentation is relevant to an understanding of an entity’s performance. The length of the 
income statement (taking into account all line items down to profit after tax) has remained stable since the prior 
year, with the shortest being a mere 7 lines, and the longest income statement being 33 lines in length. On average 
the length was 15 lines. The range of length was similar across both the top 350 and the other group.

IAS 1 requires companies to present an analysis of expenses recognised in profit or loss using a classification based 
on either their nature or their function within the company; IAS 1 encourages companies to present this analysis in 
the statement presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income (rather than in the notes). Consistent with 
previous years, the most popular presentation of expenses is classification by function (where line items such as 
cost of sales are disclosed), with 51% of companies (2012: 58%) choosing this presentation, as shown in figure 13.1.

While presentation of expenses by function (classification as cost of sales, administrative expenses etc.) continues to 
be popular, 15% of companies (2012: 19%) expand on this basic presentation by splitting out some items by their 
nature, such as amortisation or impairments – this is the ‘mixed’ classification below. A ‘mixed’ classification could 
be challenged on the grounds that IAS 1 requires presentation by nature or function.

Figure 13.1. How are operating expenses presented on the face of the income statement?

Function
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Mixed
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20%
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While presentation by function was a clear preference by the smaller companies (with 65% of the other group 
adopting it), the presentation chosen by top 350 companies was more varied, with a third choosing function 
and nearly a third opting not to classify their expenses, instead often presenting just a single line for all operating 
expenses. The remaining top 350 companies were split fairly evenly between presenting expenses by nature or 
a mix of nature and function.

Where expenses were not classified on the face of the income statement, most companies included extended 
presentation of expenses in the notes to the financial statements by nature.

Where the classification of expenses is by function (and, for the purpose of our survey, a mixed classification), 
companies are obliged under IAS 1 to disclose further information on the nature of expenses in the notes, such 
as depreciation and staff costs. There were 77 companies to which this applied; all but four of them provided 
further information on the nature of expenses. One outlier provided a note with select expenses disclosed (such 
as auditor remuneration and operating lease rentals) but these disclosures are driven by other requirements within 
IFRSs and UK company law and so it was considered that they had not clearly met this IAS 1 disclosure requirement. 
Another outlier possibly excluded further analysis on materiality grounds, given the value of expenses was so small 
and most of the charges to profit or loss were in relation to movement in investment property.

Operating profit
Under UK GAAP a company must include a subtotal for operating profit, and bearing in mind IAS 1’s flexibility 
around presenting additional line items, this has remained a popular subtotal for inclusion within the consolidated 
IFRS financial statements sampled. 93% of companies (2012: 94%) presented some form of operating profit line, 
and of these, 8% (2012: 14%) used a different name, such as trading income. Of those companies not disclosing 
an operating profit line, four were from the top 350 group and three from the other group. In both groups, these 
companies were from a variety of industries.

Another hang‑over from UK GAAP reporting is the presentation of specified items (defined under UK GAAP as 
“exceptional items”) below operating profit. These are: profit or loss on the sale or termination of an operation 
(which do not qualify as a discontinued operation); costs of fundamental reorganisation or restructuring; and profit 
or losses on the disposal of fixed assets. Figure 13.2 shows how these items were presented, highlighting that, on 
the whole, companies are choosing to classify these within operating profit, rather than retain the former UK GAAP 
approach. This is encouraging since the Basis for Conclusions accompanying IAS 1 indicates that if such a measure 
is presented it would be misleading to exclude items ‘of an operating nature’ such as inventory write‑downs, 
restructuring and relocation expenses.

Figure 13.2. Where are the following items presented?
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Non‑GAAP performance measures
IAS 1 only has a few minimum line items required to be shown on the face of the income statement. As such, 
companies have a relative amount of freedom in how they present the profit or loss from their operations and 
the components that comprise it. Non‑GAAP measures are those which are shown on the face of the income 
statement yet not defined as a particular reporting measure under IFRSs and for the purposes of this survey exclude 
operating profit (discussed above). These measures could therefore be open to manipulation, to an extent, by the 
preparers of financial statements to present a more positive view of an entity’s results, even though the bottom line 
profit or loss after tax will remain the same.

Presentation of non‑GAAP measures remains a hot topic for the FRC’s Conduct Committee, which is looking both 
at those measures which are disclosed in the narrative reporting and those which are disclosed in the financial 
statements. It is understood that the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) also plan to update their 
guidance from 2005 on the presentation of alternative performance measures and preparers would do well to keep 
their eyes peeled for this in light of the scrutiny such measures are attracting from regulators.

One challenge that arises is where non‑GAAP measures presented are different to how information is reported 
internally to management (as disclosed in the IFRS 8 Operating Segments note – see chapter 14) – this raises 
questions over why information is presented to investors in a different way to how it is presented to management. 
Companies should ensure that non‑GAAP measures presented in the financial statements are in line with not only 
those non‑GAAP measures included in the narrative reporting (discussed in chapter 6), but also in line with any 
disclosure of adjusted measures within the IFRS 8 note. This kind of joined up thinking is what helps produce the 
best annual reports.

The Conduct Committee also consider the consistent application of non‑GAAP measures year on year. For example, 
it would not be considered appropriate to strip out from underlying results an impairment charge in one year, 
thus improving the underlying results, yet include within underlying results the corresponding credit to the income 
statement if the charge were to be reversed in a future period.

65% of companies (2012: 61%) presented non‑GAAP measures on the face of their income statement. An equal 
proportion of companies within the top 350 and the other group presented such measures.

The majority of companies presenting non‑GAAP measures (85%) defined the measure used (or, at least, the 
items stripped out from the measure), usually within the accounting policies note. Definitions commonly indicated 
that the items stripped out required separate presentation from the remaining results of the group due to their 
one‑off nature and that this this would allow users of the financial statements to better understand the elements of 
financial performance in the period and enable comparison with prior periods.
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The labelling of the non‑GAAP measures was fairly mixed (see figure 13.3), with “Underlying” earnings being the 
most common description of the measure.

Figure 13.3. How are the non-GAAP performance measures broadly described?
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The items that were stripped out to calculate the non‑GAAP measures, however, were described slightly differently. 
The most common description of items being stripped out was “Exceptional”, as shown in figure 13.4.

Figure 13.4. How are the excluded items broadly described?
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Common presentation of the non‑GAAP measures include the use of an additional column (39% of companies 
chose this), inclusion of a removable box on the face of the income statement (25% adopting this presentation) 
or simply inserting additional lines (19%). Where companies presented more than one non‑GAAP measure, a 
combination of these presentation styles was often adopted, with 13% of companies presenting non‑GAAP 
measures doing so.

As noted above, companies chose to strip out items that were often considered to be one‑off in nature, or those 
which were not directly related to the daily operations of the group per se. As in prior years, the most popular 
items being stripped out were costs relating to restructuring or fundamental re‑organisation, with 55% (2012: 56%) 
of companies presenting non‑GAAP measures excluding such costs.

Figure 13.5. What do non-GAAP measures strip out?
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In 2013 it was also noted that many companies (29%) presenting non‑GAAP measures stripped out one‑off 
provisions, or releases of provisions, often in relation to onerous leases.

Where non‑GAAP measures were presented in a separate column, it was common for entities also to include 
the tax impact of the excluded items within the tax expense line; this tax effect has been excluded from the analysis 
above as those entities presenting the measures as additional line items or in a removable box did not include the 
tax impact on the face of the income statement.

One company presented an additional disclosure entitled “Reconciliation of adjusted financial measures” and gave 
this equal prominence to the other primary statements although did state that it was not a primary statement. 
While it is important to ensure that any non‑GAAP measures referred to in either the narrative reporting or else 
within the financial statements are appropriately reconciled to the statutory information, it is questionable whether 
giving such prominence to adjusted measures is appropriate or provides a fair and balanced view. On the other 
hand, the fact that all adjusted measures were presented separately from the income statement could be said to 
add clarity and transparency.
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Share of results of associates and joint ventures
46 companies within the survey had interests in associates and joint ventures which were accounted for using the 
equity method. IAS 1 requires that the share of the profit or loss of these associates and joint ventures be presented 
on the face of the income statement in a separate line, although there is no specific requirement as to where above 
‘profit for the period’ this should be presented. All of these companies except for four presented such a line. Of the 
outliers, two disclosed in the notes that the net profit was nil in the current and prior years and one confirmed 
that no disclosure was made in relation to the relevant associate’s results as they are highly immaterial. The fourth 
entity did not explicitly provide a reason for not presenting a separate line on the face of the income statement, but 
disclosed in a note the profit from its jointly controlled entities and that it was presented within operating profit; we 
assume that the value of this was considered to be immaterial.

A new accounting standard, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, replaces the existing accounting standards for 
joint ventures and for those reporting under EU‑endorsed IFRSs is effective for periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2014. The two main changes brought in by IFRS 11 are:

•	joint arrangements are now categorised by focusing on the rights and obligations of the parties to the joint 
arrangement, whereas previous accounting was driven by the structure of the joint arrangement; and

•	the choice of accounting method for jointly controlled entities is removed under IFRS 11 – the equity method 
is required for all joint ventures, and proportionate consolidation is not permitted.

41 companies had evidence of interests in joint arrangements within the financial statements. Of these, eight chose to 
account for them using proportionate consolidation, albeit one described their investment as being in a joint operation 
(rather than joint venture). Four of the eight had also identified that the forthcoming adoption of IFRS 11 (which none 
had adopted early) would have a significant impact on the financial statements (see chapter 14 for more detail).

Another two companies had evidence of interests in joint ventures yet it was not clear what their accounting policy 
was as there was no clear policy disclosed. The remaining entities chose to equity account for their interests in 
joint arrangements.

Tax
The matter of companies’ tax charges – particularly 
large companies with international operations – 
and the jurisdictions in which the company actually 
makes corporation tax payments has become a 
hot topic within the UK press recently. Perhaps in 
response to this, of the companies surveyed, six 
provided a statement on tax strategy, or a summary 
of the company’s principles with regards taxation. 
An example of this is from BT Group plc’s Annual 
Report & Form 20‑F 2013. All of these six companies 
were in the top 350 group and all of these disclosures 
were located in the front half of the annual report.

Three of these six companies went on to provide an 
explanation of corporation tax charges or payments 
to UK or global tax authorities that went beyond 
the requirements of IAS 12 Income Taxes, and also 
quantified the total tax payments they make on their 
own account or on behalf of others to UK or global 
tax authorities. An example of the latter is taken from 
Greene King plc’s Annual report 2013 where they 
quantified tax payments above those solely relating 
to corporation tax.

BT Group plc Annual Report & Form 20‑F 2013
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One other company provided an explanation of their 
effective corporation tax rate that went beyond the 
requirements of IAS 12 as their effective tax rate was 
nearly 196%, so significant detail was included.

Discontinued operations
IAS 1 requires that if there are discontinued operations 
in the period, the total profit or loss from these 
discontinued operations must be shown as a single line 
item on the face of the income statement. The order 
of the items required to be disclosed on the face of the 
income statement (as listed in IAS 1:82) suggests that 
the results from discontinued operations should come 
below the tax expense line, although this is not an 
explicit requirement of the standard.

14% of companies (2012: 20%) had clearly identified 
discontinued operations in the year, and all of these 
companies complied with the requirement to show 
the total profit or loss from the discontinued operation 
as a single line item. Half of these companies were in 
the top 350 group and half in the other group.

Of the remaining companies, 59% included a clear 
statement (most commonly on the face of the income 
statement, but occasionally within the notes) that the 
results of the group were entirely from continuing 
operations. The remaining 41% did not clearly state that all operations were continuing, but there were no 
instances where disclosure in the remainder of the annual report hinted that perhaps there were discontinued 
operations in the year.

Earnings per share
Companies often present earnings per share (EPS) figures other than those basic and diluted EPS figures required 
to be presented under IAS 33 Earnings per Share. Such figures may be calculated based on a reported component 
of the statement of comprehensive income, such as the non‑GAAP measures disclosed (as discussed above). 
62% of companies (2012: 57%) presented an EPS measure based upon an additional measure other than 
statutory profit after tax. This appeared to be more popular among the larger companies, where 74% of the top 
350 presented an adjusted EPS, compared to only 53% of the other group.

IAS 33 specifies that where additional EPS figures are provided, both the adjusted basic and adjusted diluted EPS 
figures are required to be presented with equal prominence and included in the notes to the financial statements. 
No reference is made to presentation on the face of the statement of comprehensive income, and it is not clear 
whether presentation both in the notes and on the face of the statement of comprehensive income is permitted. 
Of the companies presenting additional EPS figures, 52% presented them on the face of the income statement 
while the remaining 48% presented them only in the notes to the financial statements.

85% of companies (2012: 82%) presenting an additional EPS measure also presented an additional diluted measure, 
in line with the requirements of the standard.

IAS 33 requires basic and diluted EPS to be presented for profit/loss for continuing operations, and for the total 
profit/loss attributable to shareholders. Of those 14 entities with discontinued operations in the year, eight 
complied with this requirement. Of the remaining companies, five presented a reconciliation on the face of the 
income statement of EPS from continued and discontinued operations to total EPS and one company did not meet 
the IAS 33 requirements as it did not disclose a separate EPS from continuing operations only.

Greene King plc Annual report 2013
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Balance sheet
IAS 1 refers to the “Statement of Financial Position” but allows companies to use alternative terminology and also 
to determine the order and format of items presented as they see fit. Most companies (77%) continue to refer 
to a “Balance Sheet”, and 80% of companies present net assets followed by total equity (rather than total assets 
followed by total equity and liabilities). One company presented the information as total assets less current liabilities 
followed by total non‑current liabilities and equity, although they did not disclose why this presentation was 
adopted. Historically a small number of companies has adopted such an approach and sometimes described such a 
total of long‑term liabilities and equity as ‘capital employed’. This company chose not to do so, potentially because 
items such as retirement benefit obligations were included in their non‑current liabilities.

The length of companies’ balance sheets has remained stable on prior year, with overall length ranging from 
21 to 51 lines (2012: 21 to 51) and an average of 32 lines (2012: 32). The larger the company, the longer the balance 
sheet, with the top 350 companies averaging 36 lines (2012: 36) and the other group averaging 29 lines (2012: 30).

Nearly all companies presented two balance sheets, with only 1% (2012: 3%) presenting three periods of 
information due to a prior year restatement that materially impacted the balance sheet in each year. A change 
to IAS 1, made as part of the 2009‑11 Annual Improvements to IFRSs and effective for periods commencing on 
or after 1 January 2013, clarified that a third balance sheet need only be presented if retrospective application, 
restatement or reclassification has a material impact on that balance sheet. The requirement for related notes to 
accompany such a third balance sheet was also removed. Whilst many will welcome this change it appears that a 
lot of companies had already been applying the concept of materiality. Prior year restatements are discussed further 
in chapter 14.

Cash flow statement
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows provides guidance and explicit definitions around the classification of cash flows, 
requiring the cash flows of a company to be classified into operating, investing and financing activities. The FRC’s 
Conduct Committee has indicated that it continues to find possible errors in the classification of cash flows and 
that this remains an area of focus of their reviews. Certainly, one company surveyed noted that it had made a prior 
year restatement to reflect the reclassification of cash flows from investing activities to operating activities (see 
chapter 14 for further discussion on prior year restatements).

IAS 7 gives companies the option of presenting their cash flows from operating activities using either the direct 
method (whereby major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash payments are disclosed) or the indirect 
method (whereby profit or loss is adjusted for the effects of transactions of a non‑cash nature, any deferrals or 
accruals of past or future operating cash receipts or payments, and items of income or expense associated with 
investing or financing cash flows). The direct method is encouraged as it provides information which may be useful 
in estimating future cash flows and which is not available under the indirect method.

The direct method is encouraged as it provides 
information which may be useful in estimating future 
cash flows and which is not available under the indirect 
method.

Despite this, the indirect method continues to be a clear 
favourite, with 96% of companies (2012: 98%) choosing 
this method.
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Despite this, the indirect method continues to be a clear favourite, with 96% of companies (2012: 98%) choosing 
this method. Of these companies, 44% presented the reconciliation of cash flows using the indirect method in 
a note to the financial statements, rather than directly on the face of the cash flow statement. A likely explanation 
for the preference for using the indirect method is that its preparation is generally easier than that of the direct 
method, as non‑cash and other relevant items are able to be extracted from the consolidation workings more easily 
than identifying which cash flows recorded by multiple subsidiaries related to which category of cash flow.

In May 2013, the IASB acknowledged10 that investors place great reliance upon the disclosure of net debt 
reconciliations, and as such the IASB will consider including such a reconciliation to be mandatory within IFRS 
disclosure requirements. The FRC’s Financial Reporting Lab also produced a report in September 201211 which 
showed that those companies defining net debt and disclosing various cash and non‑cash movements in net debt 
gives investors confidence that they have understood issues related to the development of financial obligations 
that must be met, and issues relating to the capital structure and the enterprise value attributable to net debt 
versus shares.

Of the companies surveyed, 45 are already disclosing either a net debt reconciliation (which reconciles opening 
to closing debt), a reconciliation of cash flows (which reconciles cash flows to movement in debt) or both. 
A split between the top 350 and the other group is shown in figure 13.6 which indicates that disclosure of such 
information is more common among the larger companies.

Top 350 companies

Figure 13.6 Has the company disclosed further information around debt?

Reconciliation of
cashflows to debt

Net debt reconciliation

Neither

Both

12%

44%

28%

16%

Other companies

28%

2%

7%63%

10  This was disclosed in the IASB’s Feedback Statement to their Discussion Forum‑Financial Reporting 
Disclosure which can be found at: http://www.ifrs.org/Alerts/PressRelease/Documents/2013/
Feedback‑Statement‑Discussion‑Forum‑Financial‑Reporting‑Disclosure‑May‑2013.pdf

11  The Lab’s report can be found at: 
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Parent company reporting
Listed companies are required by UK company law to present IFRS consolidated financial statements, but they 
have a choice as to whether to present the parent’s separate financial statements using IFRSs or UK GAAP. 
Of the companies surveyed, 55 (2012: 60) chose IFRSs to prepare the separate financial statements and the 
remaining 45 (2012: 37) used UK GAAP. In 2012, of the remaining three companies, one had no subsidiaries so 
just presented single entity IFRS financial statements, while the other two were incorporated in Jersey and did 
not include separate financial statements in their group’s annual report. This slight change in statistics is due to 
the underlying sample population changing slightly year on year (see chapter 4 for detail). Those parent entities 
preparing separate financial statements under UK GAAP will want to consider carefully their options for reporting 
frameworks going forward, with new UK GAAP (FRSs 100‑102) becoming effective for periods commencing on 
or after 1 January 2015. FRS 101, the reduced disclosure framework, may prove a popular choice for such entities 
given that it is based upon IFRSs, but with exemptions offered for certain disclosures.

UK company law also provides an exemption from publishing a parent’s company‑only income statement/profit 
and loss account; 96 companies (2012: 92) took advantage of this exemption. The legal exemption is not clear as 
to whether it extends to the statement of other comprehensive income (for IFRS reporters) or the statement of 
total recognised gains and losses (for UK GAAP reporters). Of those companies taking advantage of the exemption, 
seven (2012: nine) presented a separate company‑only statement of other comprehensive income/statement 
of total recognised gains and losses. Unusually, one IFRS reporter taking advantage of the exemption and not 
presenting a parent company‑only income statement presented a parent statement of comprehensive income, 
yet labelled it a “statement of recognised income and expense”, a term eliminated from IFRSs several years ago.

It was most common for companies to present the consolidated group financial statements and the parent 
company‑only financial statements separately from one another, with 53 companies choosing to do so (2012: 54). 
Of those companies choosing to present the consolidated group financial statements and the parent company‑only 
financial statements together, 57% combined the primary statements of each on the same page, whereas 43% 
presented the primary statements on adjacent pages.

Pro forma information
‘Pro forma information’ is usually a label applied to financial information which reflects a proposed change 
(such as a merger or acquisition) or else which is prepared in order to emphasise certain figures or results.

Seven companies included pro forma information within the annual report. Of these, three companies presented 
the pro forma information in the front half of the report within the narrative reporting. One bank calculated a pro 
forma post‑tax profit number to aid its comparison of profits to dividends and variable pay; a second bank used a 
pro forma capital position to show compliance with new EU requirements for managing capital; the third company 
(not a bank) produced pro forma information to enable more meaningful comparison year on year without the 
impact of a significant acquisition.

Of the remaining four companies presenting pro forma information in the back half of the annual report (either as 
part of or straight after the financial statements), two sets of information had been audited. In one case this was an 
adjusted EPS measure which had been reported in the prior year to show the EPS value without a particular entity 
which was subsequently demerged. In the other instance this information consisted of certain primary statements 
for a consolidation of certain group entities which guarantee some of the group’s listed debt.

Of the other two companies disclosing unaudited pro forma information, one produced “normalised results” 
excluding revenue and costs from activities closed or divested in the period while the other produced 12‑month 
comparatives, as the comparative statutory period had actually been 14 months in length.

Seven companies included pro forma information within 
the annual report.
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Auditors’ reports
In June 2013 the FRC issued revisions to ISA (UK and Ireland) 700 “The Independent Auditor’s Report on Financial 
statements.” The revisions require auditors reporting on companies which comply with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code to provide significantly increased disclosure around the work that they have performed on the 
audit and are a move away from the traditional binary pass/fail model of the past, and are effective for the audits 
of financial statements for periods commencing on or after 1 October 2012. This move towards more transparency 
requires auditors to disclose more information around key audit risks, the application of materiality and the scope 
of the audit.

Of the 55 IFRS parent company reporters, the scope of the auditors’ reports covered both the consolidated group 
and parent company‑only financial statements for 95% of companies (2012: 88%). Interestingly, 31% of companies 
(2012: 24%) where parent company‑only financial statements were prepared under UK GAAP also had combined 
auditors’ reports which covered both the consolidated group and parent company‑only financial statements even 
though they were prepared under different financial reporting standards.

Out of the entire sample there were no qualified audit opinions, although two companies had an emphasis of 
matter paragraph included by the auditors which highlighted potential issues around the use of the going concern 
assumption (2012: three) which is discussed further in chapter 10.

102Annual report insights 2013 A new beginning



To start a new section, hold down the apple+shift keys and click 

to release this object and type the section title in the box below.

1.  Executive summary

2.  How to use this 
document

3.  Regulatory overview

4.  Survey objectives

5.  Playing the long 
game

6.  First impressions

7.  Towards a Strategic 
Report …

8.  Risks and 
uncertainties – 
what’s keeping you 
awake?

9.  Unlocking 
performance

10.  Concerned about 
going concern?

11.  The governance 
debate

12.  Auditing by 
committee

13.  Of prime 
importance

14.  Taking note

Appendix 1 – A new 
beginning for the 
annual report

Appendix 2 –  
Glossary of terms  
and abbreviations

Other resources 
available

Annual report insights 2013 A new beginning 103

14.  Taking note
Highlights:

• 90% of companies continue to present accounting policies straight after the primary statements, but 4% 
have adopted innovative placement techniques for accounting policies, such as relegating them to an 
appendix, or else including them throughout the notes.

• No companies disclosed that they had adopted any IFRSs early, but of those noting material impacts of 
future standards, IAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits was the most common standard.

• 72% of companies (2012: 75%) still do not differentiate between critical judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty, simply presenting a combined list of the two.

• The combined number of critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty disclosed has 
remained static on prior year, with the largest number being 13 and the average being five.

• An average of three operating segments was disclosed with 13 companies (2012: 11) only identifying one 
reportable segment.

• 81% of companies (2012: 74%) with goodwill disclosed the allocation of goodwill to the underlying 
cash‑generating units (CGUs); the average number of CGUs identified to which goodwill had been 
allocated was four.

• 80 companies (2012: 82) recognised an impairment loss in the year, with financial assets (including trade 
receivables) being the most common items.

• 93 companies included disclosure around capital management, or capital risk management, within the 
financial statements.
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14. Taking note

The notes to the financial statements provide the detail required to give a complete picture of the company’s 
performance in the year and its position at the year end. Since 2009 there has been significant discussion of how 
financial statements appear to be getting longer each year, how disclosure requirements are in many people’s 
eyes becoming more onerous and overall the financial statements are becoming more difficult for the lay reader 
to digest. The debate quickly became known as the ‘cutting clutter’ debate, as its primary focus has been on trying 
to identify not only the drivers of increasing disclosure, but also ways in which ‘clutter’ can be removed from the 
financial statements. Despite this, some investors12 have said that in fact they already have the tools they need to 
cut through the clutter and that the presentation and transparency of financial statements is more of a problem 
than the volume of disclosures. Regardless, a shared goal is to make financial statements more user‑friendly and for 
the most important information within to be readily identifiable and understandable.

One key conclusion emerging from the cutting clutter debate is that too often immaterial disclosures are included 
within the financial statements, thus ‘cluttering up’ the financial statements and making it more difficult for users 
to identify the information that really matters. The IASB have acknowledged this13 and intend to provide extra 
guidance around the application of materiality, as well as considering whether to clarify the requirements of IAS 1 
to provide disclosures only where information is material. Equally, the FRC and their Conduct Committee are keen 
to promote the message that they do not expect companies to disclose immaterial information. These aims are in 
direct alignment with the goals of the new strategic report, discussed in chapter 7.

Despite the understandable caution from preparers and perhaps their auditors it is good to see that some 
companies are being bold in this area and – presumably – identifying those items which are immaterial to 
the financial statements and not including reams of disclosures around these. For example, one company 
held investments in associates and joint ventures on their balance sheet totalling £28m, yet there was not a 
supporting accounting policy or note providing further information. Given that non‑current assets alone totalled 
£20.2bn, in all likelihood it is appropriate to assume that these disclosures were not considered to be material. 
Similarly, one company held goodwill of £1.5m on its balance sheet yet had no further disclosure around this; 
given the company had total assets of £875m, again it can be assumed that the goodwill balance was considered 
to be immaterial.

Some companies are explicitly stating that immaterial items have not been disclosed in the current year, such as 
BT Group plc in their Annual Report & Form 20‑F 2013:

12 CFA Institute survey – http://www.cfapubs.org/doi/pdf/10.2469/ccb.v2013.n12.1
13  This was disclosed in the IASB’s Feedback Statement to their Discussion Forum‑Financial Reporting 

Disclosure which can be found at: http://www.ifrs.org/Alerts/PressRelease/Documents/2013/
Feedback‑Statement‑Discussion‑Forum‑Financial‑Reporting‑Disclosure‑May‑2013.pdf

BT Group plc Annual Report & Form 20‑F 2013
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Order of notes
While there are certain set rules around presentation of the primary statements (see chapter 13), a company has 
more freedom in presenting the notes to the financial statements, with only a few IFRSs dictating presentation of 
information (such as IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ requirements for some information to be shown 
in tabular format). IAS 1 simply requires companies to present notes in a systematic manner and to cross‑reference 
them to the relevant item on the primary statements.

The ordering of notes is also an important consideration. While historically most companies have followed the order 
that the relevant balance appears on the face of the income statement or balance sheet, now some companies 
are becoming more innovative in their approach. An example of this is Barclays PLC which identified different 
categories of financial information (Performance, Assets and liabilities held at fair value, Financial instruments 
held at amortised cost, Employee benefits, Accruals, provisions, legal proceedings and contingent liabilities etc.) 
and groups its notes within these categories. Pendragon PLC provide another example of notes being divided 
into different sections (being Results and trading, Operating assets and liabilities, Financing activities and capital 
structure, Pension schemes and Other notes), facilitating navigation through the financial statements and making 
the information more easy to digest.

A slightly different, innovative approach to ordering was adopted by BAE Systems plc’s Annual Report 2012 
whereby the notes were placed in between the primary statements themselves, depending on which primary 
statement the note related to. Splitting up the primary statements and placing them throughout the financial 
statements is unusual as traditionally the primary statements are presented together. It will be interesting to see if 
users find that this approach improves their ability to navigate through the financial statements.

Accounting policies
Presenting the accounting policies in a separate note immediately after the primary statements remains the most 
popular choice by companies, with 90% choosing to do so.

Figure 14.1. How are the accounting policies presented?

Immediately before primary statements

Separate note immediately after primary statements

Combined with relevant note

Split between after primary statements and separate appendix

1%3%

90%

6%

It is the larger companies who are leading the way in beginning to challenge the presentation of accounting 
policies by adopting innovative presentations, such as presenting the accounting policy with the relevant note, 
or presenting key accounting policies up front and then relegating the others to an appendix at the end of the 
financial statements. Only one company from the other group presented their accounting policies somewhere 
other than immediately after the primary statements in a separate note. The FRC’s Financial Reporting Lab has 
also undertaken a project aimed at providing insight on effective approaches to disclosing accounting policy 
information, the ordering of footnotes within financial statements, and the linking or integrating of related 
information on policies and their application. The Lab’s report is due out before the end of 2013.
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ITV plc were particularly innovative in their Annual 
Report and Accounts 2012 by grouping their notes in a 
manner similar to Pendragon PLC (see above), placing 
the accounting policy within the relevant note, and 
then including an explanatory “Keeping it simple” box 
which provided an explanation in layman’s terms of 
what the item of the note was.

Where accounting policies are presented in a separate 
note, the length of the policies was similar to last year, 
varying from two and a half to 19 pages (2012: two 
to 18) and averaging six. The longest accounting 
policies are presented by one bank in the top 
350 group and skews the overall results somewhat. 
Excluding this bank, page length ranged from two 
and a half to twelve pages, and averaged six; there 
was no noticeable difference in lengths between the 
top 350 and the other group.

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors requires companies to disclose whether 
there have been any changes in accounting policy during the year, such as adopting a new reporting standard. 
Compared to companies’ narrative reporting, it seems that there is less appetite to look to the future when it 
comes to financial reporting: no companies at all disclosed that they had adopted any new standards earlier than 
necessary during the year (although the largest suite of new IFRSs was not endorsed for adoption in the EU until 
December 2012, so some companies in our sample could not have adopted them early). However, when a company 
has not applied a new IFRS that has been issued but is not yet mandatorily effective, this must be disclosed along 
with any known or reasonably estimable information relevant to assessing the possible impact that application 
will have on the company’s financial statements. Figure 14.2 shows the level of compliance with this disclosure 
requirement.

Figure 14.2. How detailed are the disclosures regarding standards in issue but not yet effective?

List of new standards and statement that no material impact
or not yet assessed

List of new standards only

List of new standards and some basic information on impact

List of new standards and some detailed information on impact

No clear disclosure

10%

5% 5%

33% 47%

ITV plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012
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Although only 10% of companies provided some detailed information on the impending standards’ impacts, 
there appears to have been some improvement on last year: 43% of companies (2012: 21%) provided a list of new 
standards with some basic or detailed information on their impact. This is likely to be due to the increase in number 
of standards which were endorsed for use in the EU in the year. Of those companies identifying significant impacts 
upon future adoption of particular standards, the most common was IAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits (see below). 
Four companies identified IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, four companies identified IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, 
and another four identified IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements as being likely to have a significant impact 
on the financial statements. As the various instalments of IFRS 9 continue to be published by the IASB one would 
expect the number of companies identifying this as a standard with a significant impact to increase.

Although only 10% of companies provided some 
detailed information on the impending standards’ 
impacts, there appears to have been some improvement 
on last year: 43% of companies (2012: 21%) provided 
a list of new standards with some basic or detailed 
information on their impact.
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One of the more useful disclosures in this area was in Vodafone Group Plc’s Annual Report for the year ended 
31 March 2013. Not only was a comprehensive list of standards in issue but not yet effective provided, the impact 
of these standards was then provided in significant detail, as the extract below demonstrates.

Vodafone Group Plc Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2013

Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements inherently requires significant judgement and a number of assumptions to 
be made, even for entities with relatively simple business models. IAS 1 requires companies to disclose information 
about the assumptions it makes about the future, and other major sources of estimation uncertainty at the end 
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

These judgements and estimates are of considerable interest to many stakeholders, including regulators, given 
that they can have significant impacts on a company’s financial statements and, by their very nature, the risk of 
manipulation attached to them. The attention these disclosures are likely to attract will only increase going forward 
given that similar matters will now be discussed in audit committee reports (see chapter 12) and auditor’s reports 
for periods commencing on or after 1 October 2012. It will be important for preparers to tell a consistent story 
in this regard, linking in with the principal risks and uncertainties where appropriate.
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Although usually considered by companies to form part of the accounting policies, a number of companies 
presented their critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty within a separate note at the end 
of the financial statements. This is a slightly unusual placement given their importance and the fact that by that 
stage a user of the financial statements may only find this note having already reviewed the other information. 
One company presented its consideration of critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty within 
their Financial Risk Management disclosures – usually made in relation to financial instruments – which was 
considered also to be unusual.

72% of companies (2012: 75%) did not differentiate between critical judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty, but simply presented a combined list of the two. For some the distinction between these two 
disclosures may not be clear: an example of a critical judgement could be the timing of revenue recognition, 
whereas forecasting future cash flows as part of a goodwill impairment test could be a key source of estimation 
uncertainty. 2% of companies disclosed information only about either critical judgements or key sources of 
estimation uncertainty but without mentioning the other.

The combined number of critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty disclosed has remained 
static on prior year, with the largest number being 13 and the average being five. The average for the top 
350 group was six and for the other group was five, thus implying that the size of a company does not necessarily 
dictate the level of judgements and uncertainty that may be seen as being the most important.

Six companies (three from the top 350 and three from the other group) stated that there were no critical 
judgements applied by the directors in preparing the financial statements; one of these companies also, perhaps 
boldly, indicated that there were no key sources of estimation uncertainty either. Another company also referred 
specifically to sources of estimation uncertainty, but disclosed none in particular, instead stating merely that these 
form the basis of judgements applied.

Figure 14.3. How many companies include the following items as critical judgements or key sources of estimation uncertainty?
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The underlying pattern of areas common to a majority of companies remains the same as last year, with goodwill 
and acquisitions, pensions, tax and provisions being the most common areas of judgement and estimation 
uncertainty. In this year’s survey, the number of companies identifying generic issues around impairment has been 
identified separately and accounts in part for the seeming fall in number of companies identifying items such 
as goodwill, intangibles and fixed assets as problem areas.
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In 2012, three companies identified the application of the going concern basis of accounting as being a critical 
judgement or key source of estimation uncertainty; in 2013 this has fallen to only two. Unexpectedly, perhaps, 
neither of these two companies were those that had received an auditor’s report containing an emphasis of matter 
paragraph relating to going concern.

43 companies identified issues other than those noted in figure 14.3 as being critical judgements and key 
sources of estimation uncertainty. Common themes emerging include the valuation of investment property, 
the measurement of contingent consideration and impairment of carrying values in investments in group entities 
(in the parent company‑only accounts).

Preparers of financial information have a good opportunity to tailor these disclosures directly to the company’s 
circumstances, rather than merely repeat a boiler‑plate list of items. It was curious, therefore, as to why one 
company disclosed that impairment of CGUs containing goodwill is a key judgement when there was no disclosure 
of goodwill being held at either the current or prior year ends.

A lot of the commonly identified areas of judgement and estimation involve the use of fair value techniques 
and discounted cash flow calculations, thus indicating that these are top of the list of preparers’ concerns. This is 
perhaps unsurprising given the significant changes in the economic environment over recent years that would 
directly impact inputs into such models (for example, discount rates). For reporting periods commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013, IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement will be the new standard that governs many such fair value 
techniques and may bring new challenges and increased disclosures for preparers to consider.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is arguably one of the most important balances within the financial statements for investors; certainly 
it commonly attracts a lot of attention and discussion. The IASB continues its work on a new Revenue standard, 
with the new standard expected in the second half of 2013. The FRC’s Conduct Committee has also indicated that 
revenue recognition continues to be an area of focus for its review, particularly where there has been a change in 
the company’s business model (in which case it is not unreasonable to assume that the revenue recognition policy 
may need to be revised). Despite this importance, the revenue balance has surprisingly little disclosure within the 
financial statements, often only being disclosed as one number on the face of the income statement and then split 
out by segment in the IFRS 8 note.

The length of the revenue recognition policy is not a direct measure of its quality, but it is less than encouraging 
to see that the number of companies with policies less than 50 words in length has increased on last year, with nine 
companies identified this year (2012: eight). Perhaps unusually, given the size of a company may suggest more 
complex processes and policies, six of these entities were within the top 350 group.

Those entities with lengthier policies (defined as being over 250 words) were split evenly between the top 
350 group and the other group.

A lot of the commonly identified areas of judgement 
and estimation involve the use of fair value techniques 
and discounted cash flow calculations, thus indicating 
that these are top of the list of preparers’ concerns.
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Figure 14.4. How detailed are the going concern disclosures in the financial statements?
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The majority of companies (62%) included either some detailed or relevant disclosure around going concern within 
the financial statements or else a clear cross‑reference to relevant disclosure in the narrative reporting. 17% stated 
that the financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis, yet did not expand on this, while the 
remaining 21% had no mention of going concern at all within the financial statements, contrary to the FRC’s 2009 
Guidance on Going Concern.

These are surprising statistics, given that 65% of companies surveyed in the 2010 Deloitte survey Drowning 
by numbers that were caught by the 2009 FRC Guidance on Going Concern when it was first published made 
reference to going concern in their financial statements and one might have expected that this number would 
have continued to increase year on year, particularly following the Sharman review and the publicity that has 
surrounded it.

Operating segments
IFRS 8 Operating Segments became mandatorily effective in 2009 and brought with it a fundamentally different 
approach to identifying the components of an entity that are reported in segmental disclosures. Disclosure is driven 
by the information reported to management, rather than by business or geography.

In July 2013 the IASB published their Post‑implementation Review on the standard. This confirmed that the use of 
the management perspective did make communication by management with investors easier and the incremental 
costs of the implementation of IFRS 8 were low. The IASB found that there is support for IFRS 8 from preparers, 
accounting firms, standard setters and regulators. Investors have provided a mixed response, with some preferring 
to have information about how management views the business (as IFRS 8 requires) but others considering that a 
segmentation process that is based on management’s perspective may be more easily open to manipulation, such 
as obscuring the entity’s true management structure (often as a result of concerns about commercial sensitivity) or 
by masking loss‑making activities within individual segments.

All companies included disclosure around operating segments. IFRS 8 allows entities, subject to certain criteria, 
to aggregate their identified operating segments to form reportable segments (which are disclosed in the financial 
statements). 21% of companies (2012: 11%) made reference to aggregation, while 45% of companies indicated 
that their operating segments directly matched their reportable segments. Seven companies were noted to have 
changed their operating segments since the prior year and hence provided restated comparative information.

Going concern
The requirements for disclosure around going concern within the annual report are discussed in detail in chapter 10.
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The number of operating segments identified ranged from one to nine (2012: one to nine) with an average of 
three. Perhaps unsurprisingly, given the larger the company the more complex its operating structure may be, 
the top 350 group had a higher average number of segments (four) than the other group (three).

Figure 14.5. How many reportable segments were disclosed?
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13 companies (2012: 11) only identified one reportable segment, a position that regulators may be tempted to 
challenge in some circumstances. These companies were concise in explaining why this was so, justifying the 
decision in an average of 38 words (2012: 47). An example of such concise explanation is taken from Howden 
Joinery Group Plc’s Annual Report and Accounts 2012:

Howden Joinery Group Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012

IFRS 8’s description of an operating segment includes the requirement for the component to engage in business 
activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses (including those revenues and expenses relating to 
transactions with other components of the same entity). However, a corporate headquarters or some functional 
departments may not earn revenues or may earn revenues that are only incidental to the activities of the entity 
and so under IFRS 8 would not be operating segments. Despite this, of the companies identifying more than one 
segment, 13% included an “Other” operating segment (2012: 13%). The lack of clear description of these ‘other’ 
segments by some of these companies (for example as a separate operating division which may warrant separate 
discussion in the narrative reporting) calls into question whether the strict definition of IFRS 8 has been met. 
If amounts disclosed under such a segment are just there to reconcile to the primary statements, then labelling 
or describing them as such may be helpful.
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Given IFRS 8’s focus on disclosing information that is as reported to the chief operating decision maker, it would 
not be unreasonable to assume, therefore, that the identification of reportable segments within the financial 
statements would be the same as how the company and its operations are described in the narrative reporting 
(aside from any aggregation of operating segments, as noted above). Consistency between the narrative and 
financial reporting is valuable to ensure that a full picture of a company, its operations and its performance are 
communicated to shareholders.

The reportable segments disclosed by 24% of companies (2012: 15%) in their financial statements appeared to 
be inconsistent with how the company analysed their operations in the narrative reporting in the front half of 
the annual report. A further six companies did not provide any segmental analysis in the front half at all, but did 
disclose more than one reportable segment in the financial statements.

Defined benefit pension schemes
A revised version of IAS 19 Employee Benefits (IAS 19(2011)) is effective for periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2013 and its most significant impact is on the accounting for defined benefit schemes. The most 
significant amendment will require an entity to recognise net interest on the net defined benefit liability (or asset) 
in its income statement, rather than interest on the obligation and an expected return on plan assets. Because the 
net interest rate is determined by reference to high quality corporate bonds and the expected rate of return on plan 
assets would typically have been higher, this change may lead to a negative impact on a company’s profit, albeit 
actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income could end up compensating for this. For a smaller number 
of companies, at least in the UK, other significant changes could include the removal of the ‘corridor’ approach, 
which permitted deferral of some actuarial gains and losses, and the removal of an option to present actuarial gains 
and losses in profit or loss. More extensive disclosure requirements are unsurprisingly included, too.

Of the companies surveyed, 62 had defined benefit schemes. No companies disclosed that they had adopted 
IAS 19(2011) early, yet two were noted to have adopted “IAS 19 (revised)” which is somewhat unusual as the 
previous revisions to IAS 19 were effective a number of years ago.

36 companies had identified the impending adoption of IAS 19(2011) as having a significant impact on the financial 
statements. Two companies were identified as currently using the ‘corridor’ approach, and both had appropriately 
considered that the adoption of IAS 19(2011) will have a significant impact on their financial statements.

Defined benefit obligations and other long‑term employee benefits should be discounted using a discount rate 
determined with reference to market yields on high quality corporate bonds. If there is no deep market in such 
high quality corporate bonds, the market yields on government bonds should be used instead. Of those companies 
with defined benefit schemes or other long‑term employee benefits, 6% provided a description of the discount rate 
used beyond that which would be obtained on high quality bonds, as shown in the examples below from Howden 
Joinery Group Plc’s Annual Report and Accounts 2012 and HSBC Holdings plc’s Annual Report and Accounts 2012. 
At the time of writing IFRSIC had issued a tentative decision rejecting a request for further guidance on discount 
rates to be added to their agenda.
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Howden Joinery Group Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012

HSBC Holdings plc’s Annual Report and Accounts 2012

The discount rates applied by those companies with defined benefit schemes ranged from 1.8% to 6.3%; 
the average rate used was 4.3%. Of those defined benefit schemes located within the UK, 97% of companies 
had used discount rates between 4% and 5%.
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Goodwill and business combinations
As noted above, many companies consider that there are critical judgements to be made around business 
combination accounting and the initial recognition (and subsequent on‑going recognition) of goodwill, and that 
the related accounting in its nature includes key sources of estimation uncertainty.

39 companies (2012: 31) had business combinations in the year. Of these, 24 were in the top 350 group (2012: 14) 
and the remaining 15 from the other group (2012: 17). IFRS 3 Business Combinations has extensive disclosure 
requirements where companies have acquired a business during the period. Of those entities with a business 
combination in the period, 79% (2012: 84%) provided disclosures which were considered to meet all, or nearly all, 
of the IFRS 3 disclosure requirements. Two companies were determined to have had business combinations during 
the year, as indicated by snippets of information scattered about the notes to the financial statements, but did not 
have a separate business combinations note or any clear disclosure confirming such an event or meeting any of the 
IFRS 3 disclosure requirements.

Given the extensive nature of the disclosure requirements, a good example of a company presenting information 
in a helpful manner where multiple business combinations have been made is in Pearson plc’s Annual report and 
accounts 2012. By combining the information for multiple acquisitions into one table, the user of the accounts can 
see at a glance the key financial information:

Pearson plc’s Annual report and accounts 2012
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The disclosure requirements under IFRS 3 include explaining the primary reasons for the business combination and 
a qualitative description of the factors that make up any goodwill recognised. A good example of clear explanation 
of both of these items is from Mondi plc’s Integrated report and financial statements 2012:

Mondi Group Integrated report and financial statements 2012

On‑going recognition of goodwill
IAS 36 Impairment requires goodwill to be tested for impairment annually and as part of this has a number 
of disclosure requirements, as noted below.

Disclosure around impairment continues to be a hot topic for the FRC’s Conduct Committee and companies 
continue to be challenged in this area. Of particular interest to the Conduct Committee is where a value in use 
model has a ‘hockey stick’ approach i.e. in the first year (or two) of forecasts, the growth rate is steep, and after 
this time the growth rate levels down. Arguably this will be due to management basing the value in use model 
upon their detailed budgets for the first year or so and then simply applying a more modest growth rate, possibly 
to reflect the fact that detailed strategic decisions that will directly influence growth on a granular level have yet 
to be determined. Companies should expect to be challenged regarding this.

81 companies surveyed recognised goodwill on their balance sheets at the end of the current reporting period 
(2012: 81), which under IAS 36 needs testing for impairment annually. Of these, only 81% of companies 
(2012: 74%) disclosed the allocation of goodwill to the underlying cash‑generating units (CGUs), which is a 
disclosure requirement of IAS 36. Those companies not complying with this disclosure requirement were split 
evenly between the top 350 and the other group, and most provided a breakdown of goodwill by segment instead 
(without specifically indicating that perhaps the segments represented the CGUs). The number of CGUs identified 
to which goodwill had been allocated ranged from one to twelve (2012: one to thirteen).
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Figure 14.6. How many CGUs has goodwill been allocated to?
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An example of clear disclosure of goodwill allocation to CGUs, including an explanation of how goodwill 
arising in the year has been allocated, is taken from Domino Printing Sciences plc’s Annual Report and Financial 
Statements 2012.

Domino Printing Sciences plc’s Annual Report and Financial Statements 2012

Assets are tested for impairment by comparing the asset’s carrying amount to its recoverable amount; recoverable 
amount is calculated as the higher of an asset’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. One company 
disclosed that their recoverable amount was based on the fair value less cost to sell method (2012: two), while all 
others used value in use.

For those entities where a CGU with significant goodwill has a recoverable amount based on value in use, IAS 36 
requires disclosure of the period over which management has projected cash flows based on financial budgets/
forecasts approved by management and, when a period greater than five years is used for a cash‑generating unit 
(group of units), an explanation of why that longer period is justified. With regards to disclosure around goodwill 
impairment, 88% of relevant companies (2012: 89%) disclosed the period over which cash flows had been 
projected. Six of these companies (2012: two) indicated that the period was more than five years; four of these 
provided an explanation to justify the longer period while two did not.
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Companies are also required to disclose the growth rate used to extrapolate cash flow projections beyond 
the period covered by the most recent budgets/forecasts, and the justification for using any growth rate that 
exceeds the long‑term average growth rate for the products, industries, or country or countries in which the 
entity operates, or for the market to which the unit (group of units) is dedicated. 16% of companies (2012: 14%) 
basing their recoverable amount on value in use did not disclose the growth rate used beyond the forecast period. 
One other company stated that the total period of cash flows used for their value in use calculation was only five 
years in length (their forecasted period) and so no further growth rate was applicable.

Of those companies using the value in use method and which disclosed the growth rate applied, 56% of these 
disclosed one single growth rate, with an average of 5.3% being applied. Those companies disclosing ranges of 
growth ranges averaged from 1.3% – 4.2%.

33% of companies basing their recoverable amount on value in use explicitly stated that the growth rate applied 
did not exceed the long‑term average growth rates for the relevant country or market; a further 14% implied that 
this was the case, but the description was not as explicit. The remaining companies did not provide evidence as to 
whether their long term growth rate exceeded the average. Of these, five companies had disclosed that the growth 
rate applied was nil, so it may be assumed that this is automatically lower than the long‑term average, unless of 
course the industry was actually in decline.

93% of companies basing their recoverable amount on value in use (2012: 91%) disclosed the discount rate used. 
15% of companies had identified and disclosed only one CGU; of the remaining companies, 49% indicated that 
they had used more than one discount rate, such as for different CGUs or groups of CGUs.

Figure 14.7. What are the discount rates used?
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Figure 14.7 shows the discount rates used by those companies which disclosed them. Where a range was used, 
the average of this range has been calculated. Broadly, there appears to be a shift towards higher discount rates 
used in the calculation of recoverable amount. Those companies with a particularly high average discount rate 
had CGUs based in countries such as Greece and Egypt, where higher rates would be expected.
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While there is no specific requirement under IAS 36 to explain how discount rates used were arrived at, two 
companies provided such disclosure – an example is taken from Latchways plc’s Annual Report and Accounts 2013.

Latchways plc Annual Report and Accounts 2013

Both the value in use method and the calculation of a CGU’s fair value less costs to sell require the use of estimates 
and assumptions. For CGUs with significant goodwill, if a reasonably possible change in a key assumption on which 
management has based its determination of recoverable amount would prompt an impairment, IAS 36 requires 
the disclosure of further relevant sensitivity information.

Figure 14.8. Were additional sensitivity disclosures provided regarding goodwill impairment?
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47% of companies (2012: 48%) provided either detailed or high‑level sensitivity analysis. While this is broadly in 
line with the prior year, it is encouraging to see that of those companies not disclosing such information, there has 
been a shift from those who are silent (18% in 2013; 23% in 2012) to those making, at the very least, a negative 
statement that there are no possible changes in key assumptions that may indicate impairment.

One issue which may be slightly concerning is that over half of the companies (2012: two thirds) which did not 
provide a sensitivity analysis had nevertheless identified impairment of goodwill as a key source of estimation 
uncertainty or critical judgement. While this issue seems to be reducing year on year, it still indicates that there 
may be some disconnect between the assessment of key accounting issues and the level of disclosure subsequently 
provided in the financial statements.
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It is also worth noting that the Conduct Committee are keen to challenge descriptions of key assumptions, 
management’s approach to determining the values assigned to each assumption and missing sensitivity disclosures.

An example of detailed sensitivity analysis is taken from TT electronics plc’s Annual Report 2012.

TT electronics plc’s Annual Report 2012

Other intangible assets
15 companies (2012: 14) surveyed had no intangible assets (excluding goodwill) recognised on their balance sheets 
at their reporting date. 13 of these were from the other group.
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Figure 14.9. How many classes of intangibles (other than goodwill) are recognised?
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The greatest number of classes of intangibles recognised by one company was seven (2012: seven), and figure 
14.9 shows that the number of classes of intangibles was broadly in line with last year across the sample.

16% of companies with intangible assets (other than goodwill) disclosed that one or more classes of intangible 
assets had been assessed to have an indefinite life. IAS 38 Intangible Assets requires the reasons supporting 
the assessment of an indefinite useful life to be disclosed, including the factors that played a significant role 
in determining that the asset has an indefinite useful life. It is encouraging to see that 71% of companies with 
intangible assets assessed to have an indefinite life included the reasons supporting the judgement.

Impairments
80 companies (2012: 82) surveyed recognised an impairment loss in the year; this represented 91% of the top 
350 group and 72% of the other group.

Figure 14.10. What has been impaired during the year?
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Figure 14.10 indicates what was impaired in the period. Of those financial assets impaired in 2013, 90% of these 
impairments relate solely to trade receivables.

121Annual report insights 2013 A new beginning



To start a new section, hold down the apple+shift keys and click 

to release this object and type the section title in the box below.

1.  Executive summary

2.  How to use this 
document

3.  Regulatory overview

4.  Survey objectives

5.  Playing the long 
game

6.  First impressions

7.  Towards a Strategic 
Report …

8.  Risks and 
uncertainties – 
what’s keeping you 
awake?

9.  Unlocking 
performance

10.  Concerned about 
going concern?

11.  The governance 
debate

12.  Auditing by 
committee

13.  Of prime 
importance

14.  Taking note

Appendix 1 – A new 
beginning for the 
annual report

Appendix 2 –  
Glossary of terms  
and abbreviations

Other resources 
available

For all material impairments within scope of IAS 36 (which would exclude IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement impairments of financial assets such as trade receivables), the events and 
circumstances that led to the recognition of the impairment loss are required to be disclosed, as well as the location 
of the CGU which suffered an impairment and, if the impairment was identified using the value in use method 
to determine recoverable amount, the discount rate used in that calculation. Disappointingly, these disclosure 
requirements do not appear to be being made, with only 35% of companies with impairments within the scope 
of IAS 36 clearly disclosing the events and circumstances leading to the impairment. 46% of companies with 
impairments disclosed the location of the CGU which suffered the loss (a further 8% gave some relevant disclosure 
but it was not clear), while only 23% disclosed the discount rate used in the value in use calculation (although one 
company had clearly used a fair value less costs to sell model, so this disclosure was not applicable).

Share based payments
The disclosure requirements of IFRS 2 Share Based Payments are extensive, with numerous disclosures required for 
each different share scheme set up. Whilst IFRS 2 does permit some level of aggregation for substantially similar 
types of schemes, in practice this may not provide much relief.

92 companies surveyed (2012: 96) had share based payment schemes, with all but one of the top 350 having such 
schemes. The overall pattern of length of disclosures is the same as last year, with the average length being two 
pages, and the longest disclosure being six pages in length.

Figure 14.11. How long are the share based payment disclosures (to the nearest page)?
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Financial instruments
The disclosure requirements relating to financial instruments are driven by IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. 
These disclosures require detail around individual classes of financial instruments, as well as the nature and 
extent of risks arising from financial instruments. While it is pleasing to see that all companies surveyed met some 
disclosure requirements of IFRS 7, the level of detail provided by companies varied significantly. Two companies 
(in the other group) managed to compact the disclosures into only one page, while six companies’ disclosures 
spanned fifteen or more pages in length (all of these were in the top 350).
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Figure 14.12 shows the comparison of length of clearly identified IFRS 7 disclosures with last year; overall there 
appears to be a trend for disclosures to be getting longer.

Figure 14.12. How long are the IFRS 7 disclosure notes (to the nearest page)?
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IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the carrying amounts of each category of financial instruments (being financial 
assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, held‑to‑maturity investments, loans and receivables, 
available‑for‑sale assets and financial liabilities held at amortised cost) held by a company. Where companies do 
not have complex financial instruments, this is often disclosed in a sentence or two. Where there are numerous 
categories or types of financial instrument, this disclosure is often presented in a table. Such a table would 
enable a reader to identify easily those financial instruments which are held at fair value. It was surprising how 
many companies – albeit usually the smaller ones – included items within their tables which were not financial 
instruments (such as prepayments, tax liabilities, provisions and pension obligations).

Similarly, preparers of financial statements appear to be unsure or confused about the different disclosure 
requirements of IFRS 7 and how they interrelate. For example, one company had a table categorising their 
financial instruments, with none being clearly categorised as held at fair value; yet, strangely, a further disclosure 
stated that all fair values of the group’s financial instruments are categorised as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 
Another company presented its preference shares within its fair value table (see below), determining that it falls 
within Level 2, despite the fact that several pages earlier it had confirmed that these instruments were held at 
amortised cost.

For all financial instruments measured at fair value, companies must elaborate on how that particular fair value was 
determined, using IFRS 7’s hierarchy of inputs into valuation techniques:

•	Level 1: inputs into valuation technique are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities;

•	Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

•	Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

51 companies surveyed held financial assets at fair value. Of these, 43 (84%) clearly identified the level of the hierarchy 
that the inputs to the valuation technique used to measure these assets fell into. Of these 43 companies, 60% used 
inputs into valuation techniques for all assets within the same hierarchical level. Most commonly this was Level 2.

58 companies surveyed held financial liabilities at fair value. Of these, 49 (84%) clearly identified the level of the 
hierarchy that the inputs to the valuation technique used to measure these liabilities fell into. Of these 49 companies, 
86% used valuation techniques for all liabilities using the same level. Most commonly this was Level 2.
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Currently, further information is required regarding valuation methods for financial instruments falling within 
Level 3, such as a reconciliation from opening to closing positions and information around the effect of changing 
one or more of the inputs to reasonably possible alternative assumptions that would change the instrument’s fair 
value significantly. However under new requirements from IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, which come into 
effect for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, further detail around the unobservable input factors 
(including any quantitative factors) used in level 3 valuations will need to be disclosed. IFRS 13’s scope is also 
broader than just financial instruments, which would previously have been captured by IFRS 7’s fair value disclosure 
requirements.

21 companies had either assets or liabilities which were valued where inputs were unobservable and therefore fell 
into Level 3. For fair value measurements in Level 3, IFRS 7 requires companies to disclose the effect of changing 
one or more of the inputs to reasonably possible alternative assumptions in cases where such a change would 
change fair value significantly. Of the 21 companies, nine disclosed some information around the quantitative 
factors of inputs into the valuation model as part of this sensitivity analysis disclosure. This is encouraging, as it 
would appear that companies are already able to identify the relevant information which will be mandatory to 
disclose under IFRS 13 in the future.

Capital risk management
IAS 1 includes the requirement to disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate 
the entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. This includes a description of what it manages 
as capital, qualitative information about its objectives, policies and processes for managing capital, any externally 
imposed capital requirements (including whether it has complied with these during the period) and any changes 
to the aforementioned from the prior period.

In recent times this has been an area of focus for the FRC’s Conduct Committee, who consider such information to 
always be material by virtue of its nature. As a result, requests for further information to assess compliance with 
these requirements are not uncommon. However, to help preparers, further insight in this area was offered by the 
Financial Reporting Lab’s reports on net debt reconciliations, operating and investing cash flows and debt terms 
and maturity tables, all published towards the end of 2012.

93 companies included disclosure around capital management, or capital risk management, within the financial 
statements. Disclosure was usually made either in conjunction with the other IFRS 7 financial risks, or else in one 
of the equity or reserves notes. Of these, most companies included a description of their objectives, their policies 
and processes and also a definition of “capital”, as shown in figure 14.13.

Figure 14.13. Of those companies referring to capital management in the financial statements, what detail has been 
clearly disclosed?
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While these statistics are encouraging in terms of compliance, a lot of the disclosures were noted to be boilerplate, 
such as the objective which was commonplace among many companies and was simply along the lines of 
“to ensure that entities in the Group are able to continue as going concerns whilst maximising the return to 
stakeholders”. Similarly, policies and processes often merely referred briefly to board review and managing capital 
through the issue of new shares, returning capital to shareholders, or selling assets to reduce debt. The better 
disclosures contained more detail around the specific policies and processes in place. An example of such is from 
Mondi plc’s Integrated report and financial statements 2012:

Mondi Group Integrated report and financial statements 2012
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Prior year restatements
21 companies within the survey made restatements to their prior year reported figures of which seven restated 
their previously reported segmental analysis.

Of the remaining 14 companies restating comparatives, eight had a change in accounting policy (including changes 
made to presentation policies with no change to the underlying values), three restated the comparatives due 
to identifying errors, one had both a change in accounting policy and a prior year error, one restated the prior 
year balance sheet due to a change in the acquisition accounting fair values for a business combination, and 
one restated its analysis of staff costs within the notes with no clear explanation as to why. A further company 
identified a change in accounting policy, but made no restatement citing immaterial impact on prior year results 
and financial position. Not all of those companies restating their comparative primary statements clearly marked 
the comparative columns as “restated”, instead leaving it to the user of the financial statements to discover the 
restatement through disclosure in the accounting policies.

Two of the companies restating their financial statements due to error did so following discussions with the FRC’s 
Conduct Committee, and included disclosure around these circumstances.

Of the 14 companies restating information other than segmental analysis, only two presented a third balance 
sheet, in line with IAS 1 requirements. Three companies disclosed that the impact on the third balance sheet was 
immaterial, and so was not presented, while the other companies remained silent on the matter.

Further clarification on the requirement for a third balance sheet was included in the annual improvements to IFRSs 
published in May 2012, making it clear than the extra balance sheet need only be included where the impact of the 
restatement has a material effect on it. The requirement to present related notes for that third balance sheet was 
also removed. The amendments have effect for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013.

Auditors’ remuneration and independence
The detailed requirements for disclosure of the auditor’s remuneration for both audit and non‑audit services stem 
from regulations made under the UK Companies Act 2006. This requires the notes to the accounts to disclose 
any remuneration receivable by the company’s auditor or their associates for auditing the accounts, and any 
remuneration for the supply of other services to the company or its associates. Separate disclosure is required 
in respect of auditing the accounts in question and of each of eight specified categories of other services.

All companies clearly disclosed the remuneration paid to their auditors within the financial statements. 
91 companies presented these disclosures using different categories as required by the regulations.

45 companies provided a subtotal for total audit fees including audits of subsidiaries. While this is not a requirement 
of the regulations (since technically the audit of subsidiaries is regarded as a non‑audit service), this is often viewed 
as helpful.

The auditors of 95 companies provided non‑audit services in either the current or the prior years. For 67 companies, 
the total non‑audit fees earned by their auditors in the current year were more than 20% of the value of the audit 
fees alone. Of these, only 42% provided a clear explanation as to why they had engaged their auditors to perform 
the services as called for by the FRC’s Guidance on Audit Committees. In some cases the explanations were 
provided within the audit committee’s report in the narrative reporting section of the annual report. One company 
disclosed non‑audit fees earned by their auditors of £187,000, compared to fees for the audit of only £38,000 and 
did not provide a clear explanation of how they were satisfied with this balance of remuneration. Ever‑increasing 
scrutiny in this area by a variety of stakeholders means that many would do well to increase their disclosure in 
this regard.
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70 companies disclosed remuneration payable to their auditors for “Other services”, one of the eight specified 
categories. It was disappointing to see that only 37% provided a clear description – either in the notes to the 
financial statements where remuneration was disclosed, or else in the audit committee’s report – as to what 
these services were, although this is not a mandatory disclosure. In some cases, however, the amounts paid for 
“Other services” were notably small in comparison to the rest of the remuneration, and therefore a description 
may have been omitted due to immateriality.

The FRC’s Guidance on Audit Committees calls for audit committees to disclose their policy regarding the provision 
of non‑audit services by their auditors, either in the annual report or by indicating where it can be found on the 
company’s website. The policy should include those services which are prohibited, those which are pre‑approved 
and those for which specific approval is required.

Figure 14.14. Does the policy on the provision of non-audit services describe those services which are prohibited, those 
which are pre-approved and those for which specific approval is required?
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It is good to see that more than half of companies surveyed (52%) are disclosing their policy on the provision 
of non‑audit services in a detailed and meaningful way, such as including detail around prohibited services, 
pre‑approved services and those services for which specific approval is required. However, the level of detail 
provided within the audit committee reports with regards to this did vary considerably. Unusually, one company’s 
audit committee disclosed that they always expect their auditor to be the provider of non‑audit services, which 
appears to go against the underlying issue of auditor independence which has driven the requirement for audit 
committees to establish a set policy.

More than half of companies surveyed (52%) are 
disclosing their policy on the provision of non‑audit 
services in a detailed and meaningful way, such as 
including detail around prohibited services, pre‑approved 
services and those services for which specific approval 
is required.
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A good example of disclosure by the audit committee describing the policy for non‑audit services is taken from 
Halma plc’s Annual Report and Accounts 2013:

Halma plc Annual Report and Accounts 2013

Of the 95 companies whose auditors provided 
non‑audit services in either the current or the prior 
years, the disclosures were sufficient to confirm that 
for 47% of these companies the non‑audit services 
were provided in line with their policy for non‑audit 
services. However, for a few of these companies (eight), 
the policy was not clearly articulated or detailed in the 
audit committee’s report, but the audit committee’s 
report had implied or stated that all non‑audit services 
were in line with their policy. A clear explanation of 
the non‑audit services provided by the auditor and 
an explanation for why the auditor was engaged for 
the work is provided within National Grid plc’s Annual 
Report and Accounts 2012/13.

National Grid plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012/13
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Consistency with narrative
The annual report is meant to be read as a whole and, as such, should be telling ‘one story’ of what has happened 
in the year, the position the company is in at the year end and what the future prospects are. An important part 
of enabling an annual report to hang together well to achieve these objectives is ensuring that key financial 
information as presented in the financial statements is given suitable prominence within the narrative reporting 
in a way that gives a fair and balanced view of the company.

A number of companies, as seen by those presenting non‑GAAP measures, for example, have incurred one‑off 
items or significantly material items in their financial statements during the period. For example, 39 of the 
companies surveyed had material restructuring or reorganisation costs in the year, almost all of whom had stripped 
out these costs as part of a non‑GAAP measure presented on the face of the income statement (discussed further 
in chapter 13). It was good to see that 90% of these companies made reference to these charges in their narrative 
discussions in the front half of the annual report, usually in the financial review discussion. However, a few of these 
companies made only brief reference to these costs, and a couple of companies did not make the value of the costs 
particularly prominent, but nevertheless their existence was discussed as part of the review.

Similarly, 37 of the companies surveyed incurred significant impairment charges (most impairment charges against 
trade debtors have not been considered to be particularly significant), although only 59% of these companies 
were considered to highlight these in their narrative to present a balanced review of the company’s performance 
in the year.

In contrast, there were six companies identified within the survey which presented information within the financial 
statements that would often instead be found in the narrative reporting, or the front half of the annual report. 
Of these, three companies provided explanation or discussion in the financial statements as to what was driving 
the movement in balances year on year. Particularly innovative in this respect was the National Grid plc financial 
statements which also included a link back to the company’s strategy. Two other companies provided lengthy 
disclosure around directors’ remuneration, while the last company had a lengthy note specifically to reconcile 
non‑GAAP measures to the statutory financial statements, even though these measures were only referred to 
in the narrative (and not presented in the financial statements).

National Grid plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012/13
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Appendix 1 – A new 
beginning for your 
annual report
This appendix identifies various ways in which you can improve your annual report in 2013 based on our survey 
findings and areas that will be under scrutiny from regulators. In order to reflect the differing appetites as to how 
far preparers want to go in improving their reports our tips are split into four levels: 

1
The bare minimum – 
complying with new and 
existing requirements

2 Upping your game – looking at regulatory 
areas of focus

3 Clearer communication – considering the qualitative 
characteristics of effective communication

4 Going the extra mile

We conclude with six ideas on how to cut clutter from an annual report, which can be applied by preparers 
anywhere on the above spectrum.

Level 1 – The bare minimum – complying with new and existing requirements
Producing a top quality annual report is no mean feat. Based on our survey findings we’ve picked out three easy 
wins, reflecting areas that many companies currently slip up on, but which with a bit of planning and thought could 
be rectified with relative ease. Following this we identify several newly effective requirements to be addressed.

Existing requirements – pitfalls to avoid 

2Check IFRS 7 
Financial 
Instruments: 
Disclosures 3Check IAS 36 

Impairment

1Clearly identify 
the business 
model
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1 Clearly identify the business model. Specific discussion of a company’s business model will be a statutory 
requirement from next year and despite being a requirement of the UK Corporate Governance Code for the 

last couple of years (albeit on a “comply or explain” basis) only 44% of companies surveyed clearly identified their 
business model in their report. Better signposting of the disclosure, or more effort to identify this key information, 
will make a significant difference in this area.

2 Check that the disclosure table showing the categories of financial instruments the company holds, as 
required by paragraph 8 of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, is consistent with those instruments 

covered by the accounting policy disclosures and that the table doesn’t include items outside of IFRS 7’s scope, 
such as pension liabilities. The number of companies making errors in this area is surprisingly high.

3 Check your disclosure of the allocation of goodwill to the underlying cash‑generating units making up your 
business required by IAS 36 Impairment. 19% of companies in our survey with goodwill at the year‑end were 

not clearly making this disclosure. Impairment disclosures are a continual area of regulatory focus.

New requirements
With a whole host of new legislation and some new IFRSs to watch out for too, below is a list of the major areas 
that you can’t afford to miss in 2013/14.

These issues, and more, are discussed in the regulatory overview in chapter 3, together with links to 
further information and resources.

1 3 5 7
New strategic 

report

New directors’ 
remuneration 

legislation

UK Corporate 
Governance 

Code
Audit reports

IAS 19 (2011) 
Employee 
Benefits

FRS 13 
Fair Value 

Measurement

Check 
consistency of 

disclosures

2 4 6

1 For periods ending on or after 30 September 2013, the new strategic report replaces the current business 
review. While many of the requirements regarding its contents are the same, quoted companies will need 

to present specific information on their strategy and business model, human rights issues and employee gender 
balance. The directors’ report also needs to contain specific numerical information on greenhouse gas emissions. 
It is worth noting that the strategic report is separate to the directors’ report and should be separately signed and 
approved.

2 At the same time, the new directors’ remuneration report legislation also comes into force. As well as 
information on remuneration during the year, this includes a new requirement to disclose a separate 

remuneration policy report which shareholders will need to approve. Disclosure will also be required of the much 
discussed ‘single figure for remuneration’.

3 The September 2012 revisions to the UK Corporate Governance Code have a come into force for periods 
commencing on or after 1 October 2012, along with the associated revised audit committee guidance. 

The audit committee report will need to be more detailed as a result of this change and the directors will 
need to be prepared to confirm that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable.

4 Audit reports for those reporting under the UK Corporate Governance Code will be significantly expanded 
to give more detail about the audit process and issues identified as a result of ISA (UK and Ireland) 700 

The independent auditor’s report on financial statements. Early engagement with the auditor will ensure a 
company avoids unpleasant surprises in this regard.
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5 IAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits. The revisions to IAS 19 mean that companies with defined benefit 
obligations will present a net interest expense in their income statement rather than the separate ‘expected 

return on plan assets’ and ‘unwind of discount on plan liabilities’. This will reduce profits for the majority of 
companies (albeit compensated for in other comprehensive income), but there may not be a balance sheet impact. 
Application of the standard has been identified as an ESMA enforcement priority and accordingly the FRRP are 
expected to monitor this closely.

6 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement unifies the guidance on fair value measurement from various IFRSs, as well 
as standardising the disclosure requirements for almost any asset measured at fair value. There are some 

significant new disclosures needed for non‑financial assets (such as investment property) measured at fair value.

7 Check consistency of disclosures around key financial reporting judgements throughout the report. 
With critical judgements already being disclosed in the financial statements and new requirements for 

significant financial reporting matters to be discussed in the audit committee report and matters of audit 
significance to be discussed in the audit report, ensuring consistency between these is an easy way to make the 
annual report tell a consistent story.

Level 2 – Upping your game – looking at regulatory areas of focus
Companies could also bear in mind the areas regulators are focusing on. These include:

Impairment models, particularly those ‘value in use models’ incorporating a 
‘hockey stick’ growth forecast (high growth in the early years). Where companies have a model which has 
such a profile, they should be particularly prepared for regulatory scrutiny. Regulators will focus on value 
in use calculations they perceive to have a higher risk of impairment, challenging key assumptions and any 
applicable missing sensitivity disclosures.

Principal risks and uncertainties, despite improvements in risk 
reporting in recent years. Companies should take care to make clear their ‘principal’ risks and uncertainties 
and to describe their mitigating activities, which the FRRP believes is necessary.

Disclosure around the assumptions used in

investment property valuations.
A statement that the valuation was carried out under the standards issued by the Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors or under International Valuation Standards is not considered sufficient and such minimal 
disclosures will be open to challenge in the future.

1
Non‑GAAP measures, specifically where measures used in the narrative reporting 
are different to those presented to management (as disclosed in the IFRS 8 note) and those presented on the 
face of the income statement. Year on year consistency in the items stripped out from statutory numbers is 
also expected.2

4
5

KPIs should be clearly and consistently defined year on year, with reconciliations to statutory measures 
provided where appropriate. Linking them to the company’s strategy, business model, objectives and 
remuneration policy are also current hot topics.

 

3

Cash flow statements and compliance with IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows 
classification requirements. It is tempting to assume that, since IAS 7 contains fewer headline categories than 
FRS 1 Cash flow statements, it is more flexible but in reality there is unlikely to be much of a grey area as to 
whether a transaction is operating, investing or financing in nature.6
Revenue recognition, particularly in cases where there has been a change in business 
model. Aggressive revenue recognition can be tempting, particularly when a new line of business may be taking 
time to build inertia, but this is another area where regulators will be on the lookout for unusual policies.7
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Level 3 – Clearer communication – considering the qualitative characteristics of effective 
communication
The first two levels focus on the content. This level considers how that content is communicated. Here are some 
broad‑brush areas that may increase the impact of the information presented in the annual report.

Make sure graphics 
are relevant

Make it flow

A good contents page and 
helpful cross‑referencing 

to demonstrate the linkage 
between sections

Set the scene clearly 
and give disclosures 

context

Write in plain English 
avoiding jargon and 
explaining acronyms Break up the text 

a bit

Clearer 
communication

1 Break up the text a bit. Long paragraphs of narrative are never easy to read – it’s important to include some 
graphics or even just blank space to make those pages a bit less ‘busy’. However, see (2) below!

2 Make sure graphics are relevant. Lots of snazzy graphs can make a report look more lively but be careful to 
ensure that they are complementing and not confusing the key messages.

3 Make it flow. Having the right information in your report is no good if it is not well structured and organised 
effectively. Weaving the common messages/themes throughout all elements of the report also helps.

4  A good contents page and helpful cross‑referencing to demonstrate the linkage between sections. 
Clearly setting out what is where is great to enable users to quickly navigate to the information they are 
interested in. This includes cross‑referencing to the back half where appropriate e.g. the notes to the 
accounts, as well as the narrative sections.

5 Set the scene clearly and give disclosures context. Launching straight into the detail of how successful ‘Project X’ 
has been is dangerous if the reader might not know the background behind what Project X was trying to achieve.

6 Write in plain English avoiding jargon and explaining acronyms. An understandable report written through the 
eyes of management is more engaging.

7 Ensure the key messages are clear to the user and not obstructed by immaterial, boilerplate clutter. (See ideas 
on cutting clutter at the end of this Appendix).
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8 The draft FRC Guidance on the Strategic Report provides complementary principles to those outlined above 
which note that the strategic report should:

	 •	 	be	fair,	balanced	and	understandable;

	 •	 	be	concise;

	 •	 	have	a	forward	looking	orientation,	where	appropriate;

	 •	 	provide	information	that	is	entity‑specific;

	 •	 	highlight	relationships	and	interdependencies	(linkages)	between	information	presented	in	different	parts	
of the annual report; and

	 •	 	be	reviewed	annually	to	ensure	that	it	continues	to	meet	its	objectives	in	an	efficient	and	effective	manner.

The following diagram illustrates how the elements of the strategic report should be woven together. Many of 
these elements, in turn, link through to various sections of the annual report.

The business model – 
generating value and 
differentiating from 

the competition

The strategic report – 
a joined up approach

In review, this year we … and 
in future we will …

Our objectives are ABC and we 
will achieve these through our 

strategy of …

We measure our progress
against KPIs XYZ

We also consider:
• Employees
• Environment and CO2
• Human rights
• Social and community issues

The principal risks and 
uncertainties that we face 
are …
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Level 4 – Going the extra mile
Whilst some preparers of annual reports will always lean towards providing the bare minimum and others 
will want to go above and beyond, stakeholders often value those reports that follow best practice guidance. 
Those companies that go the extra mile adopt new proposals early, take on board non‑mandatory guidance and 
provide additional information that is thought to improve a user’s understanding of the performance and strategy 
of the business. Below are some areas where preparers could choose to impress their readers in 2013/14 – some 
easier to achieve than others.

Investment 
proposition

Concepts 
embodied 

in the IIRC’s 
Integrated 
Reporting 

Framework

Principles from 
the Sharman 

review

2013      2014

Market 
context

Risk priorities Net debt 
reconciliation

•	Presenting a short investment proposition piece of narrative may provide helpful information for potential 
investors (see chapter 6).

•	Setting out the market context in which the narrative report is being written can be useful background to the 
information it contains (see chapter 7).

•	Illustrating stakeholder value analysis, showing the value created by the company for all its stakeholders, not 
just the shareholders, can really help to illustrate how it is being a responsible corporate citizen (see chapter 7).

•	Integrating the concepts embodied in the IIRC’s Integrated Reporting Framework into the narrative report to 
ensure that it is relevant to all of a business’ stakeholders (see chapters 3 and 7).

•	Communicating risk priorities by giving information on the relative importance of the principal risks and 
uncertainties identified (see chapter 8).

•	Incorporating the principles from the Sharman review into disclosure around going concern (see chapters 3 and 10).

•	Including a net debt reconciliation which is of interest to many investors (see chapter 13).

1 2 3 4 5 6
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Cutting clutter
Whilst going the extra mile in an annual report is to be commended, a continual challenge in today’s world is to 
avoid overloading readers with information and leaving them in a position where they struggle to see the wood for 
the trees. Here are six questions for preparers to consider when attempting to cut clutter from their annual reports.

1) Am I disclosing
immaterial information?

2) How many statements and
performance reviews are
there in the front half?

3) Am I producing the
same report as last year,

but with updated numbers?

4) Has the information
I am disclosing changed

year on year?

5) Have I considered adopting
FRS 101 for the parent’s

(and subsidiaries)
separate financial statements?

6) Does the annual report still
seem weighty, even with a

number of quick wins adopted?

1) Am I disclosing immaterial information?
As the IASB continues to work on their disclosure framework project they, along with the FRC and other regulators, 
are keen to remind preparers that IAS 1 clearly sets out that only material disclosures need be provided under IFRSs. 
A position held by many preparers is that it’s better safe than sorry and that one is rarely penalised for putting in 
too many disclosures. However, regulators are genuinely keen for preparers to avoid prematurely leaping to this 
conclusion.

Materiality applies equally to the ‘front half’. The FRC has made clear in their draft strategic report guidance that 
only material which is material to investors should be included in the annual report.

2) How many statements and performance reviews are there in the front half?
The new strategic report provides an opportunity to rationalise the number of different people providing a review 
of performance. For example, where a chairman, chief executive, finance director and heads of divisions have all 
provided statements in addition to the company’s actual strategic report it may well be possible to reduce material 
that is being duplicated. Why not get the chief executive to introduce the strategic report?

3) Am I producing the same report as last year, but with updated numbers?
Don’t just roll forward last year’s report – there can be a tendency to disclose ‘everything we disclosed last year 
plus some extra bits’. Be ruthless and cull information that was included last year but is no longer relevant or 
material this year.
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4) Has the information I am disclosing changed year on year?
If not, could this sort of ‘standing data’ be relegated to an appendix and cross‑referred to as appropriate? The FRC 
are encouraging companies to adopt a ‘core’ and ‘supplementary’ approach where core information is included in 
the strategic report and supplementary information in a separate part of the annual report.

5) Have I considered adopting FRS 101 for the parent’s (and subsidiaries) separate financial statements?
Subject to being a ‘qualifying entity’ and, amongst other things, having notified the shareholders in writing 
and having not received objections, a parent company within a group could apply FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure 
Framework for its separate financial statements (but not the consolidated financial statements). FRS 101 closely 
resembles IFRS accounting but provides a number of disclosure exemptions. Eligible parents may wish to use this 
year’s annual report to provide shareholders with written notification of their intention to move to FRS 101 in future 
years (or indeed adopt FRS 101 in the current year, if the relevant criteria have been met).

6) Does the annual report still seem weighty, even with a number of quick wins adopted?
Instead of sending the complete annual report to shareholders, subject to certain criteria, the strategic report 
together with certain supplementary information (this replaces the summary financial statements) could be sent to 
shareholders if struggling to cut clutter from the full annual report.
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BIS The Department for Business, Innovation 
and Skills

BR Business Review
The Companies Act 2006 requires that directors’ reports 
include a Business Review.

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CGU Cash generating unit

CODM Chief Operating Decision Maker

Competition Commission
An independent public body which helps to ensure 
healthy competition between companies in the UK for 
the ultimate benefit of consumers and the economy.

Conduct Committee
The Conduct Committee of the FRC have taken on 
the legal powers of the FRRP, following the FRC’s 
restructuring.

CSR Corporate social responsibility
Corporate social responsibility is about how 
businesses take account of their economic, social 
and environmental impact. The Companies Act 2006 
requires that companies disclose information, about 
environmental matters, their employees, and social 
and community issues, in their annual report.

DTR Disclosure and Transparency Rules
These rules of the FCA include requirements for periodic 
financial reporting to meet the requirements of the 
EU Transparency Directive.

EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax and 
amortisation

EC European Commission

EDTF Enhanced Disclosure Task Force
Established by the Financial Stability Board in May 2012, 
the Task Force aims to improve the risk disclosures of 
banks and other financial institutions.

EPS Earnings per share

ESMA European Securities and Markets Authority
An independent EU Authority that seeks to ensure 
the integrity, transparency, efficiency and orderly 
functioning of securities markets, as well as enhancing 
investor protection.

EU European Union

FCA Financial Conduct Authority
Originating from the former Financial Services 
Authority, the FCA acts as the Competent Authority 
for setting and enforcing the rules applicable to 
listed companies and those admitted to trading on a 
regulated market.

FRC’s Financial Reporting Lab
Facilitated by a steering group and FRC staff, the 
Lab provides an environment where investors and 
companies can come together to develop pragmatic 
solutions to reporting needs.

FRC Financial Reporting Council
The UK’s independent regulator responsible for 
promoting confidence in corporate reporting 
and governance and issuing accounting standards.

FRRP Financial Reporting Review Panel
The Panel’s role, in order to fulfil the Conduct 
Committee’s responsibilities, is to ensure that the 
annual accounts of public companies and large private 
companies comply with the Companies Act 2006 and 
applicable accounting standards.

FTSE 100/350 Financial Times Stock Exchange 
top 100/350 companies (share index)

GAAP Generally accepted accounting practice

IAS International Accounting Standard

140Annual report insights 2013 A new beginning
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IASB International Accounting Standards Board
The IASB is an independent body that issues 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

IFRSIC International Financial Reporting 
Standards Interpretations Committee 
(formerly IFRIC)
IFRIC is the term given to describe Interpretations 
issued by the Committee which has been renamed 
the IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRSIC). It develops 
interpretations of IFRSs and IASs, works on the annual 
improvements process and provides timely guidance on 
financial reporting issues not specifically addressed by 
the existing standards.

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standard(s)

IIRC International Integrated Reporting Council
Global body aiming to create a globally accepted 
framework for a process that results in communications 
by an organisation about value creation over time.

KPI Key performance indicator
A factor by reference to which the development, 
performance or position of the company’s business 
can be measured effectively.

Listed company
A company, any class of whose securities is listed 
(i.e. admitted to the Official List of the UK Listing 
Authority).

Listing Rules
The Listing Rules made by the UK Listing Authority for 
the purposes of Part VI of the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000 and published in the manual entitled 
‘The Listing Rules’ as from time to time amended.

Market capitalisation
A measure of company size calculated as share price 
multiplied by the number of shares in issue at a certain 
point in time.

PPE Property, plant and equipment

Quoted company
Section 385 of the Companies Act 2006 defines a quoted 
company as a company whose equity share capital:

a)   has been included in the official list in accordance 
with the provisions of Part 6 of the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000; or

b)   is officially listed in an EEA State; or

c)   is admitted to dealing on either the New York Stock 
Exchange or the exchange known as Nasdaq.

Regulated market
Regulated market is defined in the Markets in Financial 
Instruments Directive. The European Commission 
website also includes a list of regulated markets at: 
http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/securities/isd/
index_en.htm

SEC U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
Regulator of all securities commissions within the 
United States of America.

SOCIE Statement of Changes in Equity

SORIE Statement of Recognised Income 
and Expense

SORP Statement of Recommended Practice

STRGL Statement of total recognised gains 
and losses

UK Corporate Governance Code
The UK Corporate Governance Code sets out standards 
of good practice on issues such as board composition 
and development, remuneration, accountability and 
audit, and relations with shareholders. All companies with 
a previous listing are required under the Listing Rules to 
report in their annual report on how they have applied 
the UK Corporate Governance Code.

UKLA UK Listing Authority
The FCA acting in its capacity as the competent 
authority for the purposes of Part VI of the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000.
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Other resources available

Deloitte would be pleased to advise on specific application of the principles set out in this publication. 
Professional advice should be obtained as this general advice cannot be relied upon to cover specific situations; 
application will depend on the particular circumstances involved. If you would like further, more detailed 
information or advice, or would like to meet with us to discuss your reporting issues, please contact your local 
Deloitte partner or:

James Rogers
jrogers@deloitte.co.uk

Amanda Swaffield
aswaffield@deloitte.co.uk

Vicki Tibbitts
vtibbitts@deloitte.co.uk

Peter Westaway
pwestaway@deloitte.co.uk

UK Accounting Plus
For the latest news and resources on UK Accounting, Reporting and Corporate 
Governance, go to www.ukaccountingplus.co.uk. UK Accounting Plus is the 
UK‑focused version of Deloitte’s hugely successful and long‑established global 
accounting news and comment service, IAS Plus.

iGAAP 2014 – Annual report disclosures for UK listed groups (due to be published in early December 
2013)
This Deloitte publication illustrates the disclosures in force for December 2013 year ends, including material 
encompassing all of the revised reporting requirements discussed in A new beginning. If you would like to obtain a 
copy of this publication, please speak to your Deloitte contact or alternatively visit the Lexis Nexis website for details 
on how to order.

Other Surveys
The following other Deloitte surveys are available at www.deloitte.co.uk/auditpublications.

         2013 update on half‑yearly financial reporting
(May 2013)
This publication follows on from the 2012 Deloitte survey of half‑yearly financial reports, Split and 
Polish. It provides an update on the key issues to consider in preparing half‑yearly financial reports 
in 2013 and includes an illustrative report and disclosure checklist.

         Issuing fourth news – Surveying first halves’ interim management statements 
(September 2011)
The latest publication in the Firm’s financial reporting series analysing the interim management 
statements made by 130 listed companies.
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